# FREE TRADE AGREEMENT

# **BETWEEN**

# THE KINGDOM OF THAILAND

# **AND**

THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preamble		
Chapter 1	Initial Provisions and General Definitions	
Chapter 2	Trade in Goods	
	Annex 2A	Schedule of Tariff Commitments – Thailand
	Annex 2B	Schedule of Tariff Commitments – Sri Lanka
Chapter 3	Rules of Origin	
	Annex 3A	Minimum Information Requirements for the
		Certificate of Origin
	Annex 3B	Product Specific Rules
Chapter 4	Customs Procedures and Trade Facilitation	
Chapter 5	Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures	
Chapter 6	Technical Barriers to Trade	
Chapter 7	Trade Remedies	
Chapter 8	Trade in Services	
	Annex 8A	Schedule of Specific Commitments – Thailand
	Annex 8B	Schedule of Specific Commitments – Sri Lanka
Chapter 9	Investment	
	Annex 9A	Schedule of Reservations and Non- Conforming
		Measures for Investment – Thailand
	Annex 9B	Schedule of Reservations and Non- Conforming
		Measures for Investment – Sri Lanka
	Annex 9C	Public Debt
Chapter 10	Intellectual Property	
Chapter 11	Economic Cooperation	
Chapter 12	Transparency	
Chapter 13	Dispute Settlement	
Chapter 14	Institutional and Final Provisions	

#### **PREAMBLE**

THE KINGDOM OF THAILAND and THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA, hereinafter referred to individually as a "Party" or collectively as the "Parties":

**INSPIRED** by their longstanding friendship and cooperation and growing economic, trade, and investment relationship;

**DESIRING** to enlarge the framework of relations between the Parties through promoting trade and investment liberalisation;

**RECOGNISING** that the strengthening of their economic partnership will bring economic and social benefits, create new opportunities for employment, and improve the living standards of their people;

**CREATING** an expanded and secure market for the goods and services as well as a stable and predictable environment for investment;

**RESOLVED** to promote bilateral trade through the establishment of clear and mutually advantageous trade rules and the avoidance of trade barriers;

**REAFFIRMING** their respective rights and obligations under the World Trade Organization, other multilateral, regional, and bilateral agreements to which both Parties are party; and

**DESIRING** to strengthen the cooperative framework for the conduct of economic relations to ensure its dynamism and to encourage broader and deeper economic cooperation;

HAVE AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

# CHAPTER 1 INITIAL PROVISIONS AND GENERAL DEFINITIONS

#### **Article 1.1: Objectives**

The objectives of this Agreement are to:

- (a) increase and enhance the economic cooperation for mutual benefit of the Parties;
- (b) promote the expansion of trade through the harmonious development of the economic relations between the Parties;
- (c) gradually eliminate difficulties and restrictions on trade between the Parties so as to improve the efficiency and competitiveness of their respective sectors:
- (d) establish a framework of transparent and predictable rules to facilitate trade between the Parties; and
- (e) create environment conducive to broadening and supplementing the scope of this Agreement to include trade in services and bilateral investment.

#### Article 1.2: Establishment of a Free Trade Area

The Parties, consistent with Article XXIV of GATT 1994 and Article V of GATS, hereby establish a free trade area.

# **Article 1.3: Relation to Other Agreements**

- 1. Each Party reaffirms its existing rights and obligations with respect to each other in relation to existing international agreements to which both Parties are party, including the WTO Agreement.
- 2. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other agreement to which both Parties are party, the Parties shall immediately consult with each other with a view to finding a mutually satisfactory solution.

# **Article 1.4: Definitions of General Application**

For the purposes of this Agreement, unless otherwise specified:

- (a) **Agreement** means the Free Trade Agreement between the Kingdom of Thailand and the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka;
- (b) **Commission** means the Free Trade Commission established under Article 14.1 (Free Trade Commission);
- (c) **customs authority** means the authority that, according to the legislation of each Party, is responsible for the administration and enforcement of its customs laws and regulations:
  - (i) in the case of Thailand, the Customs Department;
  - (ii) in the case of Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka Customs;
- (d) **customs duties** means any duties or charges, including any form of surtax or surcharge, imposed in connection with the importation of goods, except for:
- (i) charges equivalent to an internal tax imposed in conformity with Article III of GATT 1994;
- (ii) duties imposed in conformity with Section IV (Bilateral Safeguard Measures) of Chapter 7 (Trade Remedies), Article XIX of GATT 1994, the Agreement on Safeguards, and Article 5 of the Agreement on Agriculture, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
- (iii) anti-dumping or countervailing duties imposed in conformity with Article VI of GATT 1994, the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of GATT 1994, and the SCM Agreement, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement; or
- (iv) fees or other charges imposed in conformity with Article VIII of GATT 1994;
- (e) **Customs Valuation Agreement** means the Agreement on Implementation of Article VII of GATT 1994, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
  - (f) days means calendar days, including weekends and public holidays;
  - (g) **existing** means in effect on the date of entry into force of this Agreement;

- (h) **GATT 1994** means the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
  - (i) **goods** means any merchandise, product, article or material;
- (j) **Harmonized System** or **HS** means the Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System governed by the International Convention on the Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System, including its General Rules of Interpretation, Section Notes, and Chapter Notes, as may be amended, adopted and implemented by the Parties in their respective tariff laws;
- (k) **heading** means the first four digits in the tariff classification number under the Harmonized System;
- (l) **Import Licensing Agreement** means the Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
- (m) **measure** means any measure by a Party, whether in the form of a law, regulation, rule, procedure, practice, decision, administrative action or any other form;
- (n) **originating** means qualifying under the rules of origin set out in Chapter 3 (Rules of Origin);
- (o) **preferential tariff treatment** means the duty rate applicable under this Agreement to an originating good;
- (p) **Safeguards Agreement** means the Agreement on Safeguards, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
- (q) **SCM Agreement** means the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
- (r) **SPS Agreement** means the Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
- (s) **subheading** means the first six digits in the tariff classification number under the Harmonized System;
- (t) **TBT Agreement** means the Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;

#### (u) **territory** means:

(i) in the case of Thailand, its land territory, its internal waters, its territorial sea, and the air space above them, the exclusive economic zone, the

continental shelf, and any maritime areas over which it exercises rights or jurisdiction in accordance with international law.

- (ii) in the case of Sri Lanka, the land territory including the territorial sea and the airspace above such territory, and the maritime and submarine areas adjacent to its coast, including the exclusive economic zone and the continental shelf, over which Sri Lanka exercises sovereign rights or jurisdiction under its national law, international law and the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (1982);
- (v) **Trade Facilitation Agreement** means the Agreement on Trade Facilitation, contained in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement;
  - (w) WTO means the World Trade Organization; and
- (x) **WTO Agreement** means the Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, done at Marrakesh on 15 April 1994.

# CHAPTER 2 TRADE IN GOODS

#### **Article 2.1: Scope**

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, this Chapter applies to trade in goods between the Parties.

#### **Article 2.2: National Treatment**

- 1. Each Party shall accord national treatment to the goods of the other Party in accordance with Article III of GATT 1994, including its Notes and Supplementary Provisions. To this end, the obligations contained in Article III of GATT 1994 and its Notes and Supplementary Provisions are incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 2. For greater certainty, the treatment to be accorded by a Party under paragraph 1 means, with respect to a regional level of government, treatment no less favourable than the most favourable treatment that the regional level of government accords to any like, directly competitive, or substitutable goods, as the case may be, of the Party of which it forms a part.

#### **Article 2.3: Customs Value**

The Parties shall determine the customs value of goods in accordance with the provisions of Article VII of GATT 1994 and the Customs Valuation Agreement.

#### **Article 2.4: Reduction or Elimination of Customs Duties**

- 1. The provisions of this Chapter concerning the reduction or elimination of customs duties on imports shall apply to goods originating in the territory of the Parties.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Party shall reduce or eliminate its customs duties on imported goods originating in the other Party in accordance with its Schedule of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka).

- 3. Reduction or elimination shall occur upon entry into force of the Agreement and thereafter on 1 January of each calendar year, as provided for in each Party's Schedule.
- 4. The base rate of customs duties on imports to which the successive reductions or eliminations are to be applied under paragraph 2 shall be that specified in the Schedules of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka).
- 5. At the time of importation, where the most-favoured-nation ("MFN") applied rate is lower than the rate of customs duty provided for in the Schedules of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), originating goods of the Parties shall be eligible for the MFN applied rate of customs duty for those goods. If an importer did not make a claim for the lower rate of customs duty at the time of importation, such importer may apply for a refund of the difference as per the provisions of domestic laws and regulations.

#### **Article 2.5: Standstill Clause**

- 1. Except as provided in the Schedules of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) or in any other provisions of this Agreement, each Party shall not increase an existing customs duty or introduce a new customs duty on the importation of a good originating in the other Party. This shall not preclude either Party from raising a customs duty to the level established in its Schedule of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) following a unilateral reduction of customs duties on originating goods of the other Party set out in its Schedule.
- 2. Paragraph 1 shall not apply to the goods of a Party, which are in the Exclusion List of that Party's Schedule of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), unless otherwise provided in the same Schedule.

#### **Article 2.6: Accelerated Tariff Elimination**

- 1. Three years after the date of entry into force of this Agreement or on the request of either Party, the Parties shall consult to consider accelerating the elimination of customs duties on originating goods as set out in their Schedules of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka).
- 2. If the Parties agree to accelerate the reduction or elimination of customs duties on originating goods, which shall supersede any rates of customs duties specified in their respective Schedules of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) for such goods, such agreement shall be treated as an amendment to the Schedules of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), and shall enter into force in accordance with Article 14.9 (Amendments).
- 3. A Party may at any time accelerate unilaterally the elimination of customs duties on originating goods of the other Party set out in its Schedule. A Party considering doing so shall inform the other Party as early as practicable.

# **Article 2.7: Classification of Goods**

The classification of goods in trade between the Parties shall be set out in each Party's respective tariff nomenclature in conformity with the Harmonized System, as may be amended.

#### **Article 2.8: HS Transposition of Schedules of Tariff Commitments**

- 1. Each Party shall ensure that the HS transposition of its Schedule of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), undertaken following the periodic amendments to the Harmonized System, is carried out without impairing existing tariff concessions granted under this Agreement.
- 2. Each Party shall provide its Schedule of Tariff Commitments as per the nomenclature of the revised HS and a two-way correlation table setting out national tariff line level in a timely manner after completion of the HS transposition.

- 3. In case the Parties agree that there is any HS transposition error in the Schedules of Tariff Commitments, such error shall be rectified by the relevant Party.
- 4. Each Party shall make publicly available its transposed Schedule of Tariff Commitments in the nomenclature of the revised HS in a timely manner.

#### **Article 2.9: Administrative Fees and Formalities**

- 1. Each Party shall ensure, in accordance with paragraph 1 of Article VIII of GATT 1994, that all fees and charges of whatever character (other than import and export duties and other than taxes within the purview of Article III of GATT 1994) imposed on or in connection with importation or exportation shall be limited in amount to the approximate cost of services rendered and shall not represent an indirect protection to domestic products or a taxation of imports or exports for fiscal purposes.
- 2. Each Party shall ensure that the fees and charges are imposed in accordance with paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 6 of the Trade Facilitation Agreement. The obligation set out in this paragraph shall be implemented pursuant to the transitional arrangements that each Party has provided for under the Trade Facilitation Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, each Party shall fully implement the obligation in this paragraph no later than 30 June 2024 or within the extended period as notified by that Party and approved by the WTO.
- 3. Each Party shall promptly publish in an officially designated medium details of the fees and charges that it imposes on or in connection with importation or exportation of goods and shall make such information available on the internet.

#### **Article 2.10: Non-Tariff Measures**

1. Each Party shall not introduce or maintain any non-tariff measures on the importation of any goods of the other Party or on the exportation or sale for export of any goods destined for the other Party, except in accordance with its WTO rights and obligations, including those set out in Article XI of GATT 1994, and other provisions of this Agreement. To this end, Article XI of GATT 1994 and its Notes and Supplementary Provisions are incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.

- 2. Each Party shall ensure the transparency of its non-tariff measures permitted in paragraph 1 and shall ensure that any such measures are not prepared, adopted or applied with a view to or with the effect of creating unnecessary obstacles to trade between Parties.
- 3. The Parties understand that the rights and obligations under GATT 1994, as incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*, pursuant to paragraph 1, prohibit a Party from adopting or maintaining:
- (a) export and import price requirements, except as permitted in enforcement of countervailing and antidumping orders and undertakings;
- (b) voluntary export restraints, inconsistent with Article VI of GATT 1994, as implemented under Article 18 of the SCM Agreement and paragraph 1 of Article 8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 4. The Parties recognise the treatments under the WTO of a net food-importing developing country for the purpose of food security under this Agreement.<sup>1</sup>

# **Article 2.11: Import Licensing Procedures**

- 1. The Parties affirm their existing rights and obligations under the Import Licensing Agreement.
- 2. The Parties shall introduce and administer any import licensing procedures in accordance with:
  - (a) paragraphs 1 through 9 of Article 1 of the Import Licensing Agreement;
  - (b) Article 2 of the Import Licensing Agreement; and
  - (c) Article 3 of the Import Licensing Agreement.

To this end, the provisions referred to in subparagraphs (a) through (c) are incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A net food-importing country is any developing country Member of the WTO which was a net importer of basic foodstuffs in any three years of the most recent five-year period for which data are available and which notifies the Committee on Agriculture of the WTO of its decision to be listed as a Net Food-Importing Developing Country for the purposes of the Decision on Measures Concerning the Possible Negative Effects of the Reform Programme on Least-Developed and Net Food-Importing Developing Countries.

- 3. The Parties shall ensure that all importing licensing procedures are neutral in application and administered in a fair, equitable, non-discriminatory, and transparent manner.
- 4. Each Party shall respond within 30 days after the date of receipt of an enquiry from the other Party regarding:
  - (a) any licensing procedures which the Party has adopted or maintained; or
  - (b) the criteria for granting or allocating import licenses.

For greater clarity, the enquiry and response shall be made through the contact points designated pursuant to subparagraph 3(f) of Article 2.15 (Committee on Trade in Goods).

# **Article 2.12: State Trading Enterprises**

- 1. The Parties affirm their existing rights and obligations under Article XVII of GATT 1994, its Notes and Supplementary Provisions, which are incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 2. The Parties shall be exempted from the obligations stated in subparagraph 4(c) of Article XVII of GATT 1994 with regard to food imported or purchased for non-commercial humanitarian purposes.

#### **Article 2.13: Modification and Withdrawal of Concessions**

- 1. A Party may, by mutual agreement with the other Party, modify or withdraw a concession contained in its Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka). Such mutual agreement shall include provisions for compensatory adjustment with respect to other goods. The Party modifying or withdrawing any concession provided in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) shall maintain a level of reciprocal and mutually advantageous concessions not less favorable to trade than that provided for in this Agreement prior to such agreement.
- 2. The modification or withdrawal of concessions shall be treated as an amendment to Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or

Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments – Sri Lanka) and shall enter into force in accordance with Article 14.9 (Amendments).

# Article 2.14: Restrictions to Safeguard the Balance of Payments

- 1. The Parties shall endeavor to avoid the imposition of restrictive measures for balance of payments purposes.
- 2. Any measures taken for balance-of-payments purposes shall be in accordance with Article XII of GATT 1994, Section B of Article XVIII of GATT 1994, and the Understanding on the Balance-of-Payments Provisions, which are incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 3. Nothing in this Chapter shall be regarded as altering the rights enjoyed and obligations undertaken by a Party under the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund, as may be amended.
- 4. Any Party maintaining or having adopted measures to safeguard the balance of payments, or any changes thereto, shall promptly notify the other Party.

#### **Article 2.15: Committee on Trade in Goods**

- 1. The Parties hereby establish a Committee on Trade in Goods, comprising representatives of the Parties.
- 2. The Committee shall meet at least once a year or on the request of either Party to consider any matter arising under this Chapter.
- 3. The functions of the Committee shall be to:
  - (a) review and monitor<sup>2</sup> the implementation and operation of this Chapter;
- (b) establish any sub-committee or working group, as and when necessary;
- (c) receive reports from, and review the work of all sub-committees and working groups related to trade in goods established pursuant to subparagraph (b);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For greater clarity, the monitoring of the implementation and operation of this Chapter includes the exchange of annual import data between the Parties on the basis of preferential market access and MFN market access of the respective Parties.

- (d) identify and recommend measures to promote and facilitate improved market access;
- (e) address barriers to trade in goods between the Parties, especially those related to the application of non-tariff measures, and, if appropriate, refer such matters to the Commission for its consideration;
- (f) designate one or more contact points of each Party to coordinate the implementation of this Chapter. Each Party shall notify the other Party of the contact details of such contact points and promptly notify the other Party of any changes thereto;
- (g) report the findings and the outcome of discussions to the Commission; and
- (h) carry out other functions as may be delegated by the Commission in accordance with Article 14.2 (Duties of the Commission) of Chapter 14 (Institutional and Final Provisions).

#### **ANNEX 2A AND ANNEX 2B**

#### SCHEDULES OF TARIFF COMMITMENTS

#### **GENERAL NOTES**

- 1. Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) are made based on the 2022 Edition of the Harmonized System. For Thailand, such Harmonized System is effective on 1 January 2022. For Sri Lanka, such Harmonized System is effective on 1 January 2023.
- 2. For the purposes of Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), the base rates set out in each Party's Schedule reflect the Most-Favoured-Nation (MFN) applied rates of customs duties of each Party in effect on 1 September 2023.
- 3. For the purposes of Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), **the date of entry into force of this Agreement** means the date of entry into force of this Agreement pursuant to Article 14.10 (Entry into Force).
- 4. For the purposes of implementing tariff reductions of Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), **year**<sup>1</sup> means: with respect to the first year, the period from the date of entry into force of this Agreement until the following 31 December and, with respect to each subsequent year, the 12-month period starting on 1 January of that year.
- 5. The staging of the reduction or eliminations of customs duties as provided for in all the Schedules in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) and Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) shall be deemed to have commenced on the date of entry into force of this Agreement.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For greater certainty, the tariff reductions shall take place on the first day of the relevant year.

#### **ANNEX 2A**

#### SCHEDULE OF TARIFF COMMITMENTS

#### **THAILAND**

#### Headnotes

- 1. The eight-digit codes of the tariff classification number of Thailand referred to in this Schedule are based on the 2022 version of the ASEAN Harmonised Tariff Nomenclature (AHTN).
- 2. Tariff lines indicated with "U" in each stage of reduction in this Schedule shall be excluded from any commitment of tariff reduction or elimination.
- 3. Tariff lines indicated with "0 (in quota)" in each stage of reduction in this Schedule means the rate of customs duty applied to originating goods of Sri Lanka imported within the quota quantity of the tariff rate quota (TRQ) committed by Thailand under the WTO Agreement, as available at the time of importation, shall be zero per cent as from the date of entry into force of this Agreement.

#### **ANNEX 2B**

#### SCHEDULE OF TARIFF COMMITMENTS

#### **SRI LANKA**

#### **Headnotes**

- 1. The eight-digit of the tariff classification number (HS Codes) of Sri Lanka referred to in this Schedule are based on the HS 2022 version of the World Customs Organization.
- 2. Tariff lines (HS Codes) indicated with "U" in each stage of reduction in this Schedule shall be excluded from any commitment of tariff reduction or elimination (Exclusion Track). Base rate of HS Codes in the Exclusion Track, provided in this Schedule shall not be subject to Standstill Clause.
- 3. Base rate of Customs duties of Sri Lanka is cumulative of the Commodity Export Support Scheme Levy (CESS), Ports and Airports Development Levy (PAL) and the Customs Import Duty (CID). Any HS Code categorised in the Tariff Concessions in the Schedule of Tariff Commitments shall not be subject to the Special Commodity Levy (SCL).

# CHAPTER 3 RULES OF ORIGIN

# SECTION I GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### **Article 3.1: Definitions**

- 1. For the purposes of this Chapter:
- (a) **aquaculture** means the farming of aquatic organisms including fish, molluscs, crustaceans, other aquatic invertebrates and aquatic plants, from seedstock such as eggs, fry, fingerlings, and larvae, by intervention in the rearing or growth processes to enhance production such as regular stocking, feeding, or protection from predators;
- (b) **chapters**, **headings**, and **sub-headings** mean the chapters, headings and sub-headings used in the nomenclature which makes up the HS with the changes pursuant to the Recommendation of 26 June 2004 of the Customs Cooperation Council;
- (c) CIF means the value of the good imported and includes the cost of insurance and freight up to the port or place of entry in the country of importation. The valuation shall be made in accordance with Article VII of GATT 1994;
- (d) **classified** refers to the classification of a good or material under a particular chapter, heading, or sub-heading of the HS;
- (e) **competent authority** means the authority that, according to the legislation of each Party, is responsible for the issuance of the certificate of origin and may designate the issuance of the certificate of origin to other entities or bodies. In the case of Sri Lanka, the competent authority is the Department of Commerce or any other Authority acting on behalf of the Ministry of Trade. In the case of Thailand, the competent authority is the Ministry of Commerce or any other Authority acting on behalf of the Ministry;
- (f) **customs value** means the value as determined in accordance with the Customs Valuation Agreement;

- (g) **exporter** means a natural or juridical person located in the territory of a Party, where a good is exported from, by such a person;
- (h) **FOB** means the free-on-board value of the good, inclusive of the cost of transport to the port or site of final shipment abroad. The valuation shall be made in accordance with Article VII of GATT 1994 and the Agreement on the Implementation of Article VII of GATT 1994;
- (i) **fungible materials** means materials that are of the same kind and commercial quality, with the same technical and physical characteristics, and which cannot be distinguished from one another once they are incorporated into the finished goods;
- (j) Generally Accepted Accounting Principles means those principles recognised by consensus or with substantial authoritative support in the territory of a Party with respect to the recording of revenues, expenses, costs, assets, and liabilities; the disclosure of information; and the preparation of financial statements. These principles may encompass broad guidelines for general application, as well as detailed standards, practices, and procedures;
- (k) **goods** means both materials and products being manufactured, even if it is intended for later use in another manufacturing operation;
- (l) **indirect material/neutral elements** means goods used in the production, testing or inspection of goods but not physically incorporated into the goods, or goods used in the maintenance of buildings or the operation of equipment associated with the production of goods as referred to in Article 3.6 (Indirect Material/Neutral Elements);
- (m) **material** means a good or any matter or substance such as raw materials, ingredients, parts, components, sub-components or sub-assemblies that are used or consumed in the production of goods or transformation of another good or are subject to a process in the production of another good;
- (n) **originating goods or originating material** means goods or material that qualifies as originating in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter;
- (o) **product specific rules** means rules that specify that the materials have undergone a change in tariff classification or a specific manufacturing or processing operation, or satisfy a Qualifying Value Content (QVC) criterion or a combination of any of these criteria; and

- (p) **production** means methods of obtaining goods including, but not limited to, growing, raising, mining, harvesting, fishing, farming, trapping, hunting, capturing, aquaculture, gathering, collecting, breeding, extracting, manufacturing, processing or assembling a good.
- 2. For the purposes of this Article, where the last working or processing has been subcontracted to a manufacturer, the term "manufacturer" may refer to the enterprise that has employed the subcontractor.

# Article 3.2: Origin Criteria

Except as otherwise provided for in this Chapter, a good shall qualify as an originating good of a Party where:

- (a) the good is wholly obtained or produced entirely in the Party, as provided in Article 3.3 (Wholly Obtained or Produced Goods);
- (b) the good is produced entirely in the Party exclusively from originating materials of the Parties; or
- (c) the good is produced from non-originating materials in the Party, provided that the good has satisfied the requirements set out in Article 3.4 (Goods not Wholly Produced or Obtained).

Additionally, the good shall meet all applicable requirements of this Chapter.

# **Article 3.3: Wholly Obtained or Produced Goods**

The following goods shall be considered as wholly obtained or produced entirely in the territory of a Party:

- (a) plants, plant goods, and vegetable goods grown and harvested there;
- (b) live animals born and raised there;
- (c) goods obtained from live animals referred to in subparagraph (b);
- (d) goods obtained from hunting, trapping, fishing, farming, aquaculture, gathering or capturing conducted there;
  - (e) goods from slaughtered animals born and raised there;
  - (f) mineral products extracted from its soil or seabed;

- (g) goods of sea-fishing and other marine life taken by vessels of that Party<sup>1</sup>, and other goods taken by that Party or a person of that Party, from the waters, seabed, or subsoil beneath the seabed outside the territorial sea of the Parties and non-Parties, in accordance with international law, provided that, in case of goods of sea-fishing and other marine life taken from the exclusive economic zone of any Party or non-Party, that Party or person of that Party has the rights to exploit<sup>2</sup> such exclusive economic zone, and in case of other goods, that Party or person of that Party has rights to exploit such seabed and subsoil beneath the seabed, in accordance with international law;
- (h) goods of sea-fishing and other marine life taken by vessels of that Party from the high seas in accordance with international law;
- (i) goods processed or made on board any factory ships of that Party<sup>3</sup>, exclusively from the goods referred to in subparagraph (g) or (h);
  - (j) waste or scrap derived from:
    - (i) production carried out there, or
- (ii) used goods collected or salvaged there, provided that the waste or scrap is fit only for the recovery of raw materials; and
- (k) goods produced or obtained there exclusively from goods referred to in subparagraph (a) through (j) or from their derivatives.

# **Article 3.4: Goods not Wholly Produced or Obtained**

1. For the purposes of subparagraph (c) of Article 3.2 (Origin Criteria), except for those goods covered under paragraph 2, a good shall be treated as an originating good:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the purposes of this Article, "factory ships of that Party" or "vessels of that Party" respectively, means factory ships or vessels:

<sup>(</sup>a) which are registered in that Party; and

<sup>(</sup>b) which are entitled to fly the flag of that Party.

<sup>(</sup>c) which are owned to an extent of at least 50 per cent by nationals of the Party, or by a juridical person with its head office in the Party, of which the representatives, chairman of the board of directors, and the majority of the members of such board are nationals of the Party, and of which at least 50 per cent of the equity interest is owned by nationals or juridical persons of the Party; and (d) of which at least 75 per cent of the total of the master, officers and crew are nationals of the Party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the purposes of determining the origin of goods of sea-fishing and other marine life, "rights to exploit" in this subparagraph include those rights of access to the fisheries resources of a coastal State, as accruing from any agreements or arrangements between a Party and the coastal State.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See *supra* note 1.

- (a) if the goods have a qualifying value content of not less than 40 per cent calculated using the formula set out in Article 3.5 (Qualifying Value Content (QVC)); or
- (b) if all non-originating materials used in the production of the goods have undergone a change in tariff classification (hereinafter referred to as "CTC") at four-digit level (i.e. a change in tariff heading) of the HS.
- 2. Notwithstanding paragraph 1, goods listed in Annex 3B (Product Specific Rules) shall qualify as originating goods if the goods satisfy the product specific rules set out therein.

# **Article 3.5: Qualifying Value Content (QVC)**

1. The QVC of a good shall be calculated as follows:

$$QVC = \frac{FOB - VNM}{FOB} X 100$$

Where:

- (a) "QVC" is the qualifying value content of the good, expressed as a percentage;
- (b) "FOB" is the FOB value as defined in subparagraph (h) of Article 3.1 (Definitions); and
- (c) "VNM" is the materials, which do not qualify as originating in any Party within the meaning of Article 3.2 (Origin Criteria) and the materials of undetermined origin.
- 2. For the purposes of calculating the QVC provided in paragraph 1, VNM shall be:
  - (a) the CIF value at the time of importation of the goods; or
- (b) the earliest ascertained price paid for the goods of undetermined origin in the territory of the Party where the working or processing takes place.
- 3. All costs considered for the calculation of the QVC shall be recorded and maintained in conformity with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles applicable in the territory of the Party where the good is produced.

#### **Article 3.6: Indirect Material/Neutral Elements**

Any indirect material used in the production of a good but not incorporated into the good shall be treated as an originating material, irrespective of whether it originates from a non-Party. Such indirect materials include:

- (a) fuel, energy, catalysts, and solvents;
- (b) equipment, devices, and supplies used for testing or inspection of the goods;
- (c) gloves, glasses, footwear, clothing, and safety equipment and supplies;
  - (d) tools, dies, and moulds;
- (e) spare parts and materials used in the maintenance of equipment and buildings;
- (f) lubricants, greases, compounding materials, and other materials used in production or used to operate equipment and buildings; and
- (g) any other materials which are not incorporated into the good but whose use in the production of the good can reasonably be demonstrated to be a part of that production.

# **Article 3.7: Minimal Operations and Processes that do not Confer Origin**

- 1. Without prejudice to paragraph 2, the following operations shall be considered as insufficient working or processing to confer the status of originating goods, whether or not the requirements set out in Article 3.4 (Goods not Wholly Produced or Obtained) are satisfied:
- (a) operations to ensure the preservation of goods in good condition during transport and storage;
- (b) sifting, classifying, washing, cutting, slitting, bending, coiling, uncoiling, sharpening, simple grinding, or slicing;
- (c) changes of packing, unpacking or repacking operations, and breaking up or assembly of consignments;
- (d) cleaning, including removal of dust, paint, oil or other coverings and simple removal of oxide;
  - (e) simple painting and polishing operations;

- (f) testing or calibration;
- (g) placing in bottles, cans, flasks, bags, cases, boxes, fixing on cards or boards, and all other simple packaging operations;
- (h) simple mixing of goods, whether or not of different kinds, where one or more components of the mixture do not meet the conditions laid down in this Chapter to enable them to be considered as originating goods;
- (i) simple assembly of parts of articles to constitute a complete article or simple disassembly of goods into parts;
  - (j) slaughtering<sup>4</sup> of animals;
- (k) affixing or printing marks, labels, logos, and other like distinguishing signs on goods or their packaging;
- (l) husking, partial or total bleaching, polishing, and glazing of cereals and rice:
  - (m) mere making-up of sets of goods;
  - (n) ironing or pressing of textiles and textile articles;
  - (o) operations to colour sugar or form sugar lumps;
  - (p) simple peeling, stoning, and shelling;
- (q) a combination of two or more of the operations specified in subparagraphs (a) through (p).
- 2. For the purposes of paragraph 1, operations shall be considered simple when neither special skills nor machines, apparatus, or tools especially produced or installed for those operations are required for their performance. However, simple mixing does not include chemical reaction. "Chemical reaction" means a process (including a bio-chemical process) which results in a molecule with a new structure by breaking intra molecular bonds and by forming new intra molecular bonds, or by altering the spatial arrangement of atoms in a molecule.

# **Article 3.8: Cumulation of Origin**

For the purposes of determining whether a good qualifies as an originating good of a Party, the originating materials from the territory of the Party within the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For the purposes of this Article, "slaughtering" means the mere killing of animals.

meaning of Article 3.2 (Origin Criteria), incorporated in the production of a good in the territory of the other Party, shall be considered to originate in the territory of the other Party. The finished good to be exported shall comply with Article 3.4 (Goods not Wholly Produced or Obtained).

#### Article 3.9: De Minimis

- 1. A good that does not undergo a change in tariff classification shall be considered as originating if:
- (a) the value of all non-originating materials used in its production that do not undergo the required change in tariff classification do not exceed 10 per cent of the FOB value of the good; and
- (b) the good meets all other applicable criteria set forth in this Chapter for qualifying as originating goods.
- 2. The value of non-originating materials referred to in paragraph 1 shall, however, be included in the value of non-originating materials for any applicable QVC requirement for the good.

#### **Article 3.10: Fungible Goods or Materials**

Each Party shall provide that a fungible good or material is treated as originating based on the:

- (a) physical segregation of each fungible good or material; or
- (b) use of any inventory management method recognised in the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles if the fungible goods or materials are commingled, provided that the inventory management method selected is used throughout the fiscal year of the person that selected the inventory management method.

# **Article 3.11: Accessories, Spare Parts, Tools, and Instructional or other Information Materials**

1. If the goods are subject to the requirements of a change in tariff classification or specific manufacturing or processing operation, the origin of accessories, spare parts, tools, instructional, or other information materials delivered with a good that form part of the good's standard accessories, spare

parts, or tools, shall be regarded as a part of the good, and shall be disregarded in determining whether or not all the non-originating materials used in the production of the originating goods undergo the applicable change in tariff classification provided that:

- (a) the accessories, spare parts, tools, instructional or other information materials are classified with, and not invoiced separately from, the good; and
- (b) the quantities and value of the accessories, spare parts, tools, instructional or other information materials are customary for the good.
- 2. If the goods are subject to the QVC requirement, the value of the accessories, spare parts, tools, and instructional or information materials shall be taken into account as the value of originating or non-originating materials, as the case may be, in calculating the QVC of the goods.

# Article 3.12: Treatment of Packages, Packing Materials, and Containers

- 1. For packages and packing materials for retail sale:
- (a) if a good is subject to the QVC requirement as set out in Annex 3B (Product Specific Rules), the value of the packages and packing materials for retail sale shall be taken into account in determining the origin of that good as originating or non-originating, as the case may be, provided that the packages and packing materials are considered to be forming a whole with the good; and
- (b) if a good is subject to the change in tariff classification criterion as set out in Annex 3B (Product Specific Rules), packages and packing materials classified together with the packaged good shall not be taken into account in determining origin.
- 2. The containers and packing materials exclusively used for the transport of a good shall not be taken into account for determining the origin of the said good.

#### **Article 3.13: Direct Consignment**

- 1. The goods shall be deemed as directly consigned from the exporting Party to the importing Party:
- (a) if the goods are transported without passing through the territory of any non-Party; or

- (b) if the goods are transported for the purposes of transit through a non-Party with or without transshipment or temporary storage in such non-Party, provided that:
- (i) the goods have not entered into trade or consumption in the territory of the non-Party;
- (ii) the transit entry is justified for geographical reason or by consideration related to transport requirements; and
- (iii) the goods have not undergone any operation in the territory of the non-Party other than unloading, reloading or any operation required to keep the goods in good condition.
- 2. The directly consigned goods shall retain their originating status.
- 3. In cases where the originating goods of the exporting Party are imported through one or more non-Parties, the customs authority of the importing Party may require importers, who claim the preferential tariff treatment for the goods, to submit the following documentation to the customs authority of the importing Party:
- (a) a Through Bill of Lading or similar documents used in multimodal transportation; and
- (b) supporting documents<sup>5</sup>, in evidence that the requirements of subparagraphs 1(b)(i) through (iii) are being complied with.

#### **Article 3.14: Sets**

Sets, as defined in General Interpretative Rule 3 of the HS, shall be regarded as originating when all component goods are originating goods. When a set is composed of originating and non-originating goods, the set as a whole shall be regarded as originating, provided that the value of the non-originating goods does not exceed 15 per cent of the FOB price of the set.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Supporting documents refers to a certificate of non-manipulation provided by the customs authority of the country of transit stating that the goods have remained under customs control or other documents required by the importing Party.

# SECTION II OPERATIONAL CERTIFICATION PROCEDURES

# **Article 3.15: General Requirements for Certificate of Origin**

- 1. Goods originating in Sri Lanka shall, on importation into Thailand, and goods originating in Thailand shall, on importation into Sri Lanka, benefit from preferential tariff treatment under this Agreement upon submission of a Certificate of Origin.
- 2. A claim that goods are eligible for preferential tariff treatment under this Agreement shall be supported by a Certificate of Origin issued by the competent authority of the exporting Party.
- 3. Originating goods within the meaning of this Chapter shall, in the cases specified in Article 3.23 (Waiver of Certificates of Origin), benefit from preferential tariff treatment under this Agreement without it being necessary to submit the Certificate of Origin referred to in paragraph 1.

# **Article 3.16: Issuance of the Certificate of Origin**

- 1. The Certificate of Origin shall be issued before or at the time of exportation whenever the goods to be exported can be considered as originating in that Party subject to this Chapter. The exporter or producer shall submit an application for the Certificate of Origin together with appropriate supporting documents proving that the goods to be exported qualify for the issuance of a Certificate of Origin.
- 2. In cases where a Certificate of Origin has not been issued before or at the time of exportation due to involuntary errors or omissions or other valid causes, the Certificate of Origin may be issued retrospectively but no later than one year from the date of shipment.

#### **Article 3.17: Validity of Certificates of Origin**

1. The issued Certificate of Origin shall be applicable to a single importation of an originating good of the exporting Party into the importing Party and be valid for twelve months from the date of issuance.

- 2. The Certificate of Origin shall be submitted to customs authorities at the time the declaration of the goods is made.
- 3. Certificates of Origin which are submitted to the customs authorities of the importing Party after the period of validity specified in paragraph 1 may be accepted for the purposes of applying preferential treatment, where the failure to submit these documents within such period is due to exceptional circumstances.<sup>6</sup>
- 4. In cases of belated submission of Certificates of Origin in circumstances other than those provided for in paragraph 3, the customs authorities of the importing Party may accept the Certificates of Origin where the goods have been imported before the expiry of the period of validity specified in paragraph 1 in accordance with domestic laws and regulations.<sup>7</sup>
- 5. The Parties, to the extent possible, shall implement an electronic system for issuance of Certificate of Origin.

# Article 3.18: Certificate of Origin

- 1. The Certificate of Origin shall:
  - (a) be in a format to be determined by the Parties;
- (b) contain information specified in the minimum information requirements as set out in Annex 3A (Minimum Information Requirements for the Certificate of Origin);
- (c) be in writing, or any other medium including electronic format as notified by the exporting Party; and
- (d) specify that the good is originating and meets the requirements of this Chapter.
- 2. The Certificate of Origin shall be forwarded by the exporter to the importer for submission to the customs authority at the port or place of importation. The copy shall be retained by the competent authority in the exporting Party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Exceptional circumstances mean *force majeure* or other valid causes beyond the control of the exporter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Thailand has refund provision which allows importer to claim the preferential tariff treatment by submission of the Certificate of Origin after importation but within the validity period of such Certificate of Origin.

- 3. The Certificate of Origin shall be in the English language.
- 4. Each Certificate of Origin shall bear a serial reference number separately given by each place or office of issuance.
- 5. Each Certificate of Origin shall bear an authorised signature and official seal and shall be applied manually or electronically.
- 6. Each Party shall provide the other Party with the list of names, addresses, specimen signatures, and specimen of official seals of its competent authorities, in hard copy or soft copy format through the diplomatic channel or by any other channel mutually agreed by both Parties. Any change in names, addresses, signatures or seals shall be promptly informed in the same manner and shall be acknowledged by the customs authorities of the other Party before the signatures become effective.

# **Article 3.19: Application for Certificate of Origin**

- 1. At the time of carrying out the formalities for exporting the goods under preferential treatment, the exporter or its authorised representative shall submit an application in writing or by electronic means for the Certificate of Origin together with all supporting documents specified by the issuing authority proving that the goods to be exported fulfill the originating criteria under this Agreement.
- 2. For the purposes of determining originating status, the competent authorities shall have the right to request supporting documentary evidence or to carry out check(s) considered appropriate in accordance with the laws and regulations of the Party.

# **Article 3.20: Obligations of the Competent Authority**

The competent authority shall carry out proper examination upon each application for the Certificate of Origin to ensure, to the best of its ability, that:

- (a) the application and the Certificate of Origin are duly completed and manually or electronically signed by the authorised signatory;
  - (b) the origin of the good is in conformity with this Agreement;
- (c) other statements on the Certificate of Origin correspond to the supporting documentary evidence submitted;

- (d) description, quantity, and weight of goods, marks, and number of packages, number, and kinds of packages, as specified, conform to the goods to be exported; and
- (e) multiple items declared on the same Certificate of Origin shall be allowed, provided that each item qualifies separately in its own right.

### **Article 3.21: Treatment of Erroneous Declaration in the Certificate of Origin**

Neither erasures nor superimpositions shall be allowed on the Certificate of Origin. Any alteration shall be made on the request by the exporter to issue a new Certificate of Origin to replace the erroneous one. The new Certificate of Origin shall take effect from the date of issuance of the original Certificate of Origin.

# **Article 3.22: Loss of the Certificate of Origin**

In the event of theft, loss or destruction of a Certificate of Origin, exporter may apply in writing to the issuing authority to issue a certified true copy within the period of validity of the original Certificate of Origin, on the basis of the export documents in their possession bearing the endorsement of the words "CERTIFIED TRUE COPY" in Box 12 of the Certificate of Origin. The certified true copy which must bear the date of issuance and the serial number of the original certificate will take effect from the date of issuance of the original Certificate of Origin.

# Article 3.23: Waiver of Certificates of Origin

In the case of consignments of goods originating in the exporting Party and not exceeding US\$200 FOB, the requirement of a Certificate of Origin may be waived provided that the importation does not form part of one or more importations that may reasonably be considered to have been undertaken or arranged for the purpose of avoiding the certification requirements of this Chapter.

# **Article 3.24: Treatment of Minor Discrepancies**

- 1. The customs authority of the importing Party shall disregard minor errors, such as slight discrepancies or omissions, typing errors or overrunning the margin of the designated field, provided that these minor errors do not affect the authenticity of the Certificate of Origin or the accuracy of the information included in the Certificate of Origin.<sup>8</sup>
- 2. For multiple items declared under the same Certificate of Origin, a problem with one of the items listed shall not affect or delay the granting of preferential tariff treatment and customs clearance of the remaining items listed in the Certificate of Origin.

#### **Article 3.25: Claims for preferential Treatment**

- 1. Each Party shall require an importer in its territory that claims preferential tariff treatment for a good imported into its territory from the territory of the other Party to:
- (a) make a declaration for preference, based on importer's knowledge or information including a valid Certificate of Origin, that the good qualifies as an originating good;
- (b) submit the Certificate of Origin at the time of the declaration referred to in subparagraph (a) to its customs authorities upon request; and
- (c) promptly make a corrected declaration and pay any duties due, where the importer has reason to believe that a Certificate of Origin on which a declaration was based contains information that is incorrect.
- 2. Each Party shall provide that the importing Party applies preferential tariff treatment only in cases where an importer proves the accuracy of origin of the imported goods through documentary evidence or any other relevant information in accordance with its laws and regulations.
- 3. A Party may deny preferential tariff treatment to an imported good if the importer fails to comply with requirements of this Chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> When the difference in tariff classification is not regarded as minor discrepancy, the Parties agreed that the exporter needs to clarify the HS code with the importing Party before they apply for the Certificate of Origin with the issuing authority of the exporting Party.

- 4. The importing Party shall grant preferential tariff treatment to goods imported after the date of entry into force of this Agreement, in cases where the importer does not have the Certificate of Origin at the time of importation, provided that<sup>9</sup>:
- (a) the importer had, at the time of importation, indicated to the customs authorities of the importing Party his intention to claim preferential tariff treatment; and
- (b) the Certificate of Origin or other documentary evidence of origin is submitted to its customs authorities within such period from the date of payment of customs duties in accordance with the laws and regulations of the importing Party.
- 5. In cases where the Certificate of Origin is not accepted as stated in paragraph 4, the customs authority of the importing Party should accept and consider the clarifications made by the issuing authority and assess again whether or not the application can be accepted for the granting of the preferential treatment. The clarification should be detailed and exhaustive in addressing the grounds of preference raised by the customs authority of importing Party.

# **Article 3.26: Verification of Origin**

- 1. For the purposes of determining whether a good imported from the exporting Party under preferential tariff treatment qualifies as an originating good of the exporting Party, the customs authority of the importing Party may request the competent authority of the exporting Party, information relating to the origin of the good, where it has reasonable doubt as to the authenticity of the Certificate of Origin or the accuracy of the information included in the Certificate of Origin.
- 2. In cases where the importer, exporter, or producer does not return the written request for information made by the importing Party within the given period or its extension, or that the information provided is false or incomplete, the importing Party may deny preferential tariff treatment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For greater certainty, a Party may require, as a condition for the release of the goods, a guarantee in the form of a surety, a deposit or other appropriate instrument provided for in its laws and regulations. Such guarantee shall not be greater than the amount required by the Party to ensure payment of custom duties and taxes, and no penalty or other charges shall be imposed in accordance with relevant laws and regulations of the importing Party.

- 3. Where the customs authority of the importing Party requests the information under paragraph 1, it shall provide the competent authority of the exporting Party with:
  - (a) the reasons why such verification is requested;
  - (b) the Certificate of Origin of the good or a copy thereof; and
  - (c) any information and documents as may be necessary for the purposes of such request.
- 4. For the purposes of paragraph 1, the competent authority of the exporting Party shall provide the information requested within a period of three months from the date of receipt of the request. If the customs authority of the importing Party considers necessary, it may require additional information relating to the origin of the good. If additional information is requested by the customs authority of the importing Party, the competent authority of the exporting Party shall, in accordance with its laws and regulations, provide the information requested within a period of two months from the date of receipt of the request.
- 5. The request for information in accordance with paragraph 1 shall not preclude the use of the verification method provided for in Article 3.27 (Verification Visit).
- 6. The competent authority of the exporting Party shall promptly transmit the information requested to the customs authority of the importing Party which shall then determine whether or not the goods concerned is originating. The entire process from the date of receipt of the request for the information until the notification of the result shall be completed within 180 days.

#### **Article 3.27: Verification Visit**

- 1. The customs authority or competent authority of the importing Party may request the competent authority of the exporting Party:
- (a) to conduct a visit, whereby it shall deliver a written communication at least 90 days in advance of the proposed date of the visit, the receipt of which is to be confirmed by the competent authority of the exporting Party. The competent authority of the exporting Party shall request the written consent of the exporter or the producer of the good in the exporting Party whose premises are to be visited; and

- (b) to provide information relating to the origin of the good in the possession of the competent authority of the exporting Party during the visit pursuant to subparagraph (a).
- 2. The communication referred to in paragraph 1 shall include:
- (a) the identity of the customs authority or competent authority issuing the communication:
- (b) the name of the exporter or producer, whose premises are requested to be visited;
  - (c) the proposed date and place of the visit;
- (d) the objective and scope of the proposed visit, including specific reference to the good subject to the verification, referred to in the Certificate of Origin; and
- (e) the names and titles of the officials of the customs authority or competent authority of the importing Party to be present during the visit.
- 3. The competent authority of the exporting Party shall respond in writing to the importing Party, within 30 days of the receipt of the communication referred to in paragraph 2, if it accepts or refuses to conduct the visit requested pursuant to paragraph 1.
- 4. For the purposes of subparagraph 1(a), the competent authority of the exporting Party shall cooperate by providing the necessary information and relevant documentations as well as facilitating an on-site visit to the premises of the exporter or the producer of the goods in the exporting Party.
- 5. The competent authority of the exporting Party shall, in accordance with its laws and regulations, provide information within 60 days or any other mutually agreed period from the last day of the visit, to the customs authority of the importing Party pursuant to paragraph 1.
- 6. The determination of whether the good qualifies as an originating good shall be notified to the producer or exporter and the relevant competent authority. Any suspended preferential treatment shall be reinstated upon a determination that the good qualifies as an originating good.
- 7. If the good is determined to be non-originating, the producer or exporter shall be given 30 days from the date of receipt of the written determination to provide any written comments or additional information regarding the eligibility of the good for preferential tariff treatment. If the good is still found

to be non-originating, the final written determination issued by the importing Party shall be communicated to the competent authority of the exporting Party within 30 days from the date of receipt of the comments or additional information from the producer or exporter.

#### Article 3.28: Determination of Origin and Preferential Tariff Treatment

- 1. The customs authority of the importing Party may deny preferential tariff treatment to a good for which an importer claims preferential tariff treatment where the good does not qualify as an originating good of the exporting Party or where the importer fails to comply with any of the relevant requirements of this Chapter.
- 2. The customs authority of the importing Party may determine that a good does not qualify as an originating good of the exporting Party and may deny preferential tariff treatment in the following cases:
- (a) where the competent authority of the exporting Party fails to respond to the request within the period referred to in paragraph 4 of Article 3.26 (Verification of Origin) or paragraph 3 of Article 3.27 (Verification Visit);
- (b) where the competent authority of the exporting Party refuses to conduct a visit, or fails to respond to the communication referred to in paragraph 1 of Article 3.27 (Verification Visit) within the period referred to in paragraph 3 of Article 3.27 (Verification Visit); or
- (c) where the information provided to the customs authority of the importing Party pursuant to Articles 3.26 (Verification of Origin) or Article 3.27 (Verification Visit) is not sufficient to prove that the good qualifies as an originating good of the exporting Party.

In such cases, a written determination thereof shall be sent to the competent authority of the exporting Party.

3. After carrying out the procedures outlined in Articles 3.26 (Verification of Origin) or Article 3.27 (Verification Visit), as the case may be, the customs authority of the importing Party shall provide the competent authority of the exporting Party with a written determination of whether or not the good qualifies as an originating good of the exporting Party, including findings of fact and the legal basis for the determination, within 45 days from the date of receipt of the information provided by the competent authority of the exporting

Party pursuant to Articles 3.26 (Verification of Origin) or Article 3.27 (Verification Visit). The competent authority of the exporting Party shall inform the exporter of the good in the exporting Party, whose premises were subject to the visit referred to in Article 3.27 (Verification Visit), of such determination by the customs authority of the importing Party.

4. The competent authority of the exporting Party shall, when it cancels the decision to issue the Certificate of Origin, promptly notify the cancellation to the exporter to whom the Certificate of Origin has been issued, and to the customs authority of the importing Party, except where the Certificate of Origin has been returned to the competent authority of the exporting Party. The customs authority of the importing Party may deny preferential tariff treatment when it receives the notification.

## **Article 3.29: Preservation of Certificates of Origin and Supporting Documents**

- 1. Each Party shall provide that an exporter or a producer in its territory that has obtained a Certificate of Origin shall maintain in its territory, for three years after the date on which the Certificate of Origin was issued or for such longer period as the Party may specify, all records relating to the origin of a good for which preferential tariff treatment was claimed in the territory of the other Party.
- 2. Each Party shall provide that an importer claiming preferential tariff treatment for a good imported into the Party's territory shall maintain in that territory, for three years after the date of importation of the good or for such longer period as the Party may specify, such documentation, including a copy of the Certificate of Origin, as the Party may require relating to the importation of the good.
- 3. Each Party shall permit, in accordance with its laws and regulations, exporters in its territory to maintain documentation or records in any medium, provided that the documentation or records can be retrieved and printed.

#### **Article 3.30: Confidentiality**

1. Any confidential information shall be treated as such in accordance with the laws and regulations of the Parties and shall be used for the validation of Certificates of Origin purposes only. 2. The Parties shall maintain, in accordance with their laws and regulations, the confidentiality of classified business information collected in the process of verification pursuant to Articles 3.26 (Verification of Origin) or Article 3.27 (Verification Visit) and shall protect that information from disclosure that could prejudice the competitive position of the person who provided the information. The classified business information may only be disclosed to those authorities responsible for the administration and enforcement of origin determination.

#### **Article 3.31: Exhibitions**

- 1. Notwithstanding Article 3.13 (Direct Consignment), originating goods sent for exhibition in a country other than a Party and sold after the exhibition for importation into a Party shall benefit on importation from the provisions of this Agreement provided that it is shown to the satisfaction of the customs authorities that:
- (a) an exporter has consigned these goods from a Party to the country in which the exhibition is held and has exhibited them there;
- (b) the goods have been sold or otherwise disposed of by that exporter to a person in a Party;
- (c) the goods have been consigned during the exhibition or immediately thereafter in the State in which they were sent for exhibition; and
- (d) the goods have not, since they were consigned for exhibition, been used for any purpose other than demonstration at the exhibition.
- 2. Paragraph 1 shall apply to any trade, industrial, agricultural or crafts exhibition, fair or similar public show or display, which is not organised for private purposes in shops or business premises with a view to the sale of foreign goods, and during which the goods remain under customs control.
- 3. A Certificate of Origin must be issued or made out in accordance with this Chapter. The name and address of the place of the exhibition must be indicated in the Certificate of Origin. Where necessary, additional documentary evidence of the conditions, under which they have been exhibited, may be required from the relevant authorities of the country where the exhibition took place.

#### **Article 3.32: Sanctions against False Declaration**

- 1. Each Party shall establish or maintain appropriate sanctions against its exporters to whom a Certificate of Origin has been issued, for providing false declaration or documents to the competent authority of the exporting Party, prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Origin.
- 2. Each Party shall, in accordance with its laws and regulations, take measures which it considers appropriate against its exporters to whom a Certificate of Origin has been issued if they fail to notify in writing to the competent authority of the exporting Party without delay after having known, after the issuance of the Certificate of Origin, that such good does not qualify as originating goods of the exporting Party.
- 3. When the exporter repeatedly provided false information or documentation, the competent authority may temporarily suspend the issuance of a new Certificate of Origin.

#### **Article 3.33: Obligations of the Importer**

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, the customs authority of the importing Party shall require an importer who claims preferential tariff treatment for goods imported from the other Party to:
- (a) make a customs declaration, based on a valid Certificate of Origin, that the goods qualify as originating goods of the exporting Party;
- (b) have the Certificate of Origin in its possession at the time the declaration is made;
- (c) provide the Certificate of Origin on the request of the customs authority of the importing Party; and
- (d) promptly notify the customs authority and pay any duties due where the importer has reason to believe that the Certificate of Origin on which a declaration was based contains information that is incorrect.
- 2. An importer claiming preferential tariff treatment for goods imported into the Party's territory shall maintain for three years after the date of importation of the goods, a Certificate of Origin, and all other documents that the Party may require relating to the importation of the goods.

#### **Article 3.34: Obligations of the Exporter**

The exporter to whom a Certificate of Origin has been issued in the exporting Party shall notify in writing to the competent authority of the exporting Party without delay when such exporter knows that such good does not qualify as originating goods of the exporting Party.

#### **Article 3.35: Third Party Invoices**

An importing Party shall not deny a claim for preferential tariff treatment for the sole reason that an invoice was not issued by the exporter or producer of a good, provided that, the good meets the requirements in this Chapter. The Third Party invoice shall include the Third Party located within the exporting Party and Third Party more than one country.

#### **Article 3.36: Importation by Instalments**

Where, at the request of the importer and on the conditions laid down by the customs authorities of the importing Party, dismantled or non-assembled goods are imported by instalments, a single Certificate of Origin for such goods may be submitted to the customs authorities upon importation of the first instalment.

#### **Article 3.37: Cooperation between Competent Authorities**

- 1. The customs authorities of the Parties shall provide each other with the addresses of the competent authorities responsible for verification.
- 2. In order to ensure the proper application of this Chapter, the Parties shall assist each other, through their competent authorities, in checking the authenticity of the Certificates of Origin and the correctness of the information given in these documents.

#### **Article 3.38: Settlement of Disputes**

1. Without prejudice to Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement), where disputes arise in relation to the verification procedures prescribed in Article 3.26 (Verification of Origin) which cannot be settled between the competent authorities of the Parties, or where they raise a question as to the interpretation

of this Chapter, such disputes or questions shall be submitted to the Committee on Rules of Origin.

2. All disputes between the importer and the competent authorities or customs authorities of the importing Party shall be settled in accordance with the laws and regulations of that Party.

#### **Article 3.39: Transitional Provisions for Goods in Transit**

This Agreement may be applied to goods which comply with the Articles of this Chapter and which on the date of entry into force of this Agreement are in transit, subject to the submission to the customs authorities of the importing Party, no later than one year after the import of the goods into the territory of that Party, of the Certificate of Origin made out retrospectively in accordance with Article 3.16 (Issuance of the Certificate of Origin), and if requested, together with the documents showing that the goods have been transported directly in accordance with Article 3.13 (Direct Consignment).

#### **Article 3.40: Review and Appeal**

The importing Party shall grant the right of appeal in matters relating to the eligibility for preferential tariff treatment to importers of goods traded or to be traded between the Parties, in accordance with its domestic laws, regulations, and administrative practices.

### **Article 3.41: Committee on Rules of Origin**

- 1. The Parties hereby establish the Committee on Rules of Origin, comprising government representatives of each Party.
- 2. The functions of the Committee shall be to:
  - (a) monitor and review the implementation and operation of this Chapter;
- (b) report its findings to the Committee on Trade in Goods in accordance with Article 2.16 (Committee on Trade in Goods);
- (c) identify areas relating to this Chapter to be improved for facilitating trade in goods between the Parties;

- (d) consider any other matters as Parties may agree related to this Chapter; and
- (e) carry out other functions as may be delegated by the Commission in accordance with paragraph 2(a) of Article 14.2 (Duties of the Commission).
- 3. The Committee shall meet at such venues and times as may be agreed by the Parties.

# ANNEX 3A MINIMUM INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CERTIFICATE OF ORIGIN

- 1. exporter's name and address;
- 2. importer's or consignee's name and address;
- 3. description of the goods and the HS Code of the goods (six-digit level);
- 4. quantity of the goods;
- 5. Certificate of Origin number, date, and place of issuance;
- 6. origin conferring criterion;
- 7. certification by the issuing body that the goods specified in the Certificate of Origin meet all the relevant requirements of Chapter 3 (Rules of Origin) based on the evidence provided with the authorised signature and official seal of the issuing body;
- 8. details to identify the consignment such as invoice number, departure date, vessel name or aircraft flight number, and port of discharge.

## ANNEX 3B PRODUCT SPECIFIC RULES

#### **Headnotes to the Annex**

- 1. For the purposes of interpreting the Product Specific Rules set forth in this Annex:
- (a) **Chapter** means the first two digits of the tariff classification number under the HS Code;
- (b) **heading** means the first four digits of the tariff classification number under the HS Code; and
- (c) **subheading** means the first six digits of the tariff classification number under the HS Code.
- 2. This Annex is set out as follows:
  - (a) Column 1 HS Code
  - (b) Column 2 Product Description
- (c) Column 3 Applicable Product Specific Rule(s) of Origin (origin conferring criteria)
- 3. Where a heading or subheading is subject to alternative Product Specific Rules, it shall be sufficient to comply with one of the alternative Product Specific Rules.
- 4. Where the Product Specific Rule requires only a qualifying value content, the final process of production must be performed within a Party.
- 5. A requirement of a change in tariff classification applies only to non-originating materials.
- 6. Where the change in tariff classification rule expressly excludes a change from other tariff classifications, the exclusion applies only to non-originating materials.
- 7. For the purposes of Column 3 of this Annex:
- (a) **WO** means that the good must be wholly produced or obtained in accordance with subparagraph (a) of Article 3.2 (Origin Criteria);

- (b) QVC (XX) means that the good must have a qualifying value content of not less than XX per cent as calculated under Article 3.5 (Qualifying Value Content (QVC));
- (c) CC means that all non-originating materials used in the production of the good have undergone a change in tariff classification at the two-digit level;
- (d) **CTH** means that all non-originating materials used in the production of the good have undergone a change in tariff classification at the four-digit level; and
- (e) **CTSH** means that all non-originating materials used in the production of the good have undergone a change in tariff classification at the six-digit level.
- 8. Chapter notes within this Annex apply to all headings or subheadings within the indicated Chapter unless there exists a specific exclusion.
- 9. This Annex is based on the 2022 Edition of the HS Code.

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
01	LIVE ANIMALS	WO
02	MEAT AND EDIBLE MEAT OFFAL	CC except from Chapter 01
03	FISH AND CRUSTACEANS, MOLLUSCS AND OTHER AQUATIC INVERTEBRATES	
03.01	Live fish	WO
03.02	Fish, fresh or chilled, excluding fish fillets and other fish meat of heading 03.04	WO
03.03	Fish, frozen, excluding fish fillets and other fish meat of heading 03.04	WO
03.04	Fish fillets and other fish meat (whether or not minced), fresh, chilled or frozen	
	- Fresh or chilled fillets of tilapias ( <i>Oreochromis spp.</i> ), catfish ( <i>Pangasius spp.</i> , <i>Silurus spp.</i> , <i>Clarias spp.</i> , <i>Ictalurus spp.</i> ), carp ( <i>Cyprinus spp.</i> , <i>Carassius spp.</i> , <i>Ctenopharyngodon idellus</i> , <i>Hypophthalmichthys spp.</i> , <i>Cirrhinus spp.</i> , <i>Mylopharyngodon piceus</i> , <i>Catla catla</i> , <i>Labeo spp.</i> , <i>Osteochilus hasselti</i> , <i>Leptobarbus hoeveni</i> , <i>Megalobrama spp.</i> ), eels ( <i>Anguilla spp.</i> ), Nile perch ( <i>Lates niloticus</i> ) and snakeheads ( <i>Channa spp.</i> ):	
0304.31	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.)	CC
0304.32	Catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.)	CC
0304.33	Nile perch (Lates niloticus)	CC
0304.39	Other	CC
	- Fresh or chilled fillets of other fish:	
0304.41	Pacific salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka, Oncorhynchus gorbuscha, Oncorhynchus keta, Oncorhynchus tschawytscha, Oncorhynchus kisutch, Oncorhynchus masou and Oncorhynchus rhodurus), Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and Danube salmon (Hucho hucho)	QVC40 or CC
0304.42	Trout (Salmo trutta, Oncorhynchus mykiss, Oncorhynchus clarki, Oncorhynchus aguabonita, Oncorhynchus gilae, Oncorhynchus apache and Oncorhynchus chrysogaster)	QVC40 or CC

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
0304.43	Flat fish ( <i>Pleuronectidae</i> , <i>Bothidae</i> , <i>Cynoglossidae</i> , <i>Soleidae</i> , <i>Scophthalmidae</i> and <i>Citharidae</i> )	QVC40 or CC
0304.44	Fish of the families Bregmacerotidae, Euclichthyidae, Gadidae, Macrouridae, Melanonidae, Merlucciidae, Moridae and Muraenolepididae	QVC40 or CC
0304.45	Swordfish (Xiphias gladius)	QVC40 or CC
0304.46	Toothfish (Dissostichus spp.)	QVC40 or CC
	- Other, fresh or chilled:	
0304.51	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.)	WO
0304.52	Salmonidae	WO
0304.53	Fish of the families Bregmacerotidae, Euclichthyidae, Gadidae, Macrouridae, Melanonidae, Merlucciidae, Moridae and Muraenolepididae	WO
0304.54	Swordfish (Xiphias gladius)	WO
0304.55	Toothfish (Dissostichus spp.)	WO
0304.56	Dogfish and other sharks	WO
0304.57	Rays and skates ( <i>Rajidae</i> )	WO
0304.59	Other	WO
	- Frozen fillets of tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.):	
0304.61	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.)	WO

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
0304.62	Catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.)	WO
0304.63	Nile perch ( <i>Lates niloticus</i> )	WO
0304.69	Other	WO
	- Other, frozen:	
0304.91	Swordfish (Xiphias gladius)	WO
0304.92	Toothfish (Dissostichus spp.)	WO
0304.93	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.)	WO
0304.94	Alaska Pollack (Theragra chalcogramma)	WO
0304.95	Fish of the families Bregmacerotidae, Euclichthyidae, Gadidae, Macrouridae, Melanonidae, Merlucciidae, Moridae and Muraenolepididae, other than Alaska Pollack (Theragra chalcogramma)	WO
0304.96	Dogfish and other sharks	WO
0304.97	Rays and skates ( <i>Rajidae</i> )	WO
0304.99	Other	WO
03.05	Fish, dried, salted or in brine; smoked fish, whether or not cooked before or during the smoking process.  - Fish fillets, dried, salted or in brine, but not smoked:	
0305.31	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.)	CC
0305.39	Other	CC

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
	- Smoked fish, including fillets, other than edible fish offal:	
0305.44	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.)	CC
0305.49	Other	СТН
	- Dried fish, other than edible fish offal, whether or not salted but not smoked:	
0305.52	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.)	CC
0305.53	Fish of the families <i>Bregmacerotidae</i> , <i>Euclichthyidae</i> , <i>Gadidae</i> , <i>Macrouridae</i> , <i>Melanonidae</i> , <i>Merlucciidae</i> , <i>Moridae</i> and <i>Muraenolepididae</i> , other than cod ( <i>Gadus morhua</i> , <i>Gadus ogac</i> , <i>Gadus macrocephalus</i> )	CC
0305.54	Herrings (Clupea harengus, Clupea pallasii), anchovies (Engraulis spp.), sardines (Sardina pilchardus, Sardinops spp.), sardinella (Sardinella spp.), brisling or sprats (Sprattus sprattus), mackerel (Scomber scombrus, Scomber australasicus, Scomber japonicus), Indian mackerels (Rastrelliger spp.), seerfishes (Scomberomorus spp.), jack and horse mackerel (Trachurus spp.), jacks, crevalles (Caranx spp.), cobia (Rachycentron canadum), silver pomfrets (Pampus spp.), Pacific saury (Cololabis saira), scads (Decapterus spp.), capelin (Mallotus villosus), swordfish (Xiphias gladius), Kawakawa (Euthynnus affinis), bonitos (Sarda spp.), marlins, sailfishes, spearfish (Istiophoridae)	CC
0305.59	Other	CC

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
	- Fish, salted but not dried or smoked and fish in brine, other than edible fish offal:	
0305.64	Tilapias (Oreochromis spp.), catfish (Pangasius spp., Silurus spp., Clarias spp., Ictalurus spp.), carp (Cyprinus spp., Carassius spp., Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys spp., Cirrhinus spp., Mylopharyngodon piceus, Catla catla, Labeo spp., Osteochilus hasselti, Leptobarbus hoeveni, Megalobrama spp.), eels (Anguilla spp.), Nile perch (Lates niloticus) and snakeheads (Channa spp.)	CC
0305.69	Other	CC
03.06	Crustaceans, whether in shell or not, live, fresh, chilled, frozen, dried, salted or in brine; smoked crustaceans, whether in shell or not, whether or not cooked before or during the smoking process; crustaceans, in shell, cooked by steaming or by boiling in water, whether or not chilled, frozen, dried, salted or in brine	WO
03.07	Molluscs, whether in shell or not, live, fresh, chilled, frozen, dried, salted or in brine; smoked molluscs, whether in shell or not, whether or not cooked before or during the smoking process	WO
03.08	Aquatic invertebrates other than crustaceans and molluscs, live, fresh, chilled, frozen, dried, salted or in brine; smoked aquatic invertebrates other than crustaceans and molluscs, whether or not cooked before or during the smoking process	WO
03.09	Flours, meals and pellets of fish, crustaceans, molluscs and other aquatic invertebrates, fit for human consumption	WO
05	PRODUCTS OF ANIMAL ORIGIN, NOT ELSEWHERE SPECIFIED OR INCLUDED	CC
07	EDIBLE VEGETABLES AND CERTAIN ROOTS AND TUBERS	WO
08	EDIBLE FRUIT AND NUTS; PEEL OF CITRUS FRUIT OR MELONS	
08.01	Coconuts, Brazil nuts and cashew nuts, fresh or dried, whether or not shelled or peeled	

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
	- Coconuts:	
0801.11	Desiccated	CTSH
0801.12	In the inner shell (endocarp)	CC
0801.19	Other	CC
	- Brazil nuts:	
0801.21	In shell	CC
0801.22	Shelled	CC
	- Cashew nuts:	
0801.31	In shell	CC
0801.32	Shelled	QVC40 or CC
08.02	Other nuts, fresh or dried, whether or not shelled or	
	peeled	
	- Almonds:	
0802.11	In shell	CC
0802.12	Shelled	QVC40 or CC
	- Hazelnuts or filberts (Corylus spp.):	
0802.21	In shell	CC
0802.22	Shelled	QVC40 or CC
	- Walnuts:	
0802.31	In shell	CC
0802.32	Shelled	QVC40 or CC
	- Chestnuts (Castanea spp.):	
0802.41	In shell	CC
0802.42	Shelled	QVC40 or CC
	- Pistachios:	
0802.51	In shell	CC
0802.52	Shelled	QVC40 or CC

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
	- Macadamia nuts:	
0802.61	In shell	CC
0802.62	Shelled	QVC40 or CC
0802.70	- Kola nuts (Cola spp.)	CC
0802.80	- Areca nuts	WO
	- Other:	
0802.91	Pine nuts, in shell	CC
0802.92	Pine nuts, shelled	CC
0802.99	Other	CC
08.03	Bananas, including plantains, fresh or dried	WO
08.04	Dates, figs, pineapples, avocados, guavas, mangoes and mangosteens, fresh or dried	
0804.10	- Dates	WO
0804.20	- Figs	WO
0804.30	- Pineapples	WO
0804.40	- Avocados	WO
0804.50	- Guavas, mangoes and mangosteens	QVC40 or CC
08.05	Citrus fruit, fresh or dried	
0805.10	- Oranges	QVC40 or CC
	- Mandarins (including tangerines and satsumas); clementines, wilkings and similar citrus hybrids:	
0805.21	Mandarins (including tangerines and satsumas)	WO
0805.22	Clementines	WO
0805.29	Other	WO
0805.40	- Grapefruit, including pomelos	WO
0805.50	- Lemons (Citrus limon, Citrus limonum) and limes (Citrus aurantifolia, Citrus latifolia)	WO
0805.90	- Other	WO

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
08.06	Grapes, fresh or dried	WO
08.07	Melons (including watermelons) and pawpaws (papayas), fresh	WO
08.08	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh	WO
08.09	Apricots, cherries, peaches (including nectarines), plums and sloes, fresh	WO
08.10	Other fruit, fresh	WO
08.11	Fruit and nuts, uncooked or cooked by steaming or boiling in water, frozen, whether or not containing added sugar or other sweetening matter	WO
08.12	Fruit and nuts provisionally preserved, but unsuitable in that state for immediate consumption	WO
08.13	Fruit, dried, other than that of headings 08.01 to 08.06; mixtures of nuts or dried fruits of this Chapter	WO
09	COFFEE, TEA, MATÉ AND SPICES	
09.01	Coffee, whether or not roasted or decaffeinated; coffee husks and skins; coffee substitutes containing coffee in any proportion	
	- Coffee, not roasted:	
0901.11	Not decaffeinated	WO
0901.12	Decaffeinated	WO
	- Coffee, roasted:	
0901.21	Not decaffeinated	QVC40 or CTSH
0901.22	Decaffeinated	QVC40 or CTSH
0901.90	- Other	QVC40 or CTSH
09.02	Tea, whether or not flavoured	
0902.10	- Green tea (not fermented) in immediate packings of a content not exceeding 3 kg	QVC40
0902.20	- Other green tea (not fermented)	QVC40
0902.30	- Black tea (fermented) and partly fermented tea, in immediate packings of a content not exceeding 3 kg	QVC40

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
0902.40	- Other black tea (fermented) and other partly fermented tea	WO
09.03	Maté	CC
09.04	Pepper of the genus Piper; dried or crushed or ground fruits of the genus Capsicum or of the genus Pimenta	WO
09.05	Vanilla	WO
09.06	Cinnamon and cinnamon-tree flowers	WO
09.07	Cloves (whole fruit, cloves and stems)	WO
09.08	Nutmeg, mace and cardamoms	WO
09.09	Seeds of anise, badian, fennel, coriander, cumin or caraway; juniper berries	WO
09.10	Ginger, saffron, turmeric (curcuma), thyme, bay leaves, curry and other spices	WO
	- Ginger:	
0910.11	Neither crushed nor ground	WO
0910.12	Crushed or ground	WO
0910.20	- Saffron	WO
0910.30	- Turmeric (curcuma)	WO
	- Other spices:	
0910.91	Mixtures referred to in Note 1(b) to this Chapter	QVC40
0910.99	Other	QVC40
10	CEREALS	WO
11	PRODUCTS OF THE MILLING INDUSTRY; MALT; STARCHES; INULIN; WHEAT GLUTEN	CC
12	OIL SEEDS AND OLEAGINOUS FRUITS; MISCELLANEOUS GRAINS, SEEDS AND FRUIT; INDUSTRIAL OR MEDICINAL PLANTS; STRAW AND FODDER	
12.01	Soya beans, whether or not broken	WO
12.02	Ground-nuts, not roasted or otherwise cooked, whether or not shelled or broken	

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
1202.30	- Seed	WO
	- Other:	
1202.41	In shell	WO
1202.42	Shelled, whether or not broken	CC
12.03	Copra	WO
12.04	Linseed, whether or not broken	CC
12.05	Rape or colza seeds, whether or not broken	
1205.10	- Low erucic acid rape or colza seeds	WO
1205.90	- Other	WO
12.06	Sunflower seeds, whether or not broken	CC
12.07	Other oil seeds and oleaginous fruits, whether or not broken	WO
12.08	Flours and meals of oil seeds or oleaginous fruits, other than those of mustard	CC
12.09	Seeds, fruit and spores, of a kind used for sowing	CC
12.10	Hop cones, fresh or dried, whether or not ground, powdered or in the form of pellets; lupulin	CC
12.11	Plants and parts of plants (including seeds and fruits), of a kind used primarily in perfumery, in pharmacy or for insecticidal, fungicidal or similar purposes, fresh, chilled, frozen or dried, whether or not cut, crushed or powdered	
1211.20	- Ginseng roots	WO
1211.30	- Coca leaf	WO
1211.40	- Poppy straw	WO
1211.50	- Ephedra	CC
1211.60	- Bark of African cherry (Prunus africana)	CC
1211.90	- Other	CC
12.12	Locust beans, seaweeds and other algae, sugar beet and sugar cane, fresh, chilled, frozen or dried, whether or not ground; fruit stones and kernels and other vegetable	CC

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
	products (including unroasted chicory roots of the variety Cichorium intybus sativum) of a kind used primarily for human consumption, not elsewhere specified or included	
12.13	Cereal straw and husks, unprepared, whether or not chopped, ground, pressed or in the form of pellets	CC
12.14	Swedes, mangolds, fodder roots, hay, lucerne (alfalfa), clover, sainfoin, forage kale, lupines, vetches and similar forage products, whether or not in the form of pellets	CC
13	LAC; GUMS, RESINS AND OTHER VEGETABLE SAPS AND EXTRACTS	CC
14	VEGETABLE PLAITING MATERIALS; VEGETABLE PRODUCTS NOT ELSEWHERE SPECIFIED OR INCLUDED	
14.01	Vegetable materials of a kind used primarily for plaiting (for example, bamboos, rattans, reeds, rushes, osier, raffia, cleaned, bleached or dyed cereal straw, and lime bark)	WO
14.04	Vegetable products not elsewhere specified or included	CC
15	ANIMAL, VEGETABLE OR MICROBIAL FATS AND OILS AND THEIR CLEAVAGE PRODUCTS; PREPARED EDIBLE FATS; ANIMAL OR VEGETABLE WAXES	
15.01	Pig fat (including lard) and poultry fat, other than that of heading 02.09 or 15.03	CC
15.02	Fats of bovine animals, sheep or goats, other than those of heading 15.03	CC
15.03	Lard stearin, lard oil, oleostearin, oleo-oil and tallow oil, not emulsified or mixed or otherwise prepared	CC
15.04	Fats and oils and their fractions, of fish or marine mammals, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC
15.05	Wool grease and fatty substances derived therefrom (including lanolin)	CC
15.06	Other animal fats and oils and their fractions, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
15.07	Soya-bean oil and its fractions, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	
1507.10	- Crude oil, whether or not degummed	CC
1507.90	- Other	QVC40 or CC
15.08	Ground-nut oil and its fractions, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC
15.09	Olive oil and its fractions, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC
15.10	Other oils and their fractions, obtained solely from olives, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified, including blends of these oils or fractions with oils or fractions of heading 15.09	CC
15.11	Palm oil and its fractions, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	
1511.10	- Crude oil	WO
1511.90	- Other	CC
15.12	Sunflower-seed, safflower or cotton-seed oil and fractions thereof, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC
15.13	Coconut (copra), palm kernel or babassu oil and fractions thereof, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	
	- Coconut (copra) oil and its fractions:	
1513.11	Crude oil	CC
1513.19	Other	CC
	- Palm kernel or babassu oil and fractions thereof:	
1513.21	Crude oil	WO
1513.29	Other	WO
15.14	Rape, colza or mustard oil and fractions thereof, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC
15.15	Other fixed vegetable or microbial fats and oils (including jojoba oil) and their fractions, whether or not refined, but not chemically modified	CC

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
15.16	Animal, vegetable or microbial fats and oils and their	CC
	fractions, partly or wholly hydrogenated, inter-	
	esterified, re-esterified or elaidinised, whether or not	
	refined, but not further prepared	
15.17	Margarine; edible mixtures or preparations of animal,	QVC40 or CC
	vegetable or microbial fats or oils or of fractions of	
	different fats or oils of this Chapter, other than edible	
	fats and oils or their fractions of heading 15.16	
15.18	Animal, vegetable or microbial fats and oils and their	QVC40 or CC
	fractions, boiled, oxidised, dehydrated, sulphurised,	
	blown, polymerised by heat in vacuum or in inert gas or	
	otherwise chemically modified, excluding those of	
	heading 15.16; inedible mixtures or preparations of	
	animal, vegetable or microbial fats or oils or of fractions	
	of different fats or oils of this Chapter, not elsewhere specified or included	
	specified of included	
15.20	Glycerol, crude; glycerol waters and glycerol lyes	QVC40 or CC
15.21	Vegetable waxes (other than triglycerides), beeswax,	CC
	other insect waxes and spermaceti, whether or not	
	refined or coloured	
15.22	Degras; residues resulting from the treatment of fatty	CC
	substances or animal or vegetable waxes	
16	PREPARATIONS OF MEAT, OF FISH, OF	
	CRUSTACEANS, MOLLUSCS OR OTHER AQUATIC	
	INVERTEBRATES, OR OF INSECTS	
16.01	Sausages and similar products, of meat, meat offal,	CC
	blood or insects; food preparations based on these	
	products	
16.02	Other prepared or preserved meat, meat offal, blood or	
	insects	
1602.10	- Homogenised preparations	CC
1602.20	- Of liver of any animal	CC
	- Of poultry of heading 0105:	
1602.31	Of turkeys	QVC40 or CC
1602.32	Of fowls of the species Gallus domesticus	CC except from Chapter
		01

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
1602.39	Other	CC except from Chapter 01
	- Of swine:	
1602.41	Hams and cuts thereof	CC
1602.42	Shoulders and cuts thereof	CC
1602.49	Other, including mixtures	CC
1602.50	- Of bovine animals	CC
1602.90	- Other, including preparations of blood of any animal	CC
16.03	Extracts and juices of meat, fish or crustaceans, molluscs or other aquatic invertebrates	CC
16.04	Prepared or preserved fish; caviar and caviar substitutes	
	prepared from fish eggs	
	- Fish, whole or in pieces, but not minced:	
1604.11	Salmon	CC
1604.12	Herrings	CC
1604.13	Sardines, sardinella and brisling or sprats	CC
1604.14	Tunas, skipjack and bonito (Sarda spp.)	CC
1604.15	Mackerel	CC
1604.16	Anchovies	CC
1604.17	Eels	CC
1604.18	Shark fins	QVC40 or CC
1604.19	Other	QVC40 or CC
1604.20	- Other prepared or preserved fish	QVC40 or CC
	- Caviar and caviar substitutes:	
1604.31	Caviar	CC
1604.32	Caviar substitutes	CC
16.05	Crustaceans, molluscs and other aquatic invertebrates, prepared or preserved	CC
17	SUGARS AND SUGAR CONFECTIONERY	

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
17.01	Cane or beet sugar and chemically pure sucrose, in solid form	
	- Raw sugar not containing added flavouring or colouring matter:	
1701.12	Beet sugar	CC
1701.13	Cane sugar specified in Subheading Note 2 to this Chapter	WO
1701.14	Other cane sugar	WO
	- Other:	
1701.91	Containing added flavouring or colouring matter	QVC40 or CC
1701.99	Other	QVC40 or CC
17.02	Other sugars, including chemically pure lactose, maltose, glucose and fructose, in solid form; sugar syrups not containing added flavouring or colouring matter; artificial honey, whether or not mixed with natural honey; caramel	CC
17.03	Molasses resulting from the extraction or refining of sugar	CC
18	COCOA AND COCOA PREPARATIONS	WO
20	PREPARATIONS OF VEGETABLES, FRUIT, NUTS OR OTHER PARTS OF PLANTS	
20.09	Fruit or nut juices (including grape must and coconut water) and vegetable juices, unfermented and not containing added spirit, whether or not containing added sugar or other sweetening matter	
2009.90	- Mixtures of juices	CTSH
27	MINERAL FUELS, MINERAL OILS AND PRODUCTS OF THEIR DISTILLATION; BITUMINOUS SUBSTANCES; MINERAL WAXES	
27.07	Oils and other products of the distillation of high temperature coal tar; similar products in which the weight of the aromatic constituents exceeds that of the non-aromatic constituents	

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
2707.50	- Other aromatic hydrocarbon mixtures of which 65% or more by volume (including losses) distils at 250 °C by the ISO 3405 method (equivalent to the ASTM D 86 method)	QVC35 or CTH
	- Other:	
2707.99	Other	QVC35 or CTH
27.10	Petroleum oils and oils obtained from bituminous minerals, other than crude; preparations not elsewhere specified or included, containing by weight 70% or more of petroleum oils or of oils obtained from bituminous minerals, these oils being the basic constituents of the preparations; waste oils	
	- Waste oils:	
2710.91	Containing polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated terphenyls (PCTs) or polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs)	WO
2710.99	Other	WO
27.11	Petroleum gases and other gaseous hydrocarbons	
	- Liquefied:	
2711.14	Ethylene, propylene, butylene and butadiene	QVC35 or CTH
61	ARTICLES OF APPAREL AND CLOTHING ACCESSORIES, KNITTED OR CROCHETED	CC
62	ARTICLES OF APPAREL AND CLOTHING ACCESSORIES, NOT KNITTED OR CROCHETED	
62.01	Men's or boys' overcoats, car-coats, capes, cloaks, anoraks (including ski-jackets), wind-cheaters, wind-jackets and similar articles, other than those of 62.03	CC
62.02	Women's or girls' overcoats, car-coats, capes, cloaks, anoraks (including ski-jackets), wind-cheaters, wind-jackets and similar articles, other than those of heading 62.04	CC
62.03	Men's or boys' suits, ensembles, jackets, blazers, trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts (other than swimwear)	CC

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
62.04	Women's or girls' suits, ensembles, jackets, blazers, dresses, skirts, divided skirts, trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts (other than swimwear)	CC
62.05	Men's or boys' shirts	CC
62.06	Women's or girls' blouses, shirts and shirt-blouses	CC
62.07	Men's or boys' singlets and other vests, underpants, briefs, nightshirts, pyjamas, bathrobes, dressing gowns and similar articles	CC
62.08	Women's or girls' singlets and other vests, slips, petticoats, briefs, panties, nightdresses, pyjamas, negliges, bathrobes, dressing gowns and similar articles	CC
62.09	Babies' garments and clothing accessories	CC
62.10	Garments, made up of fabrics of heading 56.02, 56.03, 59.03, 59.06 or 59.07	CC
62.11	Track suits, ski suits and swimwear; other garments	CC
62.13	Handkerchiefs	CC
62.14	Shawls, scarves, mufflers, mantillas, veils and the like	CC
62.15	Ties, bow ties and cravats	CC
62.17	Other made up clothing accessories; parts of garments or of clothing accessories, other than those of 62.12	CC
64	FOOTWEAR, GAITERS AND THE LIKE; PARTS OF SUCH ARTICLES	QVC35 or CTH
72	IRON AND STEEL	
72.09	Flat-rolled products of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width of 600 mm or more, cold-rolled (cold-reduced), not clad, plated or coated	QVC40 or CTH except from headings 72.08 and 72.11
72.10	Flat-rolled products of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width of 600 mm or more, clad, plated or coated	QVC40 or CTH except from headings 72.08, 72.09, and 72.11
72.11	Flat-rolled products of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width of less than 600 mm, not clad, plated or coated	
	- Not further worked than hot-rolled:	

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
7211.13	Rolled on four faces or in a closed box pass, of a width exceeding 150 mm and a thickness of not less than 4 mm, not in coils and without patterns in relief	QVC40 or CTH except from subheading 7208.10
7211.14	Other, of a thickness of 4.75 mm or more	QVC40 or CTH except from subheading 7208.10
7211.19	Other	QVC40 or CTH except from subheading 7208.10
72.12	Flat-rolled products of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width of less than 600 mm, clad, plated or coated	QVC40 or CTH except from headings 72.10 and 72.11
72.17	Wire of iron or non-alloy steel	QVC40 or CTH except from headings 72.13 – 72.15
72.20	Flat-rolled products of stainless steel, of a width of less than 600 mm	
	- Not further worked than hot-rolled:	
7220.11	Of a thickness of 4.75 mm or more	QVC40 or CTH except from heading 72.19
7220.12	Of a thickness of less than 4.75 mm	QVC40 or CTH except from heading 72.19
7220.20	- Not further worked than cold-rolled (cold-reduced)	QVC35 or CTH except from subheadings 7219.31 to 7219.90
7220.90	- Other	QVC35 or CTH except from subheadings 7219.31 to 7219.90
72.26	Flat-rolled products of other alloy steel, of a width of less than 600 mm	
	- Other:	
7226.91	Not further worked than hot-rolled	QVC40 or CTH except from heading 72.25

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
7226.92	Not further worked than cold-rolled (cold-reduced)	QVC35 or CTH except from heading 72.25
7226.99	Other	QVC40 or CTH except from heading 72.25
73	ARTICLES OF IRON OR STEEL	
73.08	Structures (excluding prefabricated buildings of 94.06) and parts of structures (for example, bridges and bridge-sections, lock-gates, towers, lattice masts, roofs, roofing frame-works, doors and windows and their frames and thresholds for doors, shutters, balustrades, pillars and columns), of iron or steel; plates, rods, angles, shapes, sections, tubes and the like, prepared for use in structures, of iron or steel	
7308.20	- Towers and lattice masts	QVC 30 or CTH
84	NUCLEAR REACTORS, BOILERS, MACHINERY AND MECHANICAL APPLIANCES; PARTS THEREOF	
84.07	Spark-ignition reciprocating or rotary internal combustion piston engines	
	- Reciprocating piston engines of a kind used for the propulsion of vehicles of Chapter 87:	
8407.34	Of a cylinder capacity exceeding 1,000 cc	QVC40
84.08	Compression-ignition internal combustion piston engines (diesel or semi-diesel engines)	
8408.20	- Engines of a kind used for the propulsion of vehicles of Chapter 87	QVC40
84.13	Pumps for liquids, whether or not fitted with a measuring device; liquid elevators	
	- Pumps fitted or designed to be fitted with a measuring device:	
8413.11	Pumps for dispensing fuel or lubricants, of the type used in filling-stations or in garages	QVC 25 or CTSH
8413.19	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
8413.20	- Hand pumps, other than those of subheading 8413.11 or 8413.19	QVC 25 or CTSH

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
8413.30	- Fuel, lubricating or cooling medium pumps for internal combustion piston engines	QVC 25 or CTSH
8413.40	- Concrete pumps	QVC 25 or CTSH
8413.50	- Other reciprocating positive displacement pumps	QVC 25 or CTSH
8413.60	- Other rotary positive displacement pumps	QVC 35 and CTSH
8413.70	- Other centrifugal pumps	QVC 28 and CTSH
	- Other pumps; liquid elevators:	
8413.81	Pumps	QVC 25 or CTSH
8413.82	Liquid elevators	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Parts:	
8413.91	Of pumps	QVC 35 and CTSH
8413.92	Of liquid elevators	QVC 28 and CTSH
	fans; ventilating or recycling hoods incorporating a fan, whether or not fitted with filters; gas-tight biological safety cabinets, whether or not fitted with filters	
	- Fans:	
8414.51	Table, floor, wall, window, ceiling or roof fans, with a self-contained electric motor of an output not exceeding 125 W	QVC 28 and CTSH
8414.59	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
8414.90	- Parts	QVC 35 and CTSH
84.15	Air conditioning machines, comprising a motor-driven fan and elements for changing the temperature and humidity, including those machines in which the humidity cannot be separately regulated	
8415.10	- Of a kind designed to be fixed to a window, wall, ceiling or floor, self-contained or "split-system"	QVC 40 or CTSH
8415.20	- Of a kind used for persons, in motor vehicles	QVC 28 and CTSH
	- Other:	

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
8415.81	Incorporating a refrigerating unit and a valve for reversal of the cooling/heat cycle (reversible heat pumps)	QVC 35 and CTSH
8415.82	Other, incorporating a refrigerating unit	QVC 35 and CTSH
8415.83	Not incorporating a refrigerating unit	QVC 35 and CTSH
84.17	Industrial or laboratory furnaces and ovens, including incinerators, non-electric	
8417.20	- Bakery ovens, including biscuit ovens	QVC 25 or CTSH
84.18	Refrigerators, freezers and other refrigerating or freezing equipment, electric or other; heat pumps other than air conditioning machines of heading 84.15	
8418.10	- Combined refrigerator-freezers, fitted with separate external doors or drawers, or combinations thereof	QVC 35 and CTSH
	- Refrigerators, household type:	
8418.21	Compression-type	QVC 35 and CTSH
8418.29	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
8418.30	- Freezers of the chest type, not exceeding 800 l capacity	QVC 35 and CTSH
8418.40	- Freezers of the upright type, not exceeding 900 l capacity	QVC 40 or CTSH
8418.50	- Other furniture (chests, cabinets, display counters, show- cases and the like) for storage and display, incorporating refrigerating or freezing equipment	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Other refrigerating or freezing equipment; heat pumps:	
8418.61	Heat pumps other than air conditioning machines of heading 84.15	QVC 25 or CTSH
8418.69	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
	- Parts:	
8418.99	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
84.19	Machinery, plant or laboratory equipment, whether or not electrically heated (excluding furnaces, ovens and other equipment of heading 85.14), for the treatment of materials by a process involving a change of temperature such as heating, cooking, roasting, distilling, rectifying, sterilising, pasteurising, steaming, drying, evaporating, vaporising, condensing or cooling,	

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
	other than machinery or plant of a kind used for domestic purposes; instantaneous or storage water heaters, non-electric	
8419.50	- Heat exchange units	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Other machinery, plant and equipment:	
8419.81	For making hot drinks or for cooking or heating food	QVC 25 or CTSH
84.21	Centrifuges, including centrifugal dryers; filtering or purifying machinery and apparatus for liquids or gases	
	- Centrifuges, including centrifugal dryers:	
8421.12	Clothes-dryers	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Filtering or purifying machinery and apparatus for gases:	
8421.39	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Parts:	
8421.91	Of centrifuges, including centrifugal dryers	QVC 25 or CTSH
84.43	Printing machinery used for printing by means of plates, cylinders and other printing components of heading 84.42; other printers, copying machines and facsimile machines, whether or not combined; parts and accessories thereof	
	- Other printers, copying machines and facsimile machines, whether or not combined:	
8443.32	Other, capable of connecting to an automatic data processing machine or to a network	QVC 25 or CTSH
84.50	Household or laundry-type washing machines, including machines which both wash and dry	
	- Machines, each of a dry linen capacity not exceeding 10 kg:	
8450.11	Fully-automatic machines	QVC 40 or CTSH
8450.12	Other machines, with built-in centrifugal drier	QVC 40 or CTSH
8450.20	- Machines, each of a dry linen capacity exceeding 10 kg	QVC 25 or CTSH

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
84.51	Machinery (other than machines of heading 84.50) for washing, cleaning, wringing, drying, ironing, pressing (including fusing presses), bleaching, dyeing, dressing, finishing, coating or impregnating textile yarns, fabrics or made up textile articles and machines for applying the paste to the base fabric or other support used in the manufacture of floor coverings such as linoleum; machines for reeling, unreeling, folding, cutting or pinking textile fabrics	
8451.10	- Dry-cleaning machines	QVC 25 or CTSH
8451.90	- Parts	QVC 25 or CTSH
84.71	Automatic data processing machines and units thereof; magnetic or optical readers, machines for transcribing data onto data media in coded form and machines for processing such data, not elsewhere specified or included	
8471.30	- Portable automatic data processing machines, weighing not more than 10 kg, consisting of at least a central processing unit, a keyboard and a display  - Other automatic data processing machines:	QVC 25 or CTSH
0.171.11		2772.25
8471.41	Comprising in the same housing at least a central processing unit and an input and output unit, whether or not combined	QVC 25 or CTSH
8471.49	Other, presented in the form of systems	QVC 25 or CTSH
85	ELECTRICAL MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT AND PARTS THEREOF; SOUND RECORDERS AND REPRODUCERS, TELEVISION IMAGE AND SOUND RECORDERS AND REPRODUCERS, AND PARTS AND ACCESSORIES OF SUCH ARTICLES	
85.01	Electric motors and generators (excluding generating sets)	
8501.40	- Other AC motors, single-phase	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.02	Electric generating sets and rotary converters	
	- Generating sets with compression-ignition internal combustion piston engines (diesel or semi-diesel engines):	
8502.11	Of an output not exceeding 75 kVA	QVC 25 or CTSH

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
8502.12	Of an output exceeding 75 kVA but not exceeding 375 kVA	QVC 25 or CTSH
8502.13	Of an output exceeding 375 kVA:	QVC 25 or CTSH
8502.20	- Generating sets with spark-ignition internal combustion piston engines	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Other generating sets:	
8502.31	Wind-powered	QVC 25 or CTSH
8502.39	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
8502.40	- Electric rotary converters	QVC 25 or CTSH
85.03	Parts suitable for use solely or principally with the machines of heading 85.01 or 85.02	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.04	Electrical transformers, static converters (for example, rectifiers) and inductors	
8504.40	- Static converters	QVC 25 or CTSH
8504.90	- Parts	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.07	Electric accumulators, including separators therefor, whether or not rectangular (including square)	
8507.50	- Nickel-metal hydride	QVC40
8507.60	- Lithium-ion	QVC40
8507.80	- Other accumulators	QVC40
85.08	Vacuum cleaners	
	- With self-contained electric motor:	
8508.11	Of a power not exceeding 1,500 W and having a dust bag or other receptacle capacity not exceeding 201	QVC 35 and CTSH
8508.19	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
8508.70	- Parts	QVC 25 or CTSH
85.11	Electrical ignition or starting equipment of a kind used for spark-ignition or compression-ignition internal combustion engines (for example, ignition magnetos, magneto-dynamos, ignition coils, sparking plugs and glow plugs, starter motors); generators (for example,	

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
	dynamos, alternators) and cut-outs of a kind used in	
	conjunction with such engines	
8511.40	- Starter motors and dual purpose starter-generators	QVC40
8511.50	- Other generators	QVC40
85.16	Electric instantaneous or storage water heaters and	
	immersion heaters; electric space heating apparatus and	
	soil heating apparatus; electro-thermic hair-dressing	
	apparatus (for example, hair dryers, hair curlers,	
	curling tong heaters) and hand dryers; electric	
	smoothing irons; other electro-thermic appliances of a	
	kind used for domestic purposes; electric heating	
	resistors, other than those of heading 85.45	
8516.10	- Electric instantaneous or storage water heaters and	QVC 35 and CTSH
	immersion heaters	
	- Electric space heating apparatus and electric soil heating	
	apparatus:	
8516.21	Storage heating radiators	QVC 35 and CTSH
8516.29	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
	- Electro-thermic hair-dressing or hand-drying apparatus:	
8516.31	Hair dryers	QVC 25 or CTSH
8516.32	Other hair-dressing apparatus	QVC 25 or CTSH
8516.33	Hand-drying apparatus	QVC 25 or CTSH
8516.40	- Electric smoothing irons	QVC 35 and CTSH
8516.50	- Microwave ovens	QVC 35 and CTSH
8516.60	- Other ovens; cookers, cooking plates, boiling rings, grillers	QVC 35 and CTSH
	and roasters	
	- Other electro-thermic appliances:	
8516.71	Coffee or tea makers	QVC 25 or CTSH
8516.72	Toasters	QVC 35 and CTSH
8516.79	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
8516.80	- Electric heating resistors	QVC 35 and CTSH
8516.90	- Parts	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.19	Sound recording or reproducing apparatus	
8519.20	- Apparatus operated by coins, banknotes, bank cards, tokens or by other means of payment	QVC 28 or CTH
8519.30	- Turntables (record-decks)	QVC 28 or CTH
	- Other apparatus:	
8519.81	Using magnetic, optical or semiconductor media	QVC 25 or CTSH
8519.89	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.21	Video recording or reproducing apparatus, whether or not incorporating a video tuner	
8521.10	- Magnetic tape-type	QVC 25 or CTSH
8521.90	- Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
85.25	Transmission apparatus for radio-broadcasting or television, whether or not incorporating reception apparatus or sound recording or reproducing apparatus; television cameras, digital cameras and video camera recorders	
8525.50	- Transmission apparatus	QVC 25 or CTSH
8525.60	- Transmission apparatus incorporating reception apparatus	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Television cameras, digital cameras and video camera recorders:	
8525.81	High-speed goods as specified in Subheading Note 1 to this Chapter	QVC 25 or CTSH
8525.82	Other, radiation-hardened or radiation-tolerant goods as specified in Subheading Note 2 to this Chapter	QVC 25 or CTSH
8525.83	Other, night vision goods as specified in Subheading Note 3 to this Chapter	QVC 25 or CTSH
8525.89	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.28	Monitors and projectors, not incorporating television reception apparatus; reception apparatus for television,	

HS 2022	Product Description	Product Specific Rule
	whether or not incorporating radio-broadcast receivers	
	or sound or video recording or reproducing apparatus	
	- Cathode-ray tube monitors:	
8528.42	Capable of directly connecting to and designed for use	QVC 25 or CTSH
	with an automatic data processing machine of heading 84.71	
8528.49	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
	- Other monitors:	
8528.52	Capable of directly connecting to and designed for use	QVC 25 or CTSH
	with an automatic data processing machine of heading 84.71	
8528.59	Other	QVC 35 and CTSH
	- Projectors:	
8528.62	Capable of directly connecting to and designed for use	QVC 25 or CTSH
	with an automatic data processing machine of heading 84.71	
8528.69	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
	- Reception apparatus for television, whether or not	
	incorporating radio-broadcast receivers or sound or video	
	recording or reproducing apparatus:	
8528.71	Not designed to incorporate a video display or screen	QVC 35 and CTSH
8528.72	Other, colour	QVC 28 or CTH
8528.73	Other, monochrome	QVC 35 and CTSH
85.37	Boards, panels, consoles, desks, cabinets and other bases,	
	equipped with two or more apparatus of heading 85.35	
	or 85.36, for electric control or the distribution of	
	electricity, including those incorporating instruments or	
	apparatus of Chapter 90, and numerical control	
	apparatus, other than switching apparatus of heading 85.17	
8537.10	- For a voltage not exceeding 1,000 V	QVC 28 or CTH
8537.20	- For a voltage exceeding 1,000 V	QVC 28 or CTH
85.38	Parts suitable for use solely or principally with the	
	apparatus of heading 85.35, 85.36 or 85.37	

HS 2022	Product Description	<b>Product Specific Rule</b>
8538.10	- Boards, panels, consoles, desks, cabinets and other bases for the goods of heading 85.37, not equipped with their apparatus	QVC 28 or CTH
85.41	Semiconductor devices (for example, diodes, transistors, semiconductor-based transducers); photosensitive semiconductor devices, including photovoltaic cells whether or not assembled in modules or made up into panels; light-emitting diodes (LED), whether or not assembled with other light-emitting diodes (LED); mounted piezo-electric crystals	
	- Photosensitive semiconductor devices, including photovoltaic cells whether or not assembled in modules or made up into panels; light-emitting diodes (LED):	
8541.41	Light-emitting diodes (LED)	QVC 25 or CTSH
8541.42	Photovoltaic cells not assembled in modules or made up into panels	QVC 25 or CTSH
8541.43	Photovoltaic cells assembled in modules or made up into panels	QVC 25 or CTSH
8541.49	Other	QVC 25 or CTSH
87	VEHICLES OTHER THAN RAILWAY OR TRAMWAY ROLLING-STOCK, AND PARTS AND ACCESSORIES THEREOF	QVC40

# CHAPTER 4 CUSTOMS PROCEDURES AND TRADE FACILITATION

## **Article 4.1: Objectives**

The objectives of this Chapter are to:

- (a) simplify and harmonise customs procedures of each Party;
- (b) ensure consistency, predictability, and transparency in the application of customs laws and regulations of each Party;
  - (c) ensure efficient and expeditious clearance of goods;
- (d) facilitate trade in goods between the Parties by the use of information and communications technology, to the extent possible taking into account international standards; and
  - (e) promote cooperation between the customs authorities of each Party.

# **Article 4.2: Scope**

- 1. This Chapter shall apply to customs procedures for goods traded between the Parties and means of transport between the Parties.
- 2. This Chapter shall be implemented by each Party in accordance with the laws and regulations in force in each Party and within the competence and available resources of the customs authorities of each Party.

## **Article 4.3: Definitions**

For the purposes of this Chapter:

- (a) **customs authority** means the authority that, according to the legislation of each Party, is responsible for the administration and enforcement of its customs laws and regulations:
  - (i) in the case of Thailand, the Customs Department; and
  - (ii) in the case of Sri Lanka, the Sri Lanka Customs;
- (b) customs laws and regulations means such laws and regulations applied and enforced by the customs authority of each Party concerning the importation, exportation, and transit/transshipment of goods, so far as they

relate to customs duties, charges, and other taxes, or to prohibitions, restrictions, and other similar controls with respect to the movement of controlled items across the boundary of the customs territory of each Party;

- (c) **customs procedures** means the treatment applied by the customs authority of each Party to goods and means of transport that are subject to customs laws and regulations including customs control; and
- (d) **Expedited Shipment** means all goods imported by or through an enterprise operating a consignment service for the expeditious cross-border movement of goods who assumes liability to the customs authority for those goods.

#### **Article 4.4: Pre-arrival Processing**

- 1. Each Party shall adopt or maintain procedures allowing for the submission of import documentation and other required information in order to begin processing prior to the arrival of goods with a view to expediting the release of goods upon arrival.
- 2. Each Party shall provide, as appropriate, for advance lodging of documents and other information referred to in paragraph 1, in electronic format for prearrival processing of such documents.

## **Article 4.5: Advance Rulings**

- 1. Customs authorities of each Party shall, subject to its laws and regulations, issue a written advance ruling prior to the importation of goods into its territory upon written request of a person who intends to import in or export to its territory, on the basis of the facts and circumstances provided by the requester, including a detailed description of the information required to process a request for an advance ruling, concerning an application of an exporter, importer or any person with respect to:
  - (a) the tariff classification of goods;
  - (b) valuation method, the appropriate method or criteria, and the application thereof, to be used for determining the customs value under a particular set of facts; or
  - (c) whether goods qualify as originating goods under this Agreement.

- 2. The customs authorities shall issue advance rulings after receiving a written request, provided that the requester has submitted all necessary information. The issuance of advance ruling shall be made within 120 days.
- 3. Each Party shall provide advance rulings that shall be in force from their date of issuance, or such other date specified by the ruling, for the period of time, in accordance with its laws and regulations, provided that the facts or circumstances on which the ruling is based remain unchanged.
- 4. Each Party may modify or revoke an advance ruling:
  - (a) if the ruling was based on an error of fact;
- (b) if there is a change in the material facts or circumstances on which the ruling was based;
  - (c) to conform with a judicial decision; or
- (d) based on reasons or circumstances specified in its laws and regulations.
- 5. Before issuing a decision, each Party may reject a request for an advance ruling:
- (a) if the requester does not submit additional required information within specified period;
  - (b) if a request was based on an error of fact;
- (c) if a detailed request is under verification by customs authority or other agencies; or
- (d) based on reasons or circumstances specified by customs authority of each Party.
- 6. Each Party shall provide, in its laws and regulations, that any modification or revocation of an advance ruling shall be effective on the date on which the modification or revocation is issued, or on such later date as may be specified therein, and shall not be applied to importations of goods that have occurred prior to that date, unless the person to whom the advance ruling was issued has not acted in accordance with the terms and conditions of the advance ruling.
- 7. Where an importer claims that the treatment accorded to imported goods should be governed by an advance ruling, the customs authorities may evaluate whether the facts and circumstances of the importation are consistent with the facts and circumstances upon which an advance ruling was based.

- 8. Each Party shall make its advance rulings publicly available, subject to confidentiality requirements in its laws and regulations, for the purposes of promoting the consistent application of advance rulings to other goods.
- 9. If a requester provides false information or omits relevant circumstances or facts in its request for an advance ruling, or does not act in accordance with the ruling's terms and conditions, the importing Party may apply appropriate measures, including civil, criminal, and administrative actions, penalties, or other sanctions in accordance with its laws and regulations.
- 10. Where a Party modifies or revokes an advance ruling, it shall provide written notice to the requester setting out the relevant facts and the basis for its decision. Where a Party revokes or modifies an advance ruling with retrospective effect, it may only do so where the advance ruling was based on incomplete, incorrect, false or misleading information.
- 11. An advance ruling issued by a Party shall be binding on that Party in respect of the requester that sought it. The Party may provide that the advance ruling is binding on the requester.

#### **Article 4.6: Customs Procedures**

- 1. The customs authority of each Party shall ensure that its customs procedures and practices are predictable, consistent, transparent, and facilitate trade, including through the expeditious clearance of goods and means of transport.
- 2. Customs procedures of each Party shall, where possible and to the extent permitted by their respective customs laws and regulations, conform with the standards and recommended practices of the World Customs Organization (WCO) and other international organisations as relevant to customs.
- 3. The customs authority of each Party shall review its customs procedures and practices with a view to their simplification to facilitate trade.

#### **Article 4.7: Customs Clearance**

1. Each Party shall endeavor to apply customs procedures in a predictable, consistent, and transparent manner for the efficient release of goods in order to facilitate trade between the Parties.

- 2. For prompt release of goods traded between the Parties, to the extent possible, each Party may:
- (a) provide for the release of goods within a period no greater than the period that is required to ensure compliance with its customs laws or regulations;
  - (b) make use of information and communications technology;
- (c) adopt or maintain procedures allowing, to the extent possible, goods to be released at the point of arrival, without temporary transfer to warehouses or other locations;
- (d) harmonise its customs procedures, as far as possible, with relevant international standards and best practices, such as those recommended by the WCO; and
- (e) adopt or maintain procedures allowing the release of goods prior to, and without prejudice to, the final determination by its customs authority of the applicable customs duties, taxes, and fees, subject to domestic procedures.
- 3. Under normal circumstances, the Parties shall endeavor to ensure the simultaneous inspection of goods by the competent national authorities when goods are entering or leaving the Parties' customs territory at a single time and place.

## **Article 4.8: Trade Facilitation Measures for Authorised Operators**

- 1. Each Party shall provide additional trade facilitation measures related to import, export, or transit formalities and procedures, pursuant to paragraph 3, to operators who meet specified criteria, hereinafter called "authorised operators". Alternatively, a Party may offer such trade facilitation measures through customs procedures generally available to all operators and is not required to establish a separate scheme.
- 2. The specified criteria to qualify as an authorised operator shall be related to compliance, or the risk of non-compliance, with requirements specified in a Party's laws, regulations or procedures.
  - (a) Such criteria, which shall be published, may include:
- (i) an appropriate record of compliance with customs and other related laws and regulations;

- (ii) a system of managing records to allow for necessary internal controls;
- (iii) financial solvency, including, where appropriate, provision of a sufficient security or guarantee; and
  - (iv) supply chain security.
  - (b) Such criteria shall not:
- (i) be designed or applied so as to afford or create arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between operators where the same conditions prevail; and
- (ii) to the extent possible, restrict the participation of small and medium-sized enterprises.
- 3. The trade facilitation measures provided pursuant to paragraph 1 shall include at least three of the following measures<sup>1</sup>:
  - (a) low documentary and data requirements, as appropriate;
  - (b) low rate of physical inspections and examinations, as appropriate;
  - (c) rapid release time, as appropriate;
  - (d) deferred payment of duties, taxes, fees, and charges;
  - (e) use of comprehensive guarantees or reduced guarantees; and
- (f) clearance of goods at the premises of the authorised operator or another place authorised by the relevant customs authority.
- 4. Each Party is encouraged to develop authorised operator schemes based on international standards, where such standards exist, except when such standards would be an inappropriate or ineffective means for the fulfilment of the legitimate objectives pursued.
- 5. In order to enhance the trade facilitation measures provided to operators, a Party shall afford to the other Party the possibility of negotiating mutual recognition of authorised operator schemes.
- 6. Each Party is encouraged to exchange relevant information about authorised operator schemes in force.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A measure listed in subparagraphs (a) through (f) will be deemed to be provided to authorised operators if it is generally available to all operators.

#### **Article 4.9: Risk Management**

- 1. In order to facilitate release of goods traded between the Parties, the customs authority of each Party shall apply risk management methodology.
- 2. The customs authority of each Party is encouraged to exchange information, including best practices, on risk management techniques and other enforcement techniques.
- 3. Each Party shall endeavor to adopt or maintain risk management systems that enable its customs authority to focus its inspection activities on high-risk goods and that simplify the clearance and movement of low-risk goods.
- 4. The Parties shall design and apply risk management in a manner as to avoid arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination, or a disguised restriction on international trade.
- 5. The Parties shall base risk management on an assessment of risk through appropriate selectivity criteria. Such selectivity criteria may include, *inter alia*, the Harmonized System Code, nature and description of the goods, country of origin, country from which the goods were shipped, value of the goods, compliance record or traders, and type of means of transport.

#### **Article 4.10: Expedited Shipments**

- 1. Each Party shall adopt or maintain customs procedures to expedite the clearance of expedited shipments for at least those goods entered through air cargo facilities while maintaining appropriate customs control and selection, by:
- (a) providing for pre-arrival processing of information related to expedited shipments to the extent possible;
- (b) permitting, to the extent possible, the single submission of information covering all goods contained in an expedited shipment, through electronic means;
- (c) minimizing, to the extent possible, the documentation required for the release of expedited shipments;
- (d) providing for expedited shipments to be released under normal circumstances as rapidly as possible, and within six hours, when possible, after the arrival of the goods and submission of the information required for release;

- (e) endeavouring to apply the treatment in subparagraphs (a) through (d) to shipments of any weight or value recognising that a Party is permitted to require additional entry procedures, including declarations and supporting documentation and payment of duties and taxes, and to limit such treatment based on the type of goods, provided that the treatment is not limited to low value goods such as documents; and
- (f) providing, to the extent possible, for a *de minimis* shipment value or dutiable amount for which customs duties and taxes will not be collected, aside from certain prescribed goods. Internal taxes, such as value added taxes and excise taxes, applied to imports consistently with Article III of GATT 1994, are not subject to this subparagraph.
- 2. Nothing in paragraph 1 shall affect the right of a Party to examine, detain, seize, confiscate or refuse the entry of goods, or to carry out post-clearance audit, including in connection with the use of risk management systems. Further, nothing in paragraph 1 shall prevent a Party from requiring, as a condition for release, the submission of additional information and the fulfillment of non-automatic licensing requirement.

#### **Article 4.11: Time Release Studies**

- 1. The Parties are encouraged to measure the time required for the release of goods by the customs authority periodically and in a consistent manner, and to publish the findings thereof, using tools such as the Guide to Measure the Time Required for the Release of Goods issued by the WCO with a view to assessing their trade facilitation measures and to considering opportunities for further improvement of the time required for the release of goods.
- 2. A Party is encouraged to share with the other Party their experiences in the time release studies referred to in paragraph 1, including methodologies used and bottlenecks identified.

# **Article 4.12: Temporary Admission of Goods**

1. Each Party shall allow temporary admission of goods in accordance with relevant international standards applied by, and international agreements applicable to, such Party and its laws and regulations.

2. For the purposes of this Article, **temporary admission** means customs procedures under which certain goods may be brought into a customs territory conditionally relieved, totally, or partially, from payment of customs duties. Such goods must be imported for a specific purpose and must be intended for re-exportation within a specified period and without having undergone any change except normal depreciation due to the use made of them.

# **Article 4.13: Use of Automated Systems**

- 1. The customs authorities of the Parties shall make cooperative efforts to promote the use of information and communications technology in their customs procedures to support customs operations, including sharing best practices, for the purposes of improving their customs procedures.
- 2. The customs authorities of each Party, in implementing initiatives which provide for the use of paperless trading, shall take into account the methods agreed by the WCO, including adoption of the WCO data model for the simplification and harmonisation of data.
- 3. The customs authorities of each Party shall work towards having electronic means for all its customs reporting requirements, as soon as practicable.
- 4. The introduction and enhancement of information technology shall, to the greatest extent possible, be carried out in consultation with all relevant parties including businesses directly affected.
- 5. Each Party shall develop or maintain single window systems within the capability of that Party, to facilitate a single, electronic submission of all information required by customs and other legislation for the exportation, importation, and transit of goods.

## **Article 4.14: Review and Appeal**

- 1. Each Party shall ensure that with respect to its determinations on customs matters, importers in its territory have access to:
- (a) administrative review issued by a superior official different from who made the determination; and
- (b) judicial review of the determination or decision taken at the final level of administrative review.

2. Notice of the decision on appeal shall be given to the appellant and the reasons for such decision shall be provided in writing.

## **Article 4.15: Penalties Disciplines**

Each Party shall maintain measures for the imposition of civil or administrative penalties or sanctions and, where appropriate, criminal sanctions for violations of its customs laws and other laws relating to customs according to its laws and regulations.

## **Article 4.16: Enquiry Points**

- 1. Each Party shall designate one or more enquiry points to deal with enquiries from interested persons from either Party on customs matters arising from the implementation of this Agreement, and provide details of such enquiry points to the other Party's customs administration.
- 2. Information concerning the procedures for making such enquiries shall be made easily accessible to the public.

# **Article 4.17: Publication**

- 1. Each Party shall promptly publish or otherwise make available, including through electronic means, the following information in a non-discriminatory and easily accessible manner, in order to enable interested parties to become acquainted with them:
- (a) importation, exportation, and transit procedures (including port, airport, and other entry-point procedures) and required forms and documents;
- (b) applied rates of duties and taxes of any kind imposed on or in connection with importation or exportation;
- (c) rules for the classification or the valuation of products for customs purposes;
  - (d) import, export, or transit restrictions or prohibitions;
- (e) fees and charges imposed on or in connection with importation, exportation, or transit;

- (f) penalty provisions against breaches of import, export, or transit formalities; and
  - (g) appeal procedures.
- 2. The information in paragraph 1 shall, to the extent practicable, be made available on the internet in the English language.
- 3. The Parties shall designate or maintain one or more enquiry or information points to address enquiries by interested persons concerning customs and trade facilitation matters. Such enquiries shall be addressed in the English language.

# **Article 4.18: Customs Cooperation**

- 1. The Parties shall enhance their cooperation in customs and customs related matters. In order to enhance cooperation on customs matters, the Parties shall, to the extent possible, *inter alia*:
- (a) exchange information concerning their respective customs legislation, its implementation, and customs procedures, particularly in the following areas:
  - (i) simplification and modernisation of customs procedures;
- (ii) border enforcement of intellectual property rights by the customs authorities;
  - (iii) transit movements and transshipment; and
  - (iv) relations with the business community;
- (b) uphold their commitment to the facilitation of the legitimate movement of goods, and to the improvement of customs techniques and procedures in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;
- (c) consider developing joint initiatives relating to import, export, and other customs procedures towards ensuring an effective service to the business community;
- (d) work together on customs-related aspects of securing and facilitating the international trade supply chain; and
- (e) strengthen coordination in international organisations such as the WTO and the WCO.

#### **Article 4.19: Post-Clearance Audit**

- 1. With a view to expediting the release of goods, the Parties shall adopt or maintain post-clearance audits to ensure compliance with customs and other related laws and regulations.
- 2. Each Party shall select a person or a consignment for post-clearance audit in a risk-based manner, which may include appropriate selectivity criteria. The Parties shall conduct post-clearance audits in a transparent manner. Where conclusive results of a post-clearance audit have been achieved, the Party conducting the post-clearance audit shall, without delay, notify the person whose record was audited of the audit results, the person's rights and obligations, and the reasons for the audit results, wherever practicable.
- 3. Each Party shall, wherever practicable, use the result of post-clearance audit in applying risk management.

## **Article 4.20: Electronic Payment**

Each Party shall adopt or maintain procedures allowing the option of electronic payment for duties, taxes, fees, and charges collected by the relevant customs authorities incurred upon importation and exportation.

# CHAPTER 5 SANITARY AND PHYTOSANITARY MEASURES

## **Article 5.1: Objectives**

The objectives of this Chapter are to:

- (a) facilitate trade while protecting human, animal and plant life or health;
- (b) enhance the implementation of the Sanitary and Phytosanitary Agreement under the World Trade Organization (hereinafter referred to as "SPS Agreement") with a view to minimize the negative effects of sanitary and phytosanitary (hereinafter referred to as "SPS") measures on trade between the Parties;
- (c) encourage to use of the applicable harmonised SPS measures on the basis of International Standards, Guidelines, and Recommendations (herein after referred to as "ISGRs") developed by the relevant international organisations.
- (d) enhance mutual understanding of each Party's national laws, regulations, and procedures relating to the implementation of SPS measures; and
- (e) strengthen cooperation and communication between the Parties, including solving SPS issues arising from the implementation of this Chapter.

# **Article 5.2: Scope**

This Chapter shall apply to SPS measures that may, directly or indirectly, affect trade between the Parties.

#### **Article 5.3: Definitions**

- 1. For the purposes of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply:
  - (a) the definitions in Annex A of the SPS Agreement;
  - (b) Relevant definitions adopted under the auspices of the Codex Alimentarius Commission ("the CODEX"), the World Organization for Animal Health ("the WOAH") and the International Plant Protection Convention ("the IPPC");

- (c) Competent Authorities mean those authorities within each Party recognised by the national government as responsible for developing and administering the SPS measures within that Party.
- 2. Further to paragraph 1, the definitions under the SPS Agreement shall prevail to the extent that there is an inconsistency between the definitions adopted under the auspices of the CODEX, the WOAH, the IPPC and the definitions under the SPS Agreement.

#### **Article 5.4: General Provision**

The Parties affirm their rights and obligations with respect to each other under the SPS Agreement.

#### **Article 5.5: Harmonization**

The Parties are encouraged to harmonize their SPS measures based on the ISGRs developed by the relevant international organisations.

## **Article 5.6: Equivalence**

- 1. The Parties recognise the application of equivalence, set out in Article 4 of the SPS Agreement. The Parties further recognise that equivalence can be accepted for a specific measure or a group of measures, or on a systems-wide basis related to a certain product or categories of products.
- 2. In application of equivalence, the Parties shall follow the procedures for determining the equivalence of a sanitary or phytosanitary measure, developed by the WTO SPS Committee, the CODEX, the WOAH and the IPPC, including in any future work related to equivalence undertaken by these international organisations.
- 3. The importing Party shall recognise a sanitary or phytosanitary measure of the exporting Party as equivalent to its own, if the exporting Party objectively demonstrate to the importing Party that its measure achieves the importing Party's appropriate level of protection.
- 4. To facilitate a determination of equivalence, the importing Party, on request of the exporting Party, shall explain the rationale and objective of its

sanitary or phytosanitary measures and clearly identify the risks the sanitary or phytosanitary measures are intended to address.

- 5. The exporting Party shall provide appropriate science-based and technical information to support its objective demonstration that its measure achieves the appropriate level of protection identified by the importing Party. For this purpose, reasonable access shall be given by the exporting Party, upon request, to the importing Party for inspection, testing, and other relevant procedures.
- 6. The importing Party shall determine the science-based and technical information provided by the exporting Party on its sanitary or phytosanitary measures with an aim of entering bilateral Mutual Recognition Agreements ("MRAs") on the equivalence of specified sanitary or phytosanitary measures.
- 7. The importing Party shall respond in a timely manner to any request from the exporting Party for consideration of the equivalence of its measures, normally within a six-month period of time, unless otherwise agreed.
- 8. When the importing Party has adopted a sanitary or phytosanitary measure on equivalence, it shall promptly communicate the decision in writing to the exporting Party.
- 9. The determination by an importing Party of a request for recognition of equivalence of its measures shall not be in itself a reason to disrupt or suspend ongoing imports from that Party of the product in question.
- 10. If an equivalence determination does not result in recognition by the importing Party, the importing Party shall provide the exporting Party with the rationale for its decision. The Party may refer the issue under the Article 5.13: Technical Consultation.

#### **Article 5.7: Risk analysis**

- 1. The Parties recognise that risk analysis is an important tool for ensuring that their SPS measures are based on scientific evidence as provided for in Article 5 of the SPS Agreement, taking into account relevant decisions of the WTO SPS Committee and ISGRs.
- 2. The Parties shall endeavor to expedite the risk analysis process, by working together in determining principles and guidelines, in accordance with procedures, policies, resources and laws and regulations of the importing Party.
- 3. When conducting its risk analysis, each Party shall:

- (a) consider risk management option(s) that are not more trade restrictive than required to achieve the level of protection that the Party determines to be appropriate; and
- (b) select risk management options to achieve the sanitary or phytosanitary objective, taking into account technical and economic feasibility.
- 4. On request of the exporting Party, the importing Party shall inform the exporting Party of the progress of the risk analysis status.
- 5. If the importing Party adopts the determination of risk analysis that allows trade to commence or resume, the importing Party shall implement the measure within a reasonable period of time.
- 6. If a determination does not result in the recognition of risk analysis, the importing Party shall provide the exporting Party with the rationale for its decision.

# Article 5.8: Adaptation to Regional Conditions, including Pest-or Disease-Free Areas and Areas of Low Pest or Disease Prevalence

- 1. The Parties recognise the principles of regionalisation and its implementation as provided for in Article 6 of the SPS Agreement in the light of relevant decisions of the WTO SPS Committee and ISGRs.
- 2. When the importing Party receives a request for a determination of regional conditions from the exporting Party and determines that the information provided by the exporting Party is sufficient, it shall initiate an evaluation within a reasonable period of time.
- 3. On request of the exporting Party, the importing Party shall inform the exporting Party of the status of evaluation for a determination of regional conditions.
- 4. When the importing Party adopts a measure that recognises regional conditions of the exporting Party, the importing Party shall communicate to the exporting Party in writing and implement such measure within a reasonable period of time. Any arrangement of the recognition of regional conditions which is concluded between the Parties shall be recorded by the competent authorities of the Parties.

5. If the evaluation of the evidence provided by the exporting Party does not result in a determination of regional conditions, the importing Party shall provide the exporting Party with the rationale for its determination.

## **Article 5.9: Transparency**

- 1. The Parties shall undertake cooperation as per transparency requirements set out in Annex B of the SPS Agreement, and strengthen the cooperation between Contact Points of the Parties as laid out in Article 5.16 (Competent Authorities and Contact Points).
- 2. The Parties, through the Competent Authorities or Contact Points established under Article 5.16 (Competent Authorities and Contact Points), shall notify proposed measures or changes to existing SPS measures that may have an effect on the trade of the other Party on a consistent and systematic basis.
- 3. In addition, the Party, upon request from the other Party shall provide information or clarification regarding the proposed measures within a reasonable period of time.

#### **Article 5.10: Import Checks**

When conducting Import Checks, the Parties agree that:

- (a) the Parties shall ensure that their control, inspection and approval procedures are in accordance with Annex C of the SPS Agreement.
- (b) the frequencies of import checks on importations shall be made available on request. The importing Party shall notify the other Party in a timely manner of any amendment to the frequency of import checks. On request, an explanation regarding amendments shall be given or consultations shall be undertaken.
- (c) the import checks shall be based on the risk associated with such importations. Import checks shall be carried out in a manner that is least traderestrictive and without undue delay, and shall be based on the following principles:
- (i) in carrying out the checks for health and food safety purposes, the importing Party shall ensure that plant and plant products, animal and animal products are inspected according to the risk involved;

- (ii) in the event that the checks reveal non-compliance with the relevant regulatory requirements, the importing Party shall take measures appropriate to the risk involved;
- (iii) when the goods are detained by the empowered authority at a port of entry, the reasons for the detention shall be promptly notified in writing or electronically to the importer or its representatives;
- (iv) when a consignment is rejected, upon request, the importing Party shall endeavor to provide all appropriate information, including laboratory analytical results and methods used in the analysis to the exporting Party to objectively demonstrate the credibility of the action taken;
- (v) unless there is a clearly identified risk in holding the consignment, the consignment shall not be destroyed without affording an opportunity to the exporter to take back the consignment; and
- (vi) when a significant or recurring sanitary or phytosanitary non-compliance associated with exported consignments is identified by the importing Party, the Parties concerned shall, upon request, discuss the non-compliance to ensure that appropriate remedial actions are taken to reduce such non-compliance.

#### **Article 5.11: Certification**

- 1. In applying certification requirements, each Party shall take into account the relevant decisions of the WTO SPS Committee and ISGRs.
- 2. Where certification is required for trade in goods, the importing Party shall ensure that such certification requirements are applied only to the extent necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health.
- 3. Official certificate shall be issued by the competent authorities of the exporting Party.
- 4. The Parties shall promote the implementation of electronic certification and other technologies to facilitate trade.

## Article 5.12: Audit

1. In undertaking an audit, each Party shall take into account the relevant decisions of the WTO SPS Committee and ISGRs.

- 2. An audit shall be systems-based and conducted to assess the effectiveness of the regulatory controls of the competent authorities of the exporting Party, to provide the required assurances and meet the sanitary or phytosanitary measures of the importing Party.
- 3. Prior to the commencement of an audit, the importing Party and exporting Party involved shall discuss the rationale, the objectives and scope of the audit and other matters related specifically to the commencement of an audit.
- 4. On the exit meeting, the importing Party shall provide the exporting Party with an opportunity to comment on the accuracy of the findings of an audit and take any such comments into account before making its conclusions and taking any action. The importing Party shall provide a report or its summary, setting out its conclusions in writing to the exporting Party within a reasonable period of time.
- 5. The cost incurred for the audit shall be mutually agreed by the Parties.
- 6. The importing Party and the exporting Party shall each ensure that procedures are in place to prevent the disclosure of confidential information that is acquired during the audit process.

#### **Article 5.13: Technical Consultation**

- 1. Upon the request of a Party for technical consultations on any matter arising under this Chapter, such Party may communicate through the Contact Points or Competent Authorities established under Article 5.16 (Competent Authorities and Contact Points). The other Party shall respond promptly to such request.
- 2. Consultations will be carried out within thirty (30) days of receiving the request, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties. Such consultations may be conducted via teleconferencing, video conferencing, or any other means mutually agreed by the Parties.

## **Article 5.14: Cooperation**

The Parties shall strengthen their technical co-operation in the areas of capacity building, technical assistance, collaboration and information exchange of mutual interest in the field of SPS measures, *inter alia*:

- (a) in strengthening the capacities of relevant authorities in implementing the provisions of this Chapter;
- (b) in enhancing the capacities of relevant authorities (i.e. their competencies and fulfilling responsibilities), on sanitary or phytosanitary measures as defined in accordance with Annex A of the SPS Agreement, subject to the availability of appropriate resources; and
- (c) in increasing collaboration between the relevant competent authorities in activities of the regional and international organisations.

## **Article 5.15: Working Group on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures**

- 1. The Parties hereby establish a Working Group on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures (hereinafter referred to as "the SPS Working Group"), with the objective of ensuring the implementation of this Chapter.
- 2. The Committee shall be comprised of representatives of each Party who have responsibilities for the development, implementation, and enforcement of SPS measures.
- 3. The SPS Working Group shall be coordinated by Contact Points established under Article 5.16 (Competent Authorities and Contact Points).
- 4. The Parties shall establish the SPS Working Group as soon as possible and no later than one year after the date of entry into force of this Agreement.
- 5. The functions of this SPS Working Group may include, but not limited to the following:
- (a) to enhance mutual understanding of each Party's SPS measures and the regulatory processes related to those measures;
- (b) to discuss and exchange information on issue)s (that a Party raises related to development, adoption or application of SPS measures, that may, directly or indirectly, affect human, animal and plant life or health and bilateral trade;
- (c) to review progress on addressing bilateral issues arising from the implementation of SPS measures between the Parties;
- (d) to monitor the implementation of this Chapter, including progress of work programmes agreed as part of cooperation under this Chapter;

- (e) to facilitate and coordinate technical cooperation programmes on SPS measures;
  - (f) Any other functions mutually agreed by the Parties.
- 6. The SPS Working Group shall establish its own rules of procedure at its first meeting. These rules may be revised or further developed at any time.
- 7. Each Party shall ensure that its appropriate and relevant representatives participate in the meetings of the SPS Working Group. Upon mutual agreement, the Parties may invite concerned technical experts to participate in the meetings.
- 8. The SPS Working Group shall meet at least once a year, unless the Parties agree otherwise.
- 9. The SPS Working Group may agree to establish *ad hoc* technical working groups in accordance with its rules of procedure.

# **Article 5.16: Competent Authorities and Contact Points**

1. The competent authorities responsible for the implementation of SPS measures and the Contact Points responsible for the communication between the Parties are described as follows:

# (a) For Thailand:

- (i) The competent authorities are Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, consisting of Department of Agriculture, in the area of plant and plant products, Department of Livestock Development in the area of animal and animal products, and Department of Fisheries in the area of fish and fishery products and Ministry of Health, Food and Drug Administration, in the area of food products.
- (ii) The contact point is the National Bureau of Agricultural Commodity and Food Standards, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives.

#### (b) For Sri Lanka:

- (i) The competent authorities are Ministry of Health, Ministry of Agriculture, National Plant Quarantine Service in the area of plant and plant products, Department of Animal Production and Health in the area of animal and animal products and Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources in the area of fish and fishery products.
  - (ii) The contact point is Department of Commerce.

- 2. A Party shall provide the other Party, through the contact points established under paragraph 1, a description of its competent authorities, including their functions and responsibilities.
- 3. A Party shall notify each other of any significant changes in the structure and organisation of the competent authorities or contact points.

# **Article 5.17: Dispute Settlement**

Dispute Settlement shall not apply to this Chapter.

# CHAPTER 6 TECHNICAL BARRIERS TO TRADE

#### **Article 6.1: Objectives**

The objectives of this Chapter are to increase and facilitate trade in goods between the Parties by enhancing the implementation of the TBT Agreement, by ensuring that standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures do not create unnecessary obstacle to trade, and by strengthening bilateral cooperation.

## **Article 6.2: Scope**

This Chapter shall apply to standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures of the Parties that may affect trade in goods between the Parties. This Chapter shall not apply to:

- (a) purchasing specifications prepared by governmental bodies for the production or consumption requirements of governmental bodies; and
- (b) any sanitary and phytosanitary measure which is covered by Chapter 5 (Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures).

## **Article 6.3: Definitions**

For the purposes of this Chapter, the definitions provided in Annex 1 of the TBT Agreement shall apply.

## **Article 6.4: Affirmation of the TBT Agreement**

The Parties affirm their rights and obligations with respect to each other under the TBT Agreement.

#### **Article 6.5: International Standards**

1. The Parties recognise the important role that international standards, guides, and recommendations can play in the harmonisation of technical regulations, conformity assessment procedures, and national standards, and in reducing unnecessary barriers to trade.

2. In determining whether an international standard, guide or recommendation within the meaning of Articles 2 and 5 and Annex 3 of the TBT Agreement exists, each Party shall apply the principles set out in the Decision of the Committee on Principles for the Development of International Standards, Guides and Recommendations with relation to Articles 2, 5 and Annex 3 of the Agreement, (G/TBT/9, 13 November 2000, Annex 4), and subsequent relevant decisions and recommendations in this regard, adopted by the WTO Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade (hereinafter referred to as "WTO TBT Committee").

#### **Article 6.6: Standards**

- 1. With respect to the preparation, adoption, and application of standards, each Party shall ensure that its standardising body or bodies, that prepare, adopt, and apply national standards, accept and comply with Annex 3 of the TBT Agreement.
- 2. Where modifications to the contents or structure of the relevant international standards were necessary in developing a Party's national standards, that Party shall, on request of the other Party, encourage its standardising body or bodies to provide what the differences in the contents and structure are, and the reason for those differences.
- 3. Further to paragraph 2, each Party shall ensure that its standardising body or bodies ensure that the modifications of the contents and structure of international standards are not prepared, adopted, or applied with a view to, or with the effect of, creating unnecessary obstacles to international trade.
- 4. Each Party shall encourage cooperation between the relevant standardising body or bodies in its territory and the standardising body or bodies of the other Party. Such cooperation may include:
- (a) exchange of information on standards and their use of standards in support of technical regulations;
  - (b) exchange of information relating to standard setting procedures;
- (c) cooperation in the work of international standardising bodies in areas of mutual interest: and

(d) exchange of information on cooperation agreement implemented by either Party on standardisation, provided that the information can be made available to the public.

## **Article 6.7: Technical Regulations**

- 1. Each Party shall use relevant international standards or the relevant parts of them, to the extent provided in paragraph 4 of Article 2 of the TBT Agreement, as a basis for its technical regulations. Where a Party does not use such international standards, or their relevant parts, as a basis for its technical regulations, it shall, on request of the other Party, explain the reasons therefor.
- 2. Where a Party does not accept a technical regulation of the other Party as equivalent to its own, it shall, on request of the other Party, explain the reasons for its decision.
- 3. In implementing paragraph 8 of Article 2 of the TBT Agreement, when a Party does not specify technical regulations based on product requirements in terms of performance rather than design or descriptive characteristics, the Party shall, on request of the other Party, provide its reasons therefor
- 4. Except where urgent problems of safety, health, environmental protection, or national security arise or threaten to arise, the Parties shall allow a reasonable interval between the publication of technical regulations and their entry into force in order to provide sufficient time for producers in the exporting Party to adapt their products or methods of production to the requirements of the importing Party. For the purposes of this paragraph, "reasonable interval" shall be understood to mean normally a period of not less than six months, except when this would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objectives pursued by the technical regulation.
- 5. The Parties recognise the importance of good regulatory practice with regard to the preparation, adoption, and application of technical regulations, as provided for in the TBT Agreement.

### **Article 6.8: Conformity Assessment Procedures**

1. Further to paragraph 4 of Article 5 of the TBT Agreement, each Party shall ensure that central government bodies use relevant international standards or their relevant parts as a basis for their conformity assessment procedures, except where, as duly explained upon request, such international standards or relevant

parts are inappropriate for the Party concerned, for, *inter alia*, such reasons as national security requirements; the prevention of deceptive practices; protection of human health or safety, animal or plant life or health, or the environment; fundamental climatic or other geographical factors; and fundamental technological or infrastructural problems.

- 2. Each Party recognises the importance of accepting the results of conformity assessment procedures conducted in the territory of the other Party with a view to increasing efficiency, avoiding duplication, and ensuring cost effectiveness of conformity assessments.
- 3. Each Party shall ensure, whenever possible, that results of conformity assessment procedures in the other Party are accepted, even when those procedures differ from its own, provided that it is satisfied that those procedures offer an assurance of conformity with applicable technical regulations or standards equivalent to its own procedures.
- 4. Where a Party does not accept the results of a conformity assessment procedure conducted in the other Party, it shall, on request of the other Party, explain the reasons for its decision.
- 5. Each Party recognises that, depending on the situation of the Party and the specific sectors involved, a broad range of mechanisms exists to facilitate the acceptance of the results of conformity assessment procedures conducted in the territory of the other Party. Such mechanisms may include:
- (a) mutual recognition agreements for the results of conformity assessment procedures conducted by bodies in the Parties;
- (b) cooperative (voluntary) arrangements between accreditation bodies or those between conformity assessment bodies in the Parties;
- (c) the use of accreditation to qualify conformity assessment bodies, including through relevant multilateral agreements or arrangements, to recognise the accreditation granted by the other Party;
- (d) the government designation of conformity assessment bodies, including bodies located in the territory of the other Party;
- (e) unilateral recognition by a Party of results of conformity assessment procedures conducted in the other Party; and
  - (f) manufacturer's or supplier's declaration of conformity.

- 6. Upon reasonable request, the Parties concerned shall exchange information or share experiences on the mechanisms referred to in paragraph 5, including their development and application, with a view to facilitating the acceptance of the results of conformity assessment procedures.
- 7. The Parties agree to encourage cooperation between their relevant conformity assessment bodies in working closer with a view to facilitating the acceptance of conformity assessment results between the Parties.
- 8. Further to paragraph 4 of Article 6 of the TBT Agreement, where a Party permits participation of its conformity assessment bodies and does not permit participation of conformity assessment bodies in the other Party in its conformity assessment procedures, it is encouraged, on request of the other Party, to explain the reason for its refusal decision.
- 9. Where a Party declines a request from the other Party to engage in negotiations for the conclusion of agreement for the mutual recognition of the results of conformity assessment procedures conducted by bodies in the other Party's territory, it shall, on request of the other Party, explain the reasons for its decision.

## **Article 6.9: Transparency**

- 1. Each Party affirms its transparency obligations under the TBT Agreement with regard to the preparation, adoption, and application of standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures.
- 2. Upon written request, a Party shall provide to the requesting Party, if already available, the full text or summary of its notified mandatory standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures in the English language. If unavailable, the requested Party shall provide to the requesting Party a summary stating the requirements of the notified mandatory standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures in the English language, within a reasonable period of time agreed by both Parties and, if possible, within 30 days after receiving the written request. In implementing the preceding sentence, the contents of the summary shall be determined by the requested Party.
- 3. Each Party shall, on request of the other Party, provide information regarding the objectives of, and rationale for, a technical regulation or conformity assessment procedure that the requested Party has adopted or is proposing to adopt.

- 4. Each Party shall normally allow 60 days from the date of notification to the WTO in accordance with paragraph 9 of Article 2 and paragraph 6 of Article 5 of the TBT Agreement for the other Party to provide comments in writing, except where urgent problems of safety, health, environmental protection, or national security arise or threaten to arise. Each Party shall take the comments of the other Party into account and shall endeavour to provide responses to those comments upon request.
- 5. Unless otherwise provided in this Chapter, any information or explanation requested by a Party pursuant to this Chapter shall be provided by the requested Party, in print or electronically, within a reasonable period of time agreed by the Parties and, if possible, within 60 days. Upon request, the requested Party shall provide such information or explanation in the English language.
- 6. When a Party detains, at the point of entry due to non-compliance with a technical regulation or a conformity assessment procedure, it shall notify the importer or its representative, as soon as possible, the reasons for the detention.

## **Article 6.10: Cooperation**

- 1. With a view to fulfilling the objectives of this Chapter, a Party shall, on request of the other Party, cooperate on matters of mutual interest on standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures.
- 2. Such cooperation, which shall be on mutually determined terms and conditions, may include:
- (a) advice, technical assistance or capacity building relating to the development and application of standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures;
- (b) cooperation between conformity assessment bodies, both governmental and non-governmental, as defined under Annex 1 of the TBT Agreement, in the Parties, on matters of mutual interest;
- (c) cooperation in areas of mutual interest in the work of relevant regional and international bodies relating to the development and application of standards and conformity assessment procedures, such as enhancing participation in the frameworks for mutual recognition developed by relevant regional and international bodies;

- (d) enter into negotiations for the development of mutual recognition agreements ("MRAs") to strengthen their cooperation in the field of technical regulations, standards, and conformity assessment procedures with a view to increasing the mutual understanding of their respective systems and facilitating access to their respective markets.
- (e) enhancing cooperation in the development and improvement of standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures; and
- (f) strengthening communication and coordination in the WTO TBT Committee and other relevant international or regional fora.

#### **Article 6.11: Technical Discussions**

- 1. When a Party considers the need to resolve an issue related to trade and provisions under this Chapter, it may make a written request for technical discussions. The requested Party shall respond as early as possible to such a request.
- 2. The requested Party shall enter into technical discussions with the requesting Party within 30 days, unless otherwise mutually determined by the Parties, with a view to reaching a mutually satisfactory solution. Technical discussions may be conducted via any means agreed by the Parties.

#### **Article 6.12: Market Surveillance**

- 1. For the purposes of this Article, "market surveillance" is the activities carried out and measures taken by regulatory or relevant public authorities of the Parties to monitor or address the compliance of product with the requirement set out in its laws and regulations.
- 2. The Parties recognise the importance of cooperation between their relevant regulatory authorities to exchange information, as the Parties are mutually interested, on market surveillance, safety, and compliance of products for the facilitation of trade and for the protection of consumers and other users.
- 3. The Parties shall endeavour to ensure that market surveillance functions are carried out by the competent authorities and that no conflicts of interest exist between the market surveillance function and the conformity assessment function.

#### **Article 6.13: Marking and Labelling**

- 1. For the purposes of this Article, and in accordance with paragraph 1 of Annex 1 of the TBT Agreement, a technical regulation may include or deal exclusively with marking or labelling requirements.
- 2. The Parties agree that, where their technical regulations contain mandatory marking or labelling, they will ensure that these are not prepared with a view to, or with the effect of, creating unnecessary obstacles to international trade, and should not be more trade restrictive than necessary to fulfil a legitimate objective, as referred to under paragraph 2 of Article 2 of the TBT Agreement.
- 3. For the purposes of this Agreement, where a Party requires mandatory marking or labelling of products:
- (a) the Party shall endeavour to restrict its requirements only to those which are relevant for consumers or users of the product or to indicate the product's conformity with the mandatory requirements;
- (b) the Party may specify the information to be provided on the label and may require compliance with certain regulatory requirements for the affixing of the label, but shall not require any prior approval or certification of labels and markings as a precondition for sale of the products in its market unless this is deemed necessary in light of the prevention of deceptive practices, national security requirements or the risk of the product to human health or safety, animal or plant life or health, or the environment;
- (c) where the Party requires the use of a unique identification number by economic operators, the Party shall ensure that such numbers are issued to the relevant economic operators without undue delay and on a non-discriminatory basis;
- (d) provided that it is not misleading, contradictory or confusing in relation to the information required in the importing Party of the goods, the Party shall permit the following:
- (i) information in other languages in addition to the language required in the importing Party of the goods;
- (ii) internationally-accepted nomenclatures, pictograms, symbols or graphics; and
- (iii) additional information to that required in the importing Party of the goods;

- (e) in order to facilitate trade, the Party shall, in cases where it considers that legitimate objectives under the TBT Agreement are not compromised thereby and where applicable, endeavour to develop processes and procedures to accept alternative forms of labelling, such as electronic labels, non-permanent or detachable labels, or marking or labelling in the accompanying materials packaged with the product.
- 4. Paragraph 3 shall apply to all products in paragraph 3 of Article 1 of the TBT Agreement in accordance with the Parties' laws and regulations.

# **Article 6.14: Contact points**

- 1. Each Party shall, within 30 days of the date of entry into force of this Agreement, designate one or more contact points responsible for coordinating the implementation of this Chapter, and notify the other Party of the contact details of the relevant official or officials in that contact point, including the telephone number, facsimile number, email address, and any other relevant details. Each Party shall promptly notify the other Party of any changes to those contact details.
- 2. Each Party shall ensure that its contact point or contact points facilitate the exchange of information between the Parties on standards, technical regulations, and conformity assessment procedures, in response to all reasonable requests for such information from the other Party.

# CHAPTER 7 TRADE REMEDIES

# SECTION I ANTI-DUMPING AND COUNTERVAILING MEASURES

## **Article 7.1: Anti-Dumping Measures**

- 1. Each Party retains its rights and obligations under Article VI of GATT 1994 and the WTO Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of GATT 1994 with regard to the application of antidumping duties, or any amendments or provisions that supplement or replace them. To this end, the provisions of the WTO Agreement on Anti-Dumping shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to the extent not specifically provided for in this Agreement.
- 2. No provision of this Agreement, including the provisions of Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement) shall be construed as imposing any rights or obligations on the Parties with respect to anti-dumping measures.

## **Article 7.2: Countervailing Measures**

- 1. Each Party retains its rights and obligations regarding countervailing measures under Articles VI and XVI of GATT 1994 and the WTO Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, or any amendments or provisions that supplement or replace them. To this end, the provisions of the WTO Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to the extent not specifically provided for in this Agreement.
- 2. No provision of this Agreement, including the provisions of Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement) shall be construed as imposing any rights or obligations on the Parties with respect to countervailing measures.

# Article 7.3: Practices relating to Anti-dumping and Countervailing Duty Proceedings

1. Upon receipt by a Party's investigating authorities of a properly documented anti-dumping or countervailing duty application with respect to imports from the other Party, the Party shall within one week provide written

notification and a copy of the written notification by electronic means, of its receipt of the application to the other Party.

- 2. In addition to the usual practice regarding notification in anti-dumping and countervailing investigations, the Parties, for the purposes of paragraph 1, designate the following contact points, to which such notification shall be forwarded in written copy and initially conveyed through electronic means at the earliest opportunity and not later than one week:
- (a) for Thailand, the Department of Foreign Trade (email: butrade@moc.go.th), or its successor; and
- (b) for Sri Lanka, the Department of Commerce (email: <a href="mailto:fortrade@doc.gov.lk">fortrade@doc.gov.lk</a>), or its successor.
- 3. A Party, whose good is subject to an anti-dumping investigation by the other Party, may, by the due date for the submission of the response to the questionnaire<sup>1</sup>, inform, where applicable, the investigating Party in the importing country that there are no significant exports of that product to the investigating Party. Such information, together with all relevant information on record, may be taken into account by the investigating authority of the other Party in its findings. The purpose of this provision, among others, is to determine whether the volume of dumped imports is negligible or not.
- 4. In any proceeding in which the investigating authorities determine to conduct an on-the-spot investigation to verify information provided by a respondent and pertinent to the calculation of anti-dumping duty margins or the level of a countervailable subsidy, the investigating authorities shall promptly notify that respondent of their intent, and:
- (a) shall provide to the respondent at least seven days advance notice of the date on which investigating authorities intend to conduct any such on-thespot investigation to verify the information; and
- (b) shall at least seven days prior to any such on-the-spot investigation to verify the information, provide to the respondent a document that sets forth the topics the respondent should be prepared to address during the verification and that describes the types of supporting documentation the respondent is to make available for review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This relates to the questionnaire referred to in Article 6 of the WTO Anti-Dumping Agreement.

- 5. After an on-the-spot investigation is completed, and subject to the protection of confidential information<sup>2</sup>, a written report that describes the methods and procedures followed in carrying out the verification and the extent to which the information provided by the respondent was supported by the documents reviewed during the verification shall, to the extent possible, be provided to the respondent.
- 6. A Party's investigating authorities shall maintain a public file for each investigation and review that contains:
- (a) all non-confidential documents that are part of the record of the investigation or review; and
- (b) to the extent feasible without revealing confidential information, non-confidential summaries of confidential information that is contained in the record of each investigation or review.

The public file and a list of all documents that are contained in the record of the investigation or review shall be made available upon request for inspection and copying during the investigating authorities' normal business hours or electronically available for download.

- 7. If, in an anti-dumping or countervailing duty investigation, a Party's investigating authorities determine that an interested party's timely response to a request for information does not comply with the request, the investigating authorities:
- (a) inform that interested party that submitted the response of the nature of the deficiency; and
- (b) to the extent practicable in light of the time-limits established to complete the anti-dumping or countervailing duty investigations, provide that interested party with an opportunity to remedy or explain the deficiency.

If that interested party submits further information in response to the deficiency and the investigating authorities find such response not satisfactory, or the response is not submitted within the applicable time limits, and if the investigating authorities disregard all or part of the original and subsequent responses, the investigating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the purposes of this Chapter, "confidential information" includes information which is provided, on a confidential basis and which is by its nature confidential, for example, because its disclosure would be of significant competitive advantage to a competitor or because its disclosure would have a significantly adverse effect upon a person supplying the information or upon a person from whom that person acquired the information. Charges for the copies, if any, are limited in amount to the approximate cost of the services rendered.

authorities explain the reasons for disregarding the responses in the determination or other written document.

8. Each Party shall ensure, before the final determination, full and meaningful disclosure of all essential facts under consideration which form the basis for the decision to apply measures, without prejudice to paragraph 5 of Article 6 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and paragraph 4 of Article 12 of the Subsidies and Countervailing Measures Agreement. Disclosures shall be made in writing, and allow interested parties sufficient time to provide their comments. The investigating authorities of a Party shall in their final determination, take into account such comments given during the time provided for such comments.

## SECTION II COOPERATION

## **Article 7.4: Areas of Cooperation**

- 1. The Parties will endeavor, within available resources, to cooperate in preventing circumvention of trade remedies. The areas of cooperation are as follows:
  - (a) forwarding questionnaires and other documents to interested parties;
  - (b) exchanging information relating to investigations; and
  - (c) any other possible areas to be mutually agreed by the Parties.
- 2. This Section shall not be construed to require the other Party to furnish or allow access to confidential information pursuant to this Chapter, the disclosure of which it considers would:
- (a) be contrary to the public interest as determined by its laws and regulations;
- (b) be contrary to any of its laws and regulations, including but not limited to, those protecting personal data or financial affairs and accounts of individual customers of financial institution;
  - (c) impede law enforcement; or
- (d) prejudice legitimate commercial interests, which may include competitive position of particular enterprises, public or private.
- 3. Where a Party provides information to the other Party in accordance with this Article and designates the information as confidential, the Party receiving the information shall maintain the confidentiality of the information, use it only for the purposes specified by the Party providing the information, and not disclose it without specific written permission of the Party providing the information.
- 4. Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement) and Section I (Administration and Institutional Provisions) of Chapter 14 (Institutional and Final Provisions) shall not apply to this Article.

# SECTION III GLOBAL SAFEGUARD MEASURES

## **Article 7.5: Global Safeguards**

- 1. Each Party retains its rights and obligations under Article XIX of GATT 1994 and the Safeguards Agreement. To this end, the provisions of the Article XIX of GATT 1994 and the Safeguards Agreement shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to the extent not specifically provided for in this Agreement.
- 2. No provision of this Agreement, including the provisions of Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement) shall be construed as imposing any rights or obligations on the Parties with respect to global safeguards measures.
- 3. No Party shall apply, with respect to the same product at the same time:
  - (a) a provisional or Bilateral safeguard measure; and
- (b) a measure under Article XIX of the GATT 1994 and the Safeguards Agreement.
- 4. A Party that initiates a safeguard investigatory process shall provide to the other Party an electronic copy of the notification given to the WTO Committee on Safeguards under paragraph 1(a) of Article 12. of the Safeguards Agreement.

## SECTION IV BILATERAL SAFEGUARD MEASURES

#### **Article 7.6: Definitions**

For the purposes of this Chapter:

- (a) **serious injury** means the significant overall impairment in the position of a domestic industry;
- (b) **threat of serious injury** means the serious injury that is clearly imminent, based on facts and not merely on allegation, conjecture or remote possibility;
- (c) **domestic industry** means the producers as a whole of the like or directly competitive products with respect to an imported good, operating in the territory of the Party or, when it is not possible, those whose collective output of the like or directly competitive products constitutes a major proportion of the total production of such products;
- (d) **bilateral safeguard measure** means a safeguard measure described in this Section:
- (e) **competent authority** means the investigating authorities as designated by the Parties for the purpose of this Section;
- (f) **critical circumstances** means critical circumstances as referred to in paragraph 1 of Article 7.9 (Provisional Measures);
- (g) **transitional safeguard period** means, in relation to a particular good, the period from the date of entry into force of this Agreement until eight years after the date on which the elimination or reduction of the customs duty on that good is completed, in accordance with a Party's Schedule of Tariff Commitments in Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka);
- (h) **customs duty** means customs duties as defined in Article 2.1 (Definitions) of Chapter 2 (Trade in Goods); and
- (i) **originating good** means an originating good as defined in Article 3.1 (Definitions) of Chapter 3 (Rules of Origin).

#### Article 7.7: Application of Bilateral Safeguard Measures

1. If as a result of the reduction or elimination of a customs duty under this Agreement, an originating good of the other Party is being imported into the territory of a Party in such increased quantities, in absolute terms or relative to

domestic production, and under such conditions that the imports of such good from the other Party cause or threaten to cause a serious injury to domestic producers of like or directly competitive products, the importing Party may, to the extent necessary to prevent or remedy the serious injury to its domestic industry and to facilitate its domestic industry's adjustment:

- (a) suspend the further reduction of any rate of customs duty on the good provided for under Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka) on the originating good; or
- (b) increase the rate of customs duty on the originating good to a level not to exceed the lesser of:
- (i) The MFN applied rate of customs duty in effect at the time the measure is taken; and
- (ii) The MFN applied rate of customs duty] in effect on the day immediately preceding the date of entry into force of this Agreement.
- 2. The Parties agree that neither tariff rate quotas nor quantitative restrictions are permissible forms of a bilateral safeguard measure.

# Article 7.8: Conditions and Limitations on Imposition of a Bilateral Safeguard Measure

The following conditions and limitations shall apply to an investigation or a measure described in Article 7.7:

- (a) A Party shall within five working days deliver written notice to the other Party upon:
- (i) initiating an investigatory process relating to serious injury or threat thereof and the reasons for it;
- (ii) making a finding of serious injury or threat thereof caused by increased imports;
- (iii) taking a decision to apply or imposition or extension of bilateral safeguard measure; or
  - (iv) taking a decision to modify a bilateral safeguard measure.
- (b) in making the notification referred to in subparagraph (a), the Party proposing to apply a bilateral safeguard measure shall provide the other Party

with all pertinent information, which shall include evidence of serious injury or threat thereof caused by the increased imports of originating good, precise description of the originating good subject to the bilateral safeguard measure including its heading and subheading under the Harmonized System and the national nomenclature of the Party and the proposed measure, proposed date of introduction and expected duration and, if applicable, a timetable for the progressive liberalisation of the bilateral safeguard measure, and in the case of an extension of the bilateral safeguard measure, evidence that the domestic industry concerned is adjusting.

- (c) A Party proposing to apply or extend a bilateral safeguard measure shall provide adequate opportunity for prior consultations, with a view to, inter alia, reviewing the information provided under subparagraphs (a) and (b) that has arisen from the investigation, exchanging views on the bilateral safeguard measure, including consideration of alternative measures and compensation.
- (d) A Party shall apply the measure only following an investigation by the competent authorities of such Party in accordance with the same procedures as those provided for in Article 3 and paragraph 2 of Article 4 of the Safeguards Agreement; and to this end, Article 3 and paragraph 2 of Article 4 of the Safeguards Agreement are incorporated into and made a part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- (e) The investigation shall be promptly terminated and no measure taken if imports of the subject product represent less than 3 per cent of total imports<sup>3</sup> of products under the same HS code.
- (f) Each Party shall ensure that its competent authorities complete any such investigation within one year from the date of its initiation.
  - (g) No measure shall be maintained:
- (i) except to the extent and for such time as may be necessary to prevent or remedy serious injury or threat thereof and to facilitate adjustment;
- (ii) for a period exceeding three years except that, in exceptional circumstances, the period may be extended by up to an additional one year, to a total maximum of four years from the date of first imposition of the measure, if the investigating authorities determine in conformity with procedures set out

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The time frame to be used for calculating the applicable percentages shall be the most recent period of 12 months, where data is available.

in subparagraphs (a) through (f) that the safeguard measure continues to be necessary to prevent or remedy serious injury and to facilitate adjustment and that there is evidence that the industry is adjusting and provided that provisions of Article 7.8 (Conditions and limitations on imposition of a Bilateral Safeguard measure) and Article 7.10 (Compensation) are observed;

- (iii) beyond the expiration of the transitional safeguard period.
- (h) No bilateral safeguard measure shall be applied to the import of an originating good for a period of one year from the date on which the first tariff reduction or tariff elimination takes effect for that originating good as committed under this Agreement.
- (i) Upon the termination of the bilateral safeguard measure, the rate of customs duty for an originating product subject to the measure shall be the rate which would have been in effect, as per Annex 2A (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Thailand) or Annex 2B (Schedule of Tariff Commitments Sri Lanka), but for the bilateral safeguard measure.
- (j) No bilateral safeguard measure shall be applied again to the import of a particular originating good which has been subject to such a measure, for a period of time equal to the duration of the previous bilateral safeguard measure, or two years, whichever is longer.

#### **Article 7.9: Provisional Measures**

- 1. In critical circumstances where delay would cause damage that would be difficult to repair, an importing Party may apply a provisional bilateral safeguard measure, which shall take the form of the measures set out in subparagraph 1(a) or (b) of Article 7.7 (Application of Bilateral Safeguard Measures), pursuant to a preliminary determination by its competent authorities that there is clear evidence that imports of an originating good from the other Party have increased as the result of the reduction or elimination of a customs duty under this Agreement, and such increased imports have caused or are threatening to cause serious injury to a domestic industry of the importing Party.
- 2. The duration of any provisional safeguard measure shall not exceed 200 days, during which period the Party applying that provisional measure shall comply with the requirements of subparagraph (d) of Article 7.8 (Conditions and Limitations on Imposition of a Bilateral Safeguard Measure). If the investigation referred to in subparagraph (d) of Article 7.8 (Conditions and

Limitations on Imposition of a Bilateral Safeguard Measure) does not result in a finding that the requirements of Article 7.7 (Application of Bilateral Safeguard Measures) are met, the Party applying the provisional safeguard measure shall promptly refund any additional customs duties collected as a result of the provisional safeguard measure. For greater certainty, the duration of any provisional safeguard measure shall be counted as part of the total period prescribed by subparagraph (g)(ii) of Article 7.8 (Conditions and Limitations on Imposition of a Bilateral Safeguard Measure).

3. A Party shall deliver a written notice to the other Party prior to applying a provisional bilateral safeguard measure. Consultations shall be initiated immediately after the provisional bilateral safeguard measure is applied.

## **Article 7.10: Compensation**

- 1. A Party proposing to apply or extend a bilateral safeguard measure shall, in consultation with the Party that would be affected by such a measure, provide mutually agreed, adequate means of trade compensation in the form of concessions having substantially equivalent trade effects or equivalent to the value of the additional customs duties expected to result from the measure. The Party applying a bilateral safeguard measure shall provide the Party that would be affected by such a measure with an opportunity to consult within 30 days after the date on which the bilateral safeguard measure was applied.
- 2. If the consultations referred to in paragraph 1 do not result in an agreement on trade compensation within 30 days after the commencement of such consultations, the Party against whose good the bilateral safeguard measure is applied may suspend the application of substantially equivalent concessions to the trade in goods of the Party applying the bilateral safeguard measure.
- 3. A Party against whose good a bilateral safeguard measure is applied shall deliver a written notice to the Party applying the bilateral safeguard measure at least 30 days before it suspends the application of concessions in accordance with paragraph 2.
- 4. The obligation to provide compensation under paragraph 1 and the right to suspend the application of concessions in accordance with paragraph 2 shall cease on the termination of the bilateral safeguard measure.
- 5. The right to suspend the application of concessions in accordance with paragraph 2 shall not be exercised for the first three years during which the

bilateral safeguard measure is in effect, provided that the bilateral safeguard measure has been applied as a result of an absolute increase in imports and that it conforms to this Agreement.

## **Article 7.11: Administration of Emergency Action Proceedings**

- 1. Each Party shall ensure the consistent, impartial and reasonable administration of its laws and regulations relating to bilateral safeguard measures.
- 2. Each Party shall entrust the determinations of serious injury or threat thereof in safeguard investigation proceedings to a competent investigating authority.
- 3. Each Party shall adopt or maintain equitable, timely, transparent, and effective procedures relating to bilateral safeguard measures.
- 4. Nothing in this Section shall require the Parties to disclose confidential information the disclosure of which would be prejudicial to public order, impede law enforcement or otherwise be contrary to the public interest or would prejudice the legitimate commercial interests of particular enterprises, public or private.
- 5. A written notice referred to in subparagraph (a) of Article 7.8 (Conditions and Limitations on Imposition of a Bilateral Safeguard Measure), paragraph 3 of Article 7.9 (Provisional Measures) and paragraph 3 of Article 7.10 (Compensation) shall be in English.

#### **Article 7.12: Non-Application of Dispute Settlement**

No Party shall have recourse to dispute settlement under Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement) for any matter arising under Section I (Anti-Dumping and Countervailing Measures) and Section III (Global Safeguard Measures).

## CHAPTER 8 TRADE IN SERVICES

#### **Article 8.1: Definitions**

For the purposes of this Chapter:

- (a) a service supplied in the exercise of governmental authority means any service which is supplied neither on a commercial basis nor in competition with one or more service suppliers;
- (b) aircraft repair and maintenance services means such activities when undertaken on an aircraft or a part thereof while it is withdrawn from service and do not include so-called line maintenance;
- (c) **commercial presence** means any type of business or professional establishment, including through
- (i) the constitution, acquisition or maintenance of a juridical person; or
- (ii) the creation or maintenance of a branch or a representative office within the territory of a Party for the purpose of supplying a service;
- (d) **computer reservation system services** means services provided by computerised systems that contain information about air carriers' schedules, availability, fares and fare rules, through which reservations can be made or tickets may be issued;
- (e) **direct taxes** comprise all taxes on total income, on total capital or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of property, taxes on estates, inheritances and gifts, and taxes on the total amounts of wages or salaries paid by enterprises, as well as taxes on capital appreciation;
- (f) **juridical person** means any legal entity duly constituted or otherwise organised under applicable law, whether for profit or otherwise, and whether privately-owned or governmentally-owned, including any corporation, trust, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, or association;
- (g) **juridical person of the other Party** means a juridical person which is either:

- (i) constituted or otherwise organised under the law of that Party, and is engaged in substantive business operations in the territory of that Party,
- (ii) in the case of the supply of a service through commercial presence, owned or controlled by:
  - 1. natural persons of that Party; or
  - 2. juridical persons of that Party, identified under sub-paragraph (i);

## (h) a juridical person is

**owned** by persons of a Party if more than 50 per cent of the equity interest in it is beneficially owned by persons of that Party.

**controlled** by persons of a Party if such persons have the power to name a majority of directors or otherwise legally direct its actions.

**affiliated** with another person when it controls, or is controlled by, that other person; or when it and the other person are both controlled by the same person;

- (i) **measure** means any measure by a Party, whether in the form of a law, regulation, rule, procedure, decision, administrative action, or any other form;
  - (j) measures by a Party means measures taken by:
    - (i) central, regional or local governments and authorities; and
- (ii) non-governmental bodies in the exercise of powers delegated by central, regional or local governments or authorities.

In fulfilling its obligations and commitments under this Chapter, each Party shall take such reasonable measures as may be available to it to ensure their observance by regional and local governments and authorities and non-governmental bodies within its territory;

- (k) measures by a Party affecting trade in services includes measures in respect of:
  - (i) the purchase, payment or use of a service;
- (ii) the access to and use of, in connection with the supply of a service, services which are required by the Parties to be offered to the public generally;
- (iii) the presence, including commercial presence, of persons of that Party for the supply of a service in the territory of the other Party;

- (l) **monopoly supplier of a service** means any person, public or private, which in the relevant market of the territory of a Party is authorised or established formally or in effect by that Party as the sole supplier of that service;
- (m) **natural person of a Party** means a natural person who resides in the territory of a Party or elsewhere and who under the law of that Party is a national of that Party;
  - (n) **person** means either a natural person or a juridical person;
  - (o) sector of a service means,
- (i) with reference to a specific commitment, one or more, or all, subsectors of that service, as specified in a Party's Schedule,
- (ii) otherwise, the whole of that service sector, including all of its subsectors;
- (p) selling and marketing of air transport services means opportunities for the air carrier concerned to sell and market freely its air transport services including all aspects of marketing such as market research, advertising and distribution. These activities do not include the pricing of air transport services nor the application conditions;
- (q) **services** includes any service in any sector except services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority;
  - (r) **service consumer** means any person that receives or uses a service;
  - (s) **service of a Party** means a service which is supplied:
- (i) from or in the territory of that other Party, or in the case of maritime transport, by a vessel registered under the laws of that other Party, or by a person of that Party which supplies the service through the operation of a vessel and/or its use in whole or in part; or
- (ii) in the case of the supply of a service through commercial presence or through the presence of natural persons, by a service supplier of that other Party;
  - (t) **service supplier** means any person that supplies a service;
- (u) **supply of a service** includes the production, distribution, marketing, sale and delivery of a service;
  - (v) **trade in services** is defined as the supply of a service:

- (i) from the territory of a Party into the territory of the other Party ("cross-border");
- (ii) in the territory of a Party to the service consumer of the other Party ("consumption abroad");
- (iii) by a service supplier of a Party, through commercial presence in the territory of the other Party ("commercial presence");
- (iv) by a service supplier of a Party, through presence of natural persons of a Party in the territory of the other Party ("presence of natural persons"); and
- (w) air traffic rights means the right for scheduled and non-scheduled services to operate and/or to carry passengers, cargo and mail for remuneration or hire from, to, within, or over the territory of a Party, including points to be served, routes to be operated, types of traffic to be carried, capacity to be provided, tariffs to be charged and their conditions, and criteria for designation of airlines, including such criteria as number, ownership, and control.

## **Article 8.2: Scope and Coverage**

- 1. This Chapter applies to measures by a Party affecting trade in services.
- 2. This Chapter shall not apply to measures affecting:
- (a) subsidies or grants including government-supported loans, guarantees and insurance provided by a Party or to any conditions attached to the receipt or continued receipt of such subsidies or grants, whether or not such subsidies are offered exclusively to domestic services, service consumers or service suppliers;
  - (b) a service supplied in the exercise of governmental authority;
  - (c) government procurement;
  - (d) air traffic rights, however granted; or to measures affecting services directly related to the exercise of air traffic rights, other than measures affecting:
    - (i) aircraft repair and maintenance services;
    - (ii) the selling and marketing of air transport services;
    - (iii) computer reservation system services;

- (e) natural persons seeking access to the employment market of a Party; or
- (f) citizenship, residence or employment on a permanent basis.
- 3. Nothing in this Chapter shall prevent a Party from applying measures to regulate the entry of natural persons of the other Party into, or their temporary stay in, its territory, including those measures necessary to protect the integrity of, and to ensure the orderly movement of natural persons across its borders, provided that such measures are not applied in such a manner as to nullify or impair the benefits accruing to the other Party under the terms of this Chapter. The sole fact of requiring a visa shall not be regarded as nullifying or impairing benefits under a specific commitment.
- 4. Unless they are specifically defined in this Chapter or in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments Thailand) or Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments Sri Lanka), terms used in this Chapter and in the Annexes shall be construed in accordance with their meaning in GATS, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 5. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, a Party shall not be prevented from taking measures for prudential reasons, including for the protection of investors, depositors, policy holders or persons to whom a fiduciary duty is owed by a financial service supplier, or to ensure the integrity and stability of the financial system; or to ensure the stability of the exchange rate, including to prevent speculative capital flows subject to the following:
- (i) where such measures do not conform with the provisions of this Chapter, they shall not be used as a means of avoiding the Party's commitments or obligations under this Chapter.
- (ii) for measures to ensure the stability of the exchange rate including to prevent speculative capital flows, such measures shall be no more than necessary, and phased out when conditions no longer justify their institution or maintenance.

#### **Article 8.3: Market Access**

1. With respect to market access through the modes of supply defined in subparagraph (v) of Article 1 (Definitions), each Party shall accord services and service suppliers of the other Party treatment no less favourable than that provided for under the terms, limitations and conditions agreed and specified in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments – Thailand) or Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments – Sri Lanka)<sup>1</sup>.

- 2. In sectors where market access commitments are undertaken, the measures which a Party shall not maintain or adopt either on the basis of a regional subdivision or on the basis of its entire territory, unless otherwise specified in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments Thailand) or Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments Sri Lanka), are:
- (a) limitations on the number of service suppliers whether in the form of numerical quotas, monopolies, exclusive service suppliers or the requirements of an economic needs test;
- (b) limitations on the total value of service transactions or assets in the form of numerical quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test;
- (c) limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output expressed in terms of designated numerical units in the form of quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test;<sup>2</sup>
- (d) limitations on the total number of natural persons that may be employed in a particular service sector or that a service supplier may employ and who are necessary for, and directly related to, the supply of a specific service in the form of numerical quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test;
- (e) measures which restrict or require specific types of legal entity or joint venture through which a service supplier may supply a service; and
- (f) limitations on the participation of foreign capital in terms of maximum percentage limit on foreign shareholding or the total value of individual or aggregate foreign investment.

#### **Article 8.4: National Treatment**

1. In the sectors inscribed in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments – Thailand) or Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments – Sri Lanka), and subject to any conditions and qualifications set out therein, each Party shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> If a Party undertakes a market-access commitment in relation to the supply of a service through the mode of supply referred to in sub-paragraph (v) (i) of Article 1 and if the cross-border movement of capital is an essential part of the service itself, that Party is thereby committed to allow such movement of capital. If a Party undertakes a market access commitment in relation to the supply of a service through the mode of supply referred to in subparagraph (v) (iii) of Article 1, it is thereby committed to allow related transfers of capital into its territory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This subparagraph does not cover measures of a Party which limit inputs for the supply of services.

accord to services and service suppliers of the other Party, in respect of all measures affecting the supply of services, treatment no less favourable than that it accords to its own like services and service suppliers.<sup>3</sup>

- 2. A Party may meet the requirement of paragraph 1 by according to services and service suppliers of the other Party, either formally identical treatment or formally different treatment to that it accords to its own like services and service suppliers.
- 3. Formally identical or formally different treatment shall be considered to be less favourable if it modifies the conditions of competition in favour of services or service suppliers of a Party compared to like services or service suppliers of the other Party.

#### **Article 8.5: Additional Commitments**

The Parties may negotiate commitments with respect to measures affecting trade in services not subject to scheduling under Article 8.3 (Market Access) or Article 8.4 (National Treatment), including those regarding qualifications, standards or licensing matters. Such commitments shall be inscribed in a Party's Schedule.

#### **Article 8.6: Schedule of Specific Commitments**

- 1. Each Party shall set out in a Schedule the Specific Commitments it undertakes under Article 8.3 (Market Access), Article 8.4 (National Treatment) and Article 8.5 (Additional Commitments). With respect to sectors where such commitments are undertaken, each Schedule shall specify:
  - (a) terms, limitations and conditions on market access;
  - (b) conditions and qualifications on national treatment;
  - (c) undertakings relating to additional commitments;
- (d) where appropriate, the time-frame for implementation of such commitments; and
  - (e) the date of entry into force of such commitments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Specific commitments assumed under this Article shall not be construed to require any Member to compensate for any inherent competitive disadvantages which result from the foreign character of the relevant services or service suppliers.

- 2. Measures inconsistent with both Article 8.3 (Market Access) and Article 8.4 (National Treatment) shall be inscribed in the column relating to Article 8.3 (Market Access). In this case, the inscription will be considered to provide a condition or qualification to Article 8.4 (National Treatment) as well.
- 3. The Schedules of Specific Commitments shall be annexed to this Chapter and shall form an integral part thereof.

#### **Article 8.7: Modification of Schedules**

- 1. A Party may modify or withdraw any commitment in its Schedule, at any time after three years have elapsed from the date on which that commitment entered into force, in accordance with the provisions of this Article. It shall notify the other Party of its intent to so modify or withdraw a commitment no later than three months before the intended date of implementation of the modification or withdrawal.
- 2. At the request of the other Party whose benefits under this Agreement may be affected by a proposed modification or withdrawal notified under paragraph 1, the modifying Party shall enter into negotiations with a view to reaching agreement on any necessary compensatory adjustment. In such negotiations and agreement, the Party concerned shall endeavour to maintain a general level of mutually advantageous commitments not less favourable to trade than that provided for in Schedules of Specific Commitments prior to such negotiations.
- 3. The Parties shall endeavour to conclude negotiations on such compensatory adjustment to mutual satisfaction within six months, failing which recourse may be had to the provisions of Chapter 13 (Dispute Settlement).

#### **Article 8.8: Domestic Regulation**

- 1. In sectors where specific commitments are undertaken, each Party shall ensure that all measures of general application affecting trade in services are administered in a reasonable, objective and impartial manner.
- 2. Each Party shall maintain or institute as soon as practicable judicial, arbitral or administrative tribunals or procedures which provide, at the request of an affected service supplier of the other Party, for the prompt review of, and where justified, appropriate remedies for, administrative decisions affecting

trade in services. Where such procedures are not independent of the agency entrusted with the administrative decision concerned, the Party shall ensure that the procedures in fact provide for an objective and impartial review.

- 3. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not be construed to require a Party to institute such tribunals or procedures where this would be inconsistent with its constitutional structure or the nature of its legal system.
- 4. Where authorisation is required for the supply of a service on which a specific commitment has been made, the competent authorities of a Party shall, within a reasonable period of time after the submission of an application considered complete under domestic laws and regulations, inform the applicant of the decision concerning the application. At the request of the applicant, the competent authorities of the Party shall provide, without undue delay, information concerning the status of the application.
- 5. With the objective of ensuring that measures relating to qualification requirements and procedures, technical standards and licensing requirements do not constitute an unnecessary barrier to trade in services, the Parties shall jointly review the results of the negotiations on disciplines on these measures, pursuant to paragraph 4 of Article VI of the GATS, with a view to their incorporation into this Chapter. The Parties note that such disciplines aim to ensure that such requirements are, *inter alia*:
- (a) based on objective and transparent criteria, such as competence and the ability to supply the service;
  - (b) not more burdensome than necessary to ensure the quality of the service;
- (c) in the case of licensing procedures, not in themselves a restriction on the supply of the service.
- 6. For sectors where a Party has undertaken specific commitments and subject to any terms, limitations, conditions or qualifications set out therein, pending the incorporation of disciplines pursuant to paragraph 5, a Party shall not apply licensing and qualification requirements and technical standards that nullify or impair such specific commitments in a manner which:
- (a) does not comply with the criteria outlined in sub-paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) of paragraph 5; and
- (b) could not reasonably have been expected of that Party at the time the specific commitments in those sectors were made.

7. In determining whether a Party is in conformity with the obligation under paragraph 6, account shall be taken of international standards of relevant international organisations<sup>4</sup> applied by that Party.

## **Article 8.9: Recognition**

- 1. For the purposes of the fulfilment of its standards or criteria for the authorisation, licensing or certification of services suppliers, a Party may recognise the education or experience obtained, requirements met, or licenses or certifications granted in the other Party.
- 2. The Parties shall encourage their relevant competent bodies to enter into negotiations on recognition of professional qualifications, licenses, or registration procedures with a view to the achievement of early outcomes.
- 3. Any arrangement reached pursuant to paragraph 2 shall be consistent with this Agreement.

#### **Article 8.10: Monopolies and Exclusive Service Suppliers**

- 1. Each Party shall ensure that any monopoly supplier of a service in its territory does not, in the supply of the monopoly service in the relevant market, act in a manner inconsistent with that Party's obligations under Schedule of Specific Commitments.
- 2. Where a Party's monopoly supplier competes, either directly or through an affiliated company, in the supply of a service outside the scope of its monopoly rights and which is subject to that Party's Schedule of specific commitments, the Party shall ensure that such a supplier does not abuse its monopoly position to act in its territory in a manner inconsistent with such commitments.
- 3. If a Party has reason to believe that a monopoly supplier of a service of another Party is acting in a manner inconsistent with paragraphs 1 or 2, it may request the Party establishing, maintaining or authorising such supplier to provide specific information concerning the relevant operations.
- 4. The provisions of this Article shall also apply to cases of exclusive service suppliers, where a Party, formally or in effect:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The term "relevant international organisations" refers to international bodies whose membership are open to the relevant bodies of the Parties.

- (a) authorises or establishes a small number of service suppliers; and
- (b) substantially prevents competition among those suppliers in its territory.

#### **Article 8.11: Business Practices**

- 1. The Parties recognise that certain business practices of service suppliers, other than those falling under Article 10, may restrain competition and thereby restrict trade in services.
- 2. A Party shall, at the request of the other Party, enter into consultations with a view to eliminating practices referred to in paragraph 1. The Party addressed shall accord full and sympathetic consideration to such a request and shall cooperate through the supply of publicly available non-confidential information of relevance to the matter in question. The Party addressed shall also provide other information available to the requesting Party, subject to its domestic laws and regulations and to the conclusion of satisfactory agreement concerning the safeguarding of its confidentiality by the requesting Party.

#### **Article 8.12: Emergency Safeguard Measures**

- 1. The Parties note the multilateral negotiations pursuant to Article X of the GATS on the question of emergency safeguard measures based on the principle of non-discrimination. Upon the conclusion of such multilateral negotiations, the Parties shall conduct a review for the purpose of discussing appropriate amendments to this Agreement so as to incorporate the results of such multilateral negotiations.
- 2. In the event that the implementation of this Agreement causes substantial adverse impact to a service sector of a Party before the conclusion of the multilateral negotiations referred to in paragraph 1, the affected Party may request for consultations with the other Party for the purposes of discussing any measure with respect to the affected service sector. Any measure taken pursuant to this paragraph shall be mutually agreed by the Parties. The Parties shall take into account the circumstances of the particular case and give sympathetic consideration to the Party seeking to take a measure.

#### **Article 8.13: Payments and Transfers**

- 1. Except under the circumstances envisaged in Article 8.14 (Restrictions to Safeguard the Balance-of-Payments), a Party shall not apply restrictions on international transfers and payments for current transactions relating to its specific commitments.
- 2. Nothing in this Chapter shall affect the rights and obligations of the Parties as members of the International Monetary Fund under the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund, including the use of exchange actions which are in conformity with the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund, provided that a Party shall not impose restrictions on any capital transactions inconsistently with its specific commitments regarding such transactions, except under Article 8.14 (Restrictions to Safeguard the Balance-of-Payments) or at the request of the International Monetary Fund.

## **Article 8.14: Restrictions to Safeguard Balance of Payments**

- 1. In the event of serious balance-of-payments and external financial difficulties or threat thereof, a Party may adopt or maintain restrictions on trade in services, including on payments or transfers for transactions relating to such obligations. It is recognised that particular pressures on the balance-of-payments of a Party in the process of economic development may necessitate the use of restrictions to ensure, *inter alia*, the maintenance of a level of financial reserves adequate for the implementation of its programme of economic development.
- 2. The restrictions referred to in paragraph 1:
  - (a) shall not discriminate among WTO Members;
- (b) shall be consistent with the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund;
- (c) shall avoid unnecessary damage to the commercial, economic and financial interests of the other Party;
- (d) shall not exceed those necessary to deal with the circumstances described in paragraph 1;
- (e) shall be temporary and be phased out progressively as the situation specified in paragraph 1 improves.
- 3. In determining the incidence of such restrictions, a Party may give priority to the supply of services which are more essential to its economic or

development programmes. However, such restrictions shall not be adopted or maintained for the purpose of protecting a particular service sector.

- 4. Any restrictions adopted or maintained under paragraph 1, or any changes therein, shall be promptly notified to the other Party.
- 5. The Party adopting any restrictions in accordance with paragraph 1 shall commence consultations with the other Party promptly in order to review the restrictions adopted.

## **Article 8.15: Transparency**

- 1. Each Party shall publish promptly and, except in emergency situations, at the latest by the time of their entry into force, all relevant measures of general application which pertain to or affect the operation of this Chapter. International agreements pertaining to or affecting trade in services to which a Party is a signatory shall also be published.
- 2. Where publication as referred to in paragraph 1 is not practicable, such information shall be made otherwise publicly available.
- 3. Each Party shall respond promptly to all requests by the other Party for specific information on any of its measures of general application or international agreements within the meaning of paragraph 1. Communication between the Parties in this regard shall be done through their designated contact points.

#### **Article 8.16: Disclosure of Confidential Information**

Nothing in this Chapter shall require any Party to provide confidential information, the disclosure of which would impede law enforcement, or otherwise be contrary to the public interest, or which would prejudice legitimate commercial interests of particular enterprises, public or private.

#### **Article 8.17: Denial of Benefits**

Subject to prior notification and prompt consultation, a Party may deny the benefits of this Chapter:

(a) to the supply of any service, if it establishes that the service is supplied from or in the territory of a non-Party;

- (b) in the case of the supply of a maritime transport service, if it establishes that the service is supplied:
  - (i) by a vessel registered under the laws of a non-Party, and
- (ii) by a person which operates and/or uses the vessel in whole or in part but which is of a non-Party;
- (c) to a service supplier, that is juridical person, if it establishes that it is not a service supplier of the other Party where the Party establishes that the service supplier is owned or controlled by persons of a non-Party and that it has no substantive business operations in the territory of a Party.

#### **Article 8.18: Contact Points**

Each Party shall designate one or more contact points to facilitate communication between the Parties on any matter covered by this Chapter, and shall provide details of such contact points to the other Party. The Parties shall notify each other promptly of any amendments to the details of their contact points.

#### **Article 8.19: Committee on Trade in Services**

- 1. The Parties hereby establish a Committee on Trade in Services that shall meet as mutually determined by the Parties or the Joint Committee to consider any matter arising under this Chapter.
- 2. The Committee's functions shall include:
  - (a) reviewing the implementation and operation of this Chapter,
- (b) exchanging information and recommendation of measures to promote increased trade in services between the Parties; and
  - (c) considering and discussing any issues related to this Chapter.

#### **Article 8.20: Miscellaneous Provisions**

The GATS Annexes, namely, Annex on Movement of the Natural Persons Supplying Services under the Agreement, Annex on Air Transport Services, Annex on Financial Services, and Annex on Telecommunications, shall apply to this Chapter, *mutatis mutandis*.

#### **ANNEX 8A**

## SCHEDULE OF SPECIFIC COMMITMENTS

#### **THAILAND**

## **Explanatory Notes**

- 1. This Schedule sets out Thailand's commitments in accordance with Article 8.6 (Schedule of Specific Commitments).
- 2. The classification of service sectors in this Schedule is based on the 1991 provisional Central Product Classification (CPC) CPC Version 1.1 and Version 2.1 of the United Nations Statistical Office, unless otherwise indicated by the absence of a CPC number. The ordering reflects the services sectoral classification list as used in GATT document MTN.GNS/W/120, dated 10 July 1991. The scheduling of specific commitments follows the guidelines stated in GATT documents MTN.GNS/W/164, dated 3 September 1993, and MTN.GNS/W/164/Add.1, dated 30 November 1993.
- 3. The use of "\*\*" against individual CPC codes indicates that the specific commitment for that code shall not extend to the total range of services covered under that code.

Contour ou Culture 4	
Sector or Subsector	
HORIZONTAL COMMITMEN	
HORIZONTAL COMMITMEN	
ALL SECTORS INCLUDED IN THIS SCHEDULE	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Subsector	Limitation on Market Access	Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	the legal entity who applies for a license must be of Thai nationality.  Commercial presence in sectors or subsectors in this Schedule must also meet additional conditions (if any) indicated in the sector-specific commitments.	requirements stipulated by Articles XIV and XIV bis of GATS, and Section 5 of the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999), and as stipulated by any other Thai laws or regulations regarding foreign investment shall be applied.  Unbound for the measures pertaining to subsidies or privileges, minimum capital requirements, taxation measure, acquisition and usage of land, and nationality requirement.	
	<ul> <li>(4) Other than additionally indicated or unless otherwise specified at the sector-specific level, temporary movement of natural persons is unbound except in the following categories:         <ol> <li>Business Visitors</li> <li>Business Visitors Business visitor refers to a natural person who stays in Thailand for the purpose of participating in business meetings or contacts, entering into contract to sell or purchase services, visiting of business establishments or other similar activities and entering with a purpose to establish a commercial presence in Thailand.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	(4) Unbound, except as provided in the market access column	

des of Suppry.	1 supply 2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence	4) Fresence of flatural persons
Sector or Subsector	Limitation on Market Access	Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	Condition: Representatives of such service suppliers or employees of such juridical person will not be engaged in making direct sales to the general public or in supplying services themselves.		
	Duration of stay: Temporary entry and temporary stay for a period not exceeding 90 days from the arrival date shall be granted.		
	II. Intra-corporate Transferees (ICT) Employees of a company established in the territory of a Party who are transferred temporarily for the supply of a service through commercial presence in Thailand.		
	The employees refer to Executives, Managers, or Specialists as defined below.		
	Manager is defined as: A person within an organisation who primarily directs the organisation, or a department or sub-division of the organisation; supervises and controls the work of other supervisory, professional or managerial employees;has the authority to hire and fire or recommend hiring, firing, or other personnel actions (such as		

lodes of Supply: 1) Cross-bords	er supply 2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
S	Limitation on	Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Subsector	Market Access	National Treatment	Commitments
Sector or Subsector	Limitation on	Limitation on	Additional
	Specialist is defined as: A person within an organisation who possesses knowledge at an advanced level of continued expertise essential to the establishment provision of the service and/or possesses proprietary knowledge of the organisation's services, research equipment, techniques, or management.		

Control of Coloreston	Limitation on	Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Subsector	Market Access	National Treatment	Commitments
Sector or Subsector			
	type or categoryof foreign natural persons prohibited or not allowed by the Foreigners' Working Management Emergency Decree B.E. 2560 (2017), as amended, or by any other relevant Thai laws or regulations.		

es of suppry.	supprij 2) concumption accura	, 1	1) I resence of natural person
Sector or Subsector	Limitation on Market Access	Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	A natural person shall meet the criteria stipulated by the Ministry of Labour and relevant authorities in obtaining a license or permission in any sector or subsector where it is required by specific Thai laws or regulations.  (3)(4) A natural person or juridical person of the other Party that acquires or gains ownership of land shall be deemed ineligible to exercise rights and privileges under this Agreement.  A natural person or a juridical person who receives other specialprivileges or incentives from Thai authorities to supply services may not claim benefits under this Agreement.	(3)(4) A natural person or juridical person of the other Party is not allowed to purchase or own land inThailand.  The Land Code of Thailand shall be applied to acquisition and usage of land of a natural person, a limited liability company, or a type of legal entity as specified in this Schedule.	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Such criteria may include: size of fully paid-up capital, employment creation, extent of foreign investment, export promotion, transfer of technology, special needs of the management, and economic or labour market needs tests.

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Subsector II. SECTOR SPECIFIC COMMI	TMEN	Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
1. Business Services A. Professional Services	INEN	15			
a. Legal services (CPC 86111+86119+ 86120+86130+86190)	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
- Legal advisory for drafting of documents concerning only	(1)	None	(1)	None	
international commercial law, excluding local laws and regulations	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(part of CPC Version 1.1: 82119)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
b. Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping services (CPC 86211 to 86213+86219+86220)	(1)	None	(1)	Auditing must be authenticated by licensed auditor in Thailand	
(01 0 00211 10 00213 100217 100220)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on		Limitation on	Additional
	(4)	Market Access	(4)	National Treatment	Commitments
d. Architectural services (CPC 86711 to 86714+86719)	(1)	None	(1)	Services must be authenticated by licensed architect in Thailand	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
e. Engineering services (CPC 86721 to 86727 +86729)	(1)	None	(1)	Services must be authenticated by licensed engineer in Thailand	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None, other than at least half of its directors, or its managing director, must be of Thai nationality and obtain a license from Council of Engineers	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
f. Integrated engineering services  - Integrated engineering services for	(1)	None	(1)	Services must be authenticated by licensed engineer in Thailand	
traffic control systems (CPC 1.1: 83319)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

	Limitation on			Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Subsector	Market Access			National Treatment	Commitments
g. Urban planning and landscape architectural services (CPC 86741 to 86742)	(1)	None None	(1)	Services must be authenticated by licensed architect in Thailand	Communicates
(CI C 00/41 to 00/42)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
B. Computer and Related Services					
a. Consultancy services related to the installation of computer hardware (CPC	(1)	None	(1)	None	
84100)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
b. Software implementation services (CPC 84210+84220	(1)	None	(1)	None	
+84230+84240+84250)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
- Software consultancy services	(1)	None	(1)	None National Treatment	Commitments
(CPC 1.1: 83142**)	(1)	None	(1)	None	
( = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not	(3)	None	
		exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough			
		joint-venture with a juridical person of			
		Thai national			
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
c. Data processing services	(1)	None	(1)	Unbound	
- (excluding those provided over public telecommunications network)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(CPC 84310+84320 +84330+84390)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not	(3)	None	
d. Database services		exceed 70 per cent of the registered			
- (excluding those provided over public telecommunications network)		capital and shall only operatethrough			
(CPC 84400)		joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national			
		That national			
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
e. Other computer services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Maintenance and repair services of	(2)	N	(2)		
office machinery and equipment including computers (CPC 845)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
merading computers (Cr C 643)	(3)	None	(3)	None	
- Software training services for staff		Tione		TONE	
of clients (part of CPC 849)	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
C. Research and Development Services			1		
a. R&D on natural sciences:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Research and experimental	(2)	None	(2)	None	
development on physical sciences (CPC Version 1.1: 81110)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
- Basic research services in	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
engineering and technology (CPC Version 2.1: 81114)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
b. R&D services on social sciencesand humanities	(1)	None	(1)	None	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
- Research and experimental development services in linguistics and languages (CPC Version 1.1: 81240)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply.	Suppiy	2) Consumption about		3) Commercial presence	) I resence of natural persons
Sector or Subsector	Limitation on			Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Subsector		Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
c. Interdisciplinary R&D Services: - Interdisciplinary research and	(1)	None	(1)	None	
experimental development services	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(CPC Version 1.1: 81300)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
E. Rental or Leasing Services without Op	peratoi	r			
<ul><li>a. Relating to ships:</li><li>Leasing or rental services concerning</li></ul>	(1)	None	(1)	None	
non-Thai flag vessels without operator	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(CPC Version 1.1: 73115)  This subclass does not include: - leasing, renting or hiring services concerning vessels for coastal and transoceanic water transportwith operator, 65130	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
<ul> <li>leasing, renting or hiring services concerning cabotage and inland water vessels with operator, 65230</li> <li>leasing, renting or hiring services concerning pleasure craft, 73240</li> </ul>	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on		Limitation on	Additional
	- (4)	Market Access	(4)	National Treatment	Commitments
d. Relating to other machinery and equipment:	(1)	Unbound*	(1)	Unbound*	
- Computer server	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(CPC Version 1.1: 73124)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
F. Other Business Services					
a. Advertising services (CPC 871)	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
c. Management consulting services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- General management consulting services (CPC 86501)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	<ul><li>(a) As indicated in the horizontal section</li><li>(b) Unbound for legal and auditing consultants</li></ul>	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

	Т.	Limitation on		Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Subsector		Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
Management consulting services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Human resource management consulting services	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(CPC Version 1.1: 83113)	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
e. Technical testing and analysis services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Composition and purity testingand	(2)	None	(2)	None	
analysis services (CPC Version 1.1: 83561)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
i. Services incidental to Manufacturing:	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
- Basic and Fabricated metal product, machinery, and	(2)	None	(2)	None	
equipment manufacturing services (CPC Version 2.1: 886+887)	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

11 7	T 11	Limitation on	1	Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Subsector					
	-	Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
m. Related scientific and technical consulting services:	(1)	Unbound*	(1)	Unbound*	
- Scientific consulting services	(2)	None	(2)	None	
from mathematicians and statisticians (CPC 1.1: part of 83139)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
p. Photographic services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
Photography processing services (CPC 1.1: 83820**)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
q. Packaging services (CPC 87600)	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
q. Packaging services	(1)	Unbound*	(1)	Unbound*	Communents
(CPC 1.1: 85400)			(1)		
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
This subclass does not include:	(2)	<b>T</b>	(2)	N	
<ul> <li>packing and crating services incidental to transport, cf. 64-67</li> </ul>	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered	(3)	None	
- package design services, cf. 83490		capital and shall only operatethrough			
- solely printing information on		joint-venture with a juridical person of			
packaging materials, cf. 89121 - packaging services including		Thai national			
processing of client owned materials	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
into a different product (e.g. mixing	(.)	Chocuna	(.)	Oncouna	
water and concentrate produce soft drinks, cooking fishprior to canning,					
blending creams					
and colouring materials into					
cosmetics), cf. 88 and 89	(1)	11.1	(1)	TT 1	
r. Publishing and printing services - excluding publishing newspaper	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
(CPC 88442)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
s. Convention services: Annual international trade fair and	(1)	Unbound*	(1)	Unbound*	
exhibition organisation services on afee	(2)	None	(2)	None	
or contract basis	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not	(3)	None	
(CPC 1.1: 85970**)		exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital			
		and shall only operatethrough joint- venture with a juridical person of Thai			
		national			
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:	1) Cross-border	supply	2) Consumption aboard		3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Sector or Subse	ootow		Limitation on		Limitation on	Additional
			Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
2. Communication Serv	vices					
C. Telecommunicatio	ns Services					
			subject to the following general condition			
			e a telecommunications business in Thailan	d shall	obtain a licence from designated nation	nal authorities inaccordance
			ons Business Act B.E. 2544 (2001).			
The state of the s		supplie	ers duly constituted according to the Thai la		-	
Public local, domestic lo	ng distance	(1)(2)	- None, other than traffic shall be	(1)(2)	None	
and international services	s:		routed through gateways in			
			Thailand operated by a supplier			
a. Fixed-line voice teleph	none services		duly licensed			
			-the provision of concerned services			
			shall be agreed by the suppliers duly			
			licensed of both ends			
		(3)	Foreign equity participation must not	(3)	None	
			exceed 51 per cent of the registered			
			capital and shall only operatethrough			
			joint-venture with a juridical person of			
			Thai national			
		(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
d. Telex services (CPC 75)	23**)	(1)(2)	- None, other than traffic shall be	(1)(2)	None	
e. Telegraph services (CPC			routed through gateways in			
f. Facsimile services (CPC			Thailand operated by a supplier			
7521** + 7529**)			duly licensed			
			•			
			- the provision of concerned services			
			shall be agreed by the suppliers duly			
			licensed of both ends			

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	<ul><li>a) As indicated in the horizontal section</li><li>b) Unbound for civil engineer</li></ul>	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
j. On-line information and database retrieval (CPC 7523**)	(1) (	,	(1) (2)	None	
	(3)	a) Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operatethrough joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
		b) Such company shall be permitted under the built- transferred-operated concept			
		<ul> <li>c) Must use networks operated by suppliers duly licensed</li> </ul>			
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
m. Code and protocol conversion	(1)(2)	None, other than traffic shall be routed through gateways in Thailand operated by a supplier duly licensed	(1)(2)	None National Treatment	Communents
	(3)	- the provision of concerned services shall be agreed by the suppliers duly licensed of both ends  Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of	(3)	None	
	(4)	Thai national Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
n. On-line information and/or data processing services provided over public telecommunications network (part of CPC 843, excluding	(1)(2)	- None, other than traffic shall be routed through gateways in Thailand operated by a supplier duly licensed	(1)(2)	None	
transaction processing)		- the provision of concerned services shall be agreed by the suppliers duly licensed of both ends			
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
o. Other					
- Telecommunications equipment sales services	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
(part of CPC 75420)	(2)	None	(2)	None	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	d) As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
		e) Unbound for civil engineer			
- Telecommunications consulting services	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
(CPC 75440)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	<ul><li>a) As indicated in the horizontal section</li><li>b) Unbound for civil engineer</li></ul>	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
- Videotext (part of CPC 75299)	(1)	Service providers must use network operated by suppliers duly licensed	(1)	None	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Shall be a Thai registered company with foreign equity participation not exceeding 40 per cent of the registered capital and the number of foreign shareholders must not exceed 40 per cent of the total number of shareholders of the company	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

		T ''4-4'	1	I ''4.4'	A 11221
Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
- Teleconference (part of CPC 75292)	(1)	Service providers must use network operated by suppliers duly licensed	(1)	None	Commitments
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Shall be a Thai registered company with foreign equity participation not exceeding 40 per cent of the registered capital and the number of foreign shareholders must not exceed 40 per cent of the total number of shareholders of the company	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
- Domestic leased circuits (part of CPC 75299)	(1)	Service providers must use network operated by suppliers duly licensed	(1)	None	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Shall be a Thai registered company with foreign equity participation not exceeding 40 per cent of the registered capital and the number of foreign shareholders must not exceed 40 per cent of the total number of shareholders of the company	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
D. Audiovisual Services		Wat Ret / Iccess	1	rational freatment	Communicates
a. Motion picture and video tape production and distribution services:	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
- Video tape production services for	(2)	None	(2)	None	
scientific education (CPC Version 1.1: 96121**)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
b. Motion picture projection services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Video projection services in private screening rooms, excluding all	(2)	None	(2)	None	
broadcasting and audiovisual services (part of CPC 96122)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
e. Sound recording services	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Production of sound recording for higher education in University only	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(excluding all broadcasting and AV services)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector	Limitation on Market Access	Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
3. CONSTRUCTION AND RELATEI	ENGINEERING SERVICES		
A. Construction Work for	(1) None	(1) Unbound	
Buildings (CPC 51210+51220 +51230+51240+51250+51260 +51270+51280+ 51290)	(2) None	(2) None	
,	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) (a) As indicated in the horizont section (b) Unbound for civil engineer		
- General construction services of mines and industrial plant (CPC	(1) None	(1) None, only for consultancy	
Version 1.1: 54260)	(2) None	(2) None	
	(3) Foreign equity participation must exceed 70 per cent of the registe capital and shall only operate the joint-venture with a juridical per Thai national	ered rough	
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	
B. Construction Work for Civil Engineering	(1) None	(1) Unbound*	
(CPC 51310+51320 +51330+51340+51350+51360+51371	(2) None	(2) None	
+51372 +51390)	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) (a) As indicated in the horizontal section (b) Unbound for civil engineer	(4) As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Tribues of Supply.	11.	zi i i			Tresence of natural persons
Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
- General construction work of harbours, waterways, dams, irrigation and other	(1)	None	(1)	None, only for consultancy	
water works (CPC Version 1.1: 54230)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
C. Installation and Assembly Work (CPC 514+516)	(1)	None	(1)	Unbound*	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	<ul><li>(a) As indicated in the horizontal section</li><li>(b) Unbound for civil engineer</li></ul>	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
- Installation and assembly work: Assembly and erection of	(1)	None	(1)	None, only for consultancy	
prefabricated constructions (CPC Version 1.1: 54400)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector	Limitation on	Limitation on	Additional
20001 01 242300001	Market Access	National Treatment	Commitments
D. Building Completion and Finishing Work (CPC 517)	(1) Unbound	(1) Unbound	
	(2) None	(2) None	
	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	
E. Other:	(1) None	(1) Unbound*	
- Pre-erection work at construction site (CPC 511)	(2) None	(2) None	
- Special trade construction (CPC 515)	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) (a) As indicated in the horizontal section (b) Unbound for civil engineer	(4) As indicated in the horizontal section	
4. DISTRIBUTION SERVICES		·	·
A. Commission Agents' Services (CPC 62111 to 62118)	(1) Unbound	(1) Unbound	
	(2) None	(2) None	
	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	
<ul><li><b>D. Franchising</b></li><li>Other non-financial intangible</li></ul>	(1) Unbound	(1) None	
assets (CPC 8929)	(2) None	(2) None	
	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	

Modes of Supply:	1) Cross-border	r suppl	y 2) Consumption aboard		3) Commercial presence 4)	Presence of natural persons
Castan an Cal	h		Limitation on		Limitation on	Additional
Sector or Sul	osector		Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
5. EDUCATIONAL S	SERVICES					
			bject to the following general conditions:			
					all not be construed to apply to the recognition	on of degrees for the purpose
			a higher education, employment or profession		actice in Thailand	
			on or registration with the authority concern	_		
A.+ B. International an		(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
school education						
excluding adult a		(2)	None	(2)	None	
education service						
(CPC 9219+922	21+9222)	(3)	None	(3)	(a) the representative of the juridical	
					person who applies for a license must be	
					of Thai nationality	
					(b) the school director and deputy	
					director must be of Thai nationality (c) the school manager or executive	
					manager must be of Thai nationality	
					manager must be of That nationality	
		(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
C. Higher Education	Services:	(1)	None	(1)	None	
g : 14 1	1 C16	(2)	N	(2)	N.	
Science and techno (CPC 92390**)	logy faculty	(2)	None	(2)	None	
		(3)	Foreign equity participation must not	(3)	At least half of the members of the	
			exceed 70 per cent of the registered		University Council must be of Thai	
			capital and shall only operate through		nationality and service suppliers in this	
			joint-venture with a juridical person of		sector must comply with Private Higher	
			Thai national		Education Institution Act B.E.2546 (2003)	
		(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
E. Other Education Services (CPC 92900)	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
- Foreign language tuition services (CPC 92900**)	(3)	None, other than that at least half of its directors, and if applicable its managing director, must be of Thai nationality	(3)	<ul> <li>(a) the representative of the juridical person who applies for a license must be of Thai nationality</li> <li>(b) the school director and deputy director must be of Thai nationality</li> <li>(c) the school manager or executive manager must be of Thai nationality</li> </ul>	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
6. ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES					I .
B. Refuse Disposal Services	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
- Hazardous waste treatment and disposal services	(2)	None	(2)	None	
(CPC Version 1.1: 94222)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
C. Sanitation and Similar Services (CPC 9403)	(1)	None	(1)	None	
- Beach cleaning services and drain	(2)	None	(2)	None	
unblocking services (CPC Version 1.1: 94390**)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
D. Other	(1)	Unbound*	(1)	Unbound*	
Marine environmental protection services (CPC 1.1 : 94900**)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 51 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
9. TOURISM AND TRAVEL RELAT	ED SEF	RVICES			•
A. Hotel and Restaurants	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
- Hotel lodging services (CPC 64110)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
~	(3)	None	(3)	None	
- Camping and caravan site services (CPC 64195)	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
- Restaurant services (CPC 64210)					
- Catering services (CPC 64230)					
- Superior deluxe or six-star plus rated hotel (CPC 1.1: 63110**)	(1)	None	(1)	None	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 51 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Triodes of Suppry:	11	, 1		5) Commercial presence	Tresence of natural persons
Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
- Full restaurant services (food and	(1)	None	(1)	None	
beverage preparation and serving services with or without	(2)	None	(2)	None	
entertainment) (CPC 64210**)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 51 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national  - A debt to equity ratio of 3:1 or lower shall be maintained  - Minimum paid-up registered capital of 50 million baht is required  - The facility must have a minimum area of 450 square metres	(3)	None	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
B. Travel Agency and Tour Operator	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
Services	(2)	None	(2)	None	
Travel agency and tour operator Services (CPC 74710)	(3)	None, except that not less than half of the board of directors of the company must be of Thai nationality	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
D. Other	(1)	None	(1)	None	
Hotel management services (CPC	(2)	None	(2)	None	
Version 1.1: part of 63110)	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-border supply 2) Consumption aboard 3) Commercial presence 4) Presence of natural persons

The class colde	11	, ,		,	1) I resence of natural persons
Sector or Subsector		Limitation on		Limitation on	Additional
		Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
11. TRANSPORT SERVICES	_				
A. Maritime Transport Services					
a. Passenger transportation	(1)	None	(1)	None	The following services at the
(CPC 7211 less cabotage transport: as					port provided by the
defined in paragraph 3.1 of Reference	(2)	None	(2)	None	government or government
Paper below)					enterprise are made available to
	(3)	(a) Unbound for establishment of	(3)	(a) Unbound	international maritime transport
		enterprise for the purpose of		(b) None	suppliers on reasonable and
	(4)	operating a fleet under the national flag of Thailand  (b) Other forms of commercial presence for the supply of international maritime transport services (as defined in paragraph 3.2 of Reference Paper below): None  (a) Ships' crew: Unbound  (b) Other personnel: as indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	4) (a) Unbound   (b) As indicated in the horizontal section	non-discriminatory terms and conditions:  1. Pilotage <sup>2</sup> 2. Towing and tug assistance 3. Provisioning, fuelling and watering 4. Garbage collecting and ballast waste disposal 5. Port captain's service 6. Navigation aids 7. Shore-based operational services essential to ship operations, water, and electrical supplies 8. Emergency repair facilities 9. Anchorage, berth and berthing services

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Thai captain of a Thai ship which sails regularly in certain compulsory pilotage area may be permitted to pilot the ship in the area.

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector	Limitation on	Limitation on	Additional	
Sector of Subsector	Market Access	National Treatment	Commitments	
b. Freight transportation (CPC 7212 less cabotage transport: as	(1) None	(1) None	(1) See Note to the schedule	
defined in paragraph 3.1 of Reference Paper below)	(2) None	(2) None		
	(3) (a) Unbound for establishment of enterprise for the purpose of operating a fleet under the national flag of Thailand (b) Other forms of commercial presence for the supply of international maritime transport services (as defined in paragraph 3.2 of Reference Paper below):  None	(3) (a) Unbound (b) None other than: i) Shareholders of Thai maritime transport companies with ownership of Thai flag vessels may be granted exemption or reduced rates of income tax leviable on dividends paid by such companies	(3) b) See Note to the schedule	
		ii)Exporters or importers of goods shipped from or to Thailand by Thai flag vessels may be entitled to special deduction of not more than 50 per cent of the freight values or other expenses paid in the ordinary course of carriage of such goods from their net income for the purpose of calculation of income tax		
	(4) (a) Ships' crew: unbound (b) Other personnel: as indicated inthe horizontal section	(4) (a) Unbound (b) As indicated in the horizontal section		

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector	Limitation on	Limitation on	Additional
	Market Access	National Treatment	Commitments
d. Maintenance and repair of vessels - exceeding 100,000 deadweight tonnage (part of CPC 8868)	(1) None (2) None	(1) Unbound (2) None	
8 d			
	(3) Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national		
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	
e. International towing (CPC 7214)	(1) None	(1) None	
	(2) None	(2) None	
	(3) (a) Unbound for establishment of enterprise		
	for the purpose of operating a fleet	(b) None	
	under the national flag of Thailand (b) Other forms of commercial presence		
	for the supply of international maritime transport services (as defined in paragraph 3.2 of Reference Paper below): None		
	(4) (a) Ships' crew: Unbound	(4) (a) Unbound	
	(b) Other personnel: as indicated inthe horizontal section	(b) As indicated in the horizontal section	
f. Supporting services for maritime transport (CPC 745**)	(1) Unbound	(1) Unbound	
- Shore reception facilities (collection of waste or oily water	(2) None	(2) None	
from ships)	(3) None	(3) None	
	(4) As indicated in the horizontal section	(4) As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
C. Air Transport Services	ı	1/242/2005		1 (44203441 21 0440410	
d. Aircraft repair and maintenance services (part of CPC 8868)	(1)	Unbound*	(1)	Unbound*	
Airman (in also des all marchines de ad	(2)	None	(2)	None	
- Aircraft (includes all machines that drive support in the atmosphere from the reaction of the air except for objects	(3)	None	(3)	None	
which are exempted under the Ministerial Regulations)	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
- Major aircraft appliance (an engine,a propeller and other appliances of an aircraft designated by the Technical Commission)					
- Technical Standard Order Article (TSO Article) (an instrument, a mechanism, a part, an equipment and a component used or intended to be used in operating or controlling anaircraft in flight, whether it is installed on or attached to the aircraft, inside or outside)					
- Part (an airframe, part of an airframeor part of a major aircraft appliance)					
e. Supporting services for air transport (CPC 746**)	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
Selling and marketing of air transport	(2)	None	(2)	None	
services	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	Unbound	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

	Т	T ''4-4'	1	T ''//'	A 1.1'4' 1
Sector or Subsector	Limitation on			Limitation on	Additional
E.D. LEE		Market Access		National Treatment	Commitments
F. Road Transport Services					
b. Freight transportation only for frozen or refrigerated goods, bulk	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
liquids or gases and containerised freight (CPC 71231 to 71233)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None, other than that not less than half of the board of directors of the company must be of Thai nationality	(3)	None, except that not less than half of the board of directors of the company must be of Thai nationality	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
H. Services Auxiliary to All Modes of Ti	anspor	rt			
a. Maritime cargo handling services (as defined in paragraph 3.3 of	(1)	None	(1)	None	
Reference Paper below) in private- owned port	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	
b. Storage and warehousing services (CPC 742)	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-border supply 2) Consumption aboard 3) Commercial presence 4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Subsector		Limitation on Market Access		Limitation on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
- Storage and warehousing services of frozen or refrigerated goods (CPC	(1)	Unbound	(1)	Unbound	
74210)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	Foreign equity participation must not exceed 70 per cent of the registered capital and shall only operate through joint-venture with a juridical person of Thai national	(3)	None	
	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	(4)	As indicated in the horizontal section	

## Reference Paper

#### Note to the Schedule

- 1. Where road, rail, inland waterways, and related auxiliary services are not otherwise fully covered in this Schedule, a multimodal transport operator shall have the ability to rent or lease trucks, railway carriages or barges, and related equipment, for the purpose of inland forwarding of cargoes, or have access to and use of these forms of multimodal activities on reasonable and non-discriminatory terms and conditions for the purpose of carrying out multimodal transport operations.
- 2. **Reasonable and non-discriminatory terms and conditions** means, for the purpose of multimodal transport operations, the ability of multimodal transport operator to arrange for the conveyance of its merchandise on a timely basis, including priority over other merchandise which enter the port at a later date.
- 3. For the purposes of this Schedule:
- 3.1 **cabotage** means the transportation or towage of passengers or goods, between a port or place located in Thai waters and another port or place located in Thai waters.
- 3.2 other forms of commercial presence for the supply of international maritime transport services means the ability for international maritime transportservice suppliers of the other Party to undertake locally the following:
- (a) marketing and sales of maritime transport services through direct contact with customers, from quotation to invoicing, these services being those operated or offered by the service supplier itself;
- (b) the procurement, on their own account of any transport and related services, necessary for the supply of the integrated service;
- (c) the preparation of documentation concerning transport documents, customer documents, or other documents related to the origin and character of the goods transported;
- (d) setting up of any business arrangements (including participation in the stock of a company) and the appointment of personnel recruited locally with any locally established shipping agency: as indicated in the horizontal section.
- 3.3 **maritime cargo handling services** means activities exercised by stevedore companies, including terminal operators, but not including the direct

activities of dockers when this workforce is organised independently of the stevedoring or terminal operator companies. The activities include the organisation and supervision of:

- (a) the loading or discharging of cargo to or from a ship;
- (b) the lashing or unlashing of cargo;
- (c) the reception or delivery and safekeeping of cargoes before shipment or after discharge.

#### **ANNEX 8B**

# SCHEDULE OF SPECIFIC COMMITMENTS

#### **SRI LANKA**

# **Explanatory Notes**

- 1. This Schedule does not include measures relating to qualification requirements and procedures, technical standards, and licensing requirements when they do not constitute a market access or a national treatment limitation within the meaning of Article 8.3 (Market Access) and Article 8.4 (National Treatment). Those measures, such as licensing requirements or recognition of qualification, etc., even if not listed, apply in any case to services and service suppliers of Thailand.
- 2. The classification of service sectors in this Schedule is based on the 1991 provisional Central Product Classification (CPC) of the United Nations Statistical Office, unless otherwise indicated.
- 3. The use of "\*\*" against individual CPC codes indicates that the specific commitment for that code shall not extend to the total range of services covered under that code.

Modes of Supply: 2) Consumption aboard 3) Commercial presence 1) Cross-border supply 4) Presence of natural persons Additional Limitations on Limitations on **Sector or Sub-sector** Market Access **National Treatment** Commitments HORIZONTAL COMMITMENTS General Exclusion: The market access, national treatment, and other conditions on supply of services under any Mode for the entities registered **ALL SECTORS** INCLUDED IN THIS under the Colombo Port City law (Colombo Port City Economic Commission Act No. 11 of 2021) will be governed under the provisions of the said law, rules and regulations thereunder, and subsequent amendments thereof. **SCHEDULE** NT limitations will apply: Subject to the Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017 (FEA) and regulations (a) In case of collaboration with thereunder. public sector enterprises or government undertakings as joint Subject to the Foreign Exchange Act no 12 of 2017 and regulations venture between Thailand and Sri Lanka, preference in access will be thereunder. given to Thailand service suppliers/entities which offer the A foreign company can set up operations in Sri Lanka under the best terms for transfer of following structures: technology. (b) Subsidies, where granted, shall be available only to domestic (a) As an incorporated entity by service suppliers. incorporating a company under (c) Ownership of land by foreign applicable Sri Lanka laws through Joint Ventures or Wholly Owned entities is governed under the Land (Restrictions on Alienation) Act. Subsidiaries. These entities can undertake activities permitted as per the Foreign Exchange Act (FEA) No 12 of 2017 (b) As an office of a foreign entity

through liaison office/

representative office, project office and branch office. Such offices can undertake activities permitted under the Foreign Exchange Act

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Modes of Supply. 1) Cross-t	border supply 2) Consumption about	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	No. 12 of 2017.  In addition, without prejudice to equity and other restrictions specified in sectoral commitments of this Schedule under Mode 3, the Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017 and its regulations, as revised and amended from time to time, and Board of Investment Act No. 4 of 1978 and its regulations, as revised and amended from time to time, shall be applicable, provided that any changes to the said Acts or regulations shall not be applied in a manner so as to nullify or impair the benefits under the terms of a specific commitment of this Schedule.	(4) Unbound	
	(4) Unbound except as otherwise stated in the specific commitments in this Schedule for the following categories and subject to Immigration laws and regulations of Sri Lanka:		
	I. Business visitors Entry for business visitors shall be for a period of not more than 30 days. Such visitors have to comply with relevant immigration requirements.		
	II. Intra-corporate transferees Temporary movement of the following skilled categories of intra-corporate employees who are natural persons of Thailand and are employees of juridical persons in Thailand, and are		

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

1) Cross-bor	der supply 2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural person
sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	being transferred temporarily to a		
	branch, subsidiary, or an affiliate of		
	the said juridical person, established in		
	Sri Lanka. Such intra-corporate		
	transferees shall have been employed		
	for a period of not less than twelve		
	months by the juridical person in		
	Thailand immediately preceding the		
	date of the application for temporary		
	entry to Sri Lanka.		
	- Managers:		
	Persons responsible for primarily		
	directing, controlling or administering		
	an organisation, subdivision or a		
	department of an organisation or		
	supervising or controlling the work of		
	other supervisory, professional or		
	managerial personnel, and having the		
	authority to appoint or remove the		
	personnel and powers to exercise		
	discretionary authority over day-to-		
	day operations. Such persons shall		
	have had a minimum of five years of		
	relevant industry or professional		
	experience immediately preceding the		
	date of the application for temporary		
	entry.		
	sector	being transferred temporarily to a branch, subsidiary, or an affiliate of the said juridical person, established in Sri Lanka. Such intra-corporate transferees shall have been employed for a period of not less than twelve months by the juridical person in Thailand immediately preceding the date of the application for temporary entry to Sri Lanka.  - Managers: Persons responsible for primarily directing, controlling or administering an organisation, subdivision or a department of an organisation or supervising or controlling the work of other supervisory, professional or managerial personnel, and having the authority to appoint or remove the personnel and powers to exercise discretionary authority over day-to- day operations. Such persons shall have had a minimum of five years of relevant industry or professional experience immediately preceding the date of the application for temporary	Limitations on Market Access  being transferred temporarily to a branch, subsidiary, or an affiliate of the said juridical person, established in Sri Lanka. Such intra-corporate transferees shall have been employed for a period of not less than twelve months by the juridical person in Thailand immediately preceding the date of the application for temporary entry to Sri Lanka.  - Managers:  Persons responsible for primarily directing, controlling or administering an organisation, subdivision or a department of an organisation or supervising or controlling the work of other supervisory, professional or managerial personnel, and having the authority to appoint or remove the personnel and powers to exercise discretionary authority over day-to-day operations. Such persons shall have had a minimum of five years of relevant industry or professional experience immediately preceding the date of the application for temporary

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-border supply 2) Consumption aboard 3) Commercial presence 4) Presence of natural persons

riodes of Supply.	border supply 2) Consumption about	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	- Executives:		
	Persons who are in senior position		
	within a juridical person who		
	primarily direct the management, have		
	wide decision-making powers, and are		
	either members of the board of		
	directors, or receive only general		
	supervision or direction from higher		
	level executives or the general body of		
	shareholders. Such persons shall have		
	had a minimum of five years of		
	relevant industry or professional		
	experience immediately preceding the		
	date of the application for temporary		
	entry.		
	- Specialists		
	Persons within an organisation who		
	possess advanced knowledge and		
	expertise primarily on a particular		
	subject or activity; a person highly		
	skilled in a specific domain. Such		
	persons shall have had a minimum of		
	five years of relevant industry or		
	professional experience immediately		
	preceding the date of the application		
	for temporary entry.		
	Unless there has been a breach of any of the		
	chiess there has been a breach of any of the		

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-bo	rder supply 2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	conditions governing temporary entry, or an application for an extension of an immigration visa has been refused on such grounds of national security or public order by the Sri Lankan authorities as they deem fit, the above categories of intra-corporate transferees shall be granted temporary entry to a branch or a representative office owned or controlled by the aforesaid juridical person of Thailand in Sri Lanka for an initial period of up to one year or the period of the contract, whichever is less. The period of stay may be extended for further period not exceeding a total of five years.		
II. SECTOR SPECIFIC COMM			<u> </u>
Professional Services			
Architectural services (CPC 86711) Advisory and pre-designed architectural services	(1) None (2) None	(1) None (2) None	
	(3) Unbound	(3) Unbound	
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	
Engineering services (CPC 86721) Advisory and consultative engineering	(1) None	(1) None	
services	(2) None	(2) None	
	(3) Unbound	(3) Unbound	
	(4) Unbound	(4) Unbound	

Modes of Supply: 1) Cr	oss-border su	pply 2) Consumption aboard		3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural per
Sector or Sub-sector		Limitations on Market Access		Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Legal advisory services in international or any home country	(1)	None	(1)	None	
excluding Sri Lankan Law (CPC 8611**, CPC 8612**)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
,	(3)	Unbound	(3)	Unbound	
	(4)	Unbound	(4)	Unbound	
Computer and Related Services	(CPC 84)				
Consultancy services related to th installation of computer hardware		None	(1)	None	
(CPC 84100)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
Systems and software consultancy services (CPC 84210)		None, except as specified in the	(3)	None, except as specified in the	
System analysis services (CPC 84 System design services (CPC 842 Programming services (CPC 8424	220) 30)	horizontal commitments, 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed		horizontal commitments	
System maintenance services (CP 84250)		Unbound: except for measures	(4)	Unbound, except as specified in the	
Input preparation services (CPC 84310)		concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intra-		horizontal commitments	
Data processing and tabulation services (CPC 84320)		corporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments.			
Time sharing services (CPC 8433 Other data processing services (C					
84390)					
Data base services (CPC 84400)					
Data preparation services (CPC 84910)					
Maintenance and repair services of	f				
office machinery and equipment including computer (CPC 84500)					
Other computer services n.e.c. (C	PC				
84990)					

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

viodes of Supply. 1) Cross-6	order supply 2) Consumption about	3) Commercial presence 4	) Presence of natural person
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Other Business Services			
Research and development services (CPC 811+812+813)	(1) None (2) None	(1) None (2) None	
	<ul> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments, 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.         Rights and obligations related to patents and intellectual property are unbound.</li> <li>(4) Unbound: except for measures concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intra-corporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ul>	
Advertising services (CPC 871)	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None</li> <li>None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.</li> <li>Unbound: except for measures concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intra-corporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>(1) None</li> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ul>	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

1) Closs-bolder supply		5) Commercial presence	4) I rescrice of flatural persons
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Technical testing and analysis services (CPC 8676)	<ol> <li>None, except laboratories should be internationally accredited by a member of International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation (ILAC)</li> <li>None</li> <li>None, except laboratories should be internationally accredited by a member of ILAC and subject to approval of Sri Lanka Accreditation Board and subject</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None</li> <li>None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ol>	Committee
	to horizontal commitments, 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.  (4) Unbound: except for measures concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intra-corporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments		
Commercial market research (CPC 86401)	<ul> <li>(1) None</li> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments, 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.</li> <li>(4) Unbound</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None</li> <li>None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ol>	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

Sector or Sub-sector		Limitations on Market Access		Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Management consulting services (CPC 86501+86502+86503+86504+86505+8	(1)	None	(1)	None	
6506+86509)	(2)	None	(2)	None	
	(3)	None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments, 100 per cent	(3)	None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments	
		foreign equity ownership allowed.	(4)	Unbound, except as specified in the	
	(4)	Unbound		horizontal commitments	
Telecommunications Services (CPC 75	52)		1		l .
a. International telecommunication	(1)	None, subject to licensing requirements	(1)	None	
services		and other provisions as per the Telecommunications Act No. 25 of	(2)	None	
b. Mobile cellular services		1991, Amendment No. 27 of 1996, and			
c. Internet services		other legislation, rules, regulations, and guidelines.	(3)	None, subject to conditions of the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission of Sri Lanka	
d. Data communication Services	(2)	None			
e. Satellite-based services	(3)	None, subject to licensing requirements and other provisions as per the Telecommunications Act No. 25 of	(4)	Unbound, subject to limitations indicated in horizontal commitments and subject to laws and regulations prevailing in Sri Lanka	
		1991, Amendment No. 27 of 1996, and other relevant legislation, rules, and			
		regulations. 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.			
	(4)	Unbound, subject to limitations			
		indicated in horizontal commitments			

Modes of Supply:	1) Cross-border supply	2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Sector or Sul	b-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	l	bject to laws and regulations ling in Sri Lanka.		
Financial Services				
A. Insurance and insu	rance related services			

General Conditions

Applicants should be incorporated as a public company under the Companies Act No.7 of 2007 and amendments thereof and registered / licensed as an insurer satisfying the requirements under the Regulation of Insurance Industry Act No.43 of 2000 (RII Act) and amendments thereof.

Supply of reinsurance under Modes 1 and 2 is subject to minimum rating requirement prescribed by the Insurance Regulatory Commission of Sri Lanka (IRCSL). Reinsurance companies with majority government ownership are exempted from the above rating requirement.

Reinsurance and retrocession: in terms of Section 31 (1A) of the RII Act, general insurer is required to cede 30 per cent of the liability sought to be reinsured with the National Insurance Trust Fund (NITF).

Insurance intermediation comprising broking and agency services: a license to function as insurance broker has to be obtained by the IRCSL and the applicant has to be a private/public company incorporated under the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007. Agent shall be registered either with insurer or broker.

Services auxillary to insurance, loss adjustors: a certificate of registration to function as a loss adjuster has to be obtained by the IRCSL and in terms of Section 89A of the Regulation of Insurance Industry Act No. 43 of 2000. Foreign loss adjuster (non-resident) could function as a loss adjuster in Sri Lanka, provided such function is being carried on with a person in Sri Lanka who has been duly registered as a loss adjuster with the IRCSL.

An insurance services sector movement of any natural person as intra-corporate transferee is subject to the guidelines issued by the IRCSL for employment of expatriate staff for insurance companies.

(a) Life insurance services, including annuity, disability	(a) 1.	Unbound	(a)	1.	Unbound	
income, accident, and health	2.	Unbound		2.	Unbound	
insurance services	3.	None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and general conditions above.  100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.		3.	None, except as specified in thehorizontal commitments and general conditions above	
		ownership anowed.				

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

1) Closs-00	Tuer suppry	*	<del></del>		) Commercial presence	1 Tesence of natural persons
Sector or Sub-sector		Limitations on Market Access			Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
(b) Non-life insurance services, including disability income, accident and health insurance and contracts, offidelity bonds, performance bonds or similar contracts of guarantee.	4. (b) 1. 2. 3.	Unbound, except freight and cargo insurance where insurance is taken by the importer/exporter in accordance with the contract  Unbound, except in respect of health insurance, where insurance could be taken from an insurer licensed or registered overseas irrespective of being registered with the IRCSL, provided that insurance is placed through a broker authorised by the IRCSL, further, in terms of Circular No. 7 of 2002, liability insurance (in respect of discharging for their duties) directors and employees of insurance companies could obtain foreign insurers.  None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and general conditions above. 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.  Unbound	(b)	1. 2. 3. 4.	Unbound  None, except as specified in the horizontal and general conditions above  Unbound	Commitments
	(c) 1.	Reinsurance companies considered for providing				

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Todas of Suppry.	order suppry 2) consumption accord	<u> </u>	) I resence of natural person
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
(c) Reinsurance andretrocession	reinsurance services in Sri Lanka, unbound except as specified in the horizontal commitments  2. Reinsurance subject to the extent mentioned above  3. Unbound  4. Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments	(c) 1. Unbound     2. Unbound     3. None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and general conditions above     4. Unbound	
(d) Insurance intermediation comprising broking and agency services	<ol> <li>(d) 1. None</li> <li>2. None</li> <li>3. None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and general conditions above, 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.</li> <li>4. Unbound, except as indicated in the horizontal commitments</li> </ol>	(d) 1. None 2. None 3. None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and general conditions above 4. Unbound	
(e) Services auxilliary to insurance comprising actuarial, loss adjustors average adjustors and consultancy services	(e) 1. None  2. None  3. None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and general conditions above. 100	(e) 1. None 2. None 3. None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments and	

Modes of Supply:	1) Cross-border supply	2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Modes of Supply.	11 Closs-poluci supply	2) consumption accura	5) Commercial presence	4) I leselice of hatural bersons

Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
	per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.	except for foreign loss adjusters as specified in the general conditions above	
	Unbound, except as indicated in the horizontal commitments	4. Unbound	

#### **Banking and Other Financial Services (excluding insurance)**

#### **General Conditions**

- 1. The terms of the offer in the banking and other financial services (excluding insurance) sub-sector are in accordance with GATS, the Annex on Financial Services, and the Understanding on Commitments in Financial Services. All the commitments are subject to entry requirements, domestic laws, rules and regulations, and the terms and conditions of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, the Board of Investment, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and any other competent authority in Sri Lanka, as the case may be, which are consistent with Article VI of GATS and paragraph 2 of the Annex on Financial Services.
- 2. Financial services in the form of operations identified in subparagraphs (a) through (l) in the Schedule can be carried out in Sri Lanka through a locally incorporated company or a branch of a commercial bank incorporated outside Sri Lanka, subject to compliance with the requirements stipulated above.
- 2.1 (a) Only a licensed commercial bank, a licensed specialised bank or a registered finance company may accept deposits. (b) Only a licensed commercial bank may accept deposits which are repayable upon demand.
- 2.2 Approval, registration, and licensing relating to banks and other financial institutions will be subject to an economic needs test.
- 2.3 The total foreign shareholding in any institution providing financial services is allowed up to 100 per cent of the issued share capital.

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
(a) Acceptance of deposits and other repayable funds from the public (b) Lending of all types, including, inter alia, consumer credit, mortgage credit, factoring and financing of commercial transactions (c) Financial leasing (d) All payment and money transmission services (e) Guarantees and commitments (f) Trading for own account or for account of customers, whether on an exchange, in an over-the-counter market or otherwise, the following: - money-market instruments (cheques, bills, certificates of deposits, etc.) - foreign exchange including but not limited to futures and options - exchange rate and interest rate instruments, including products such as swaps, forward rate agreements, etc transferable securities - other negotiable instruments and		I	
financial assets, including bullion.  (g) Participation in issues of all kinds of securities, including underwriting and placement as agent (whether publicly or privately) and provision of services related to such issues  (h) Money broking			

odes of Supply: 1) C	ross-border supply	2) Consumption aboard		3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural per
Sector or Sub-sector		Limitations on Market Access		Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
<ul> <li>(i) Asset management, such as caportfolio management, all for collective investment manage pension fund management, custodial depository, and trust services</li> <li>(j) Settlement and clearing services for financial services, including securities, derivative products other negotiable instruments</li> </ul>	es ag				
(k) Provision and transfer of fin- information, and financial processing and related softwa providers of other financial se (l) Advisory services on all the activities listed in	data services li through (I	nitments listed below apply to all sted under subparagraphs (k)	servi	commitments listed below apply to all ces listed under subparagraphs (k) gh (l).	
subparagraphs (a) through (k)	(1) No	ne, except as provided in the neral conditions	(1)	None, except as provided in the general conditions	
	1 ' '	ne, except as provided in the neral condition	(2)	None, except as provided in the general conditions	
	(3) As	specified in the general conditions	(3)	As specified in the general conditions.	
	` '	bound, except as specified in the izontal commitments.	(4)	Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments	
Transport by Sea going Vessels	CPC 721		-		
Rental services of sea-going vess with operator (CPC 7213)	els (1) Non	ne	(1)	None	

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-bo	der supply 2) Consumpt	ion aboard 3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural person
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Repair services of other transport equipment, on a fee or contract basis (CPC 88680)  Cargo handling services, incidental to maritime services (CPC 741)  Storage and warehouse services, incidental to maritime services (CPC 742)	<ul> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in horizontal commitments. 10 foreign equity ownership al</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except for measur concerning the entry and tenstay of business visitors and corporate transferees subject horizontal commitments</li> </ul>	horizontal commitments lowed.  (4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments horizontal commitments	
Construction Related Services CPC 51			1
General construction work for buildings (CPC 512)  General construction work for civil	<ul><li>(1) Unbound</li><li>(2) None</li></ul>	(1) Unbound (2) None	
engineering (CPC 513)  Installation and assembly work (CPC 514+516)  Building completion and finishing work (CPC 517)	(3) None, subject to joint venture minimum 60 per cent Sri La equity ownership and subject registration requirements un Construction Industry Deve Authority Act No. 33 of 20 amendments thereof, and such orizontal commitments	horizontal commitments  ct to hder the elopment  14 and  horizontal commitments  Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments	
	(4) Unbound		
Hotel and Restaurant Services CPC 64		I	-1
Hotels and restaurants (CPC 641-643), including catering and hotel	(1) None	(1) None	

Modes of Supply:

1) Cross-border supply

2) Consumption aboard

3) Commercial presence

4) Presence of natural persons

vioues of supply.	border supply 2) Consumption about	3) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural person
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
management services CPC 1.1: 63110**	<ul> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments. 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except for measures concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intracorporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ul>	
Travel agency and tour operator services (CPC 7471)	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None, subject to joint venture with minimum 60 per cent Sri Lankan equity participation and subject to horizontal commitments</li> <li>Unbound, except for measures concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intra-</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>(1) None</li> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ul>	
	corporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments		

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-	border supply 2) Consumption aboard	3) Commercial presence 4)	Presence of natural persons
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Tourist guide services (CPC 7472)	<ul><li>(1) None</li><li>(2) None</li><li>(3) Unbound</li><li>(4) Unbound</li></ul>	<ul><li>(1) None</li><li>(2) None</li><li>(3) Unbound</li><li>(4) Unbound</li></ul>	
Sports and other recreational service	es CPC 964		
Sports events promotion services (CPC 96411)  Sport events organisation services (CPC 96412)  Recreation park and beach services (CPC 96491)	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments. 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.</li> <li>Unbound, except for measures concerning the entry and temporary stay of business visitors and intracorporate transferees subject to horizontal commitments</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>(1) None</li> <li>(2) None</li> <li>(3) None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>(4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ul>	
<b>Environmental Services</b>			
Sewerage services for industrial establishments not run by the government (CPC 9401**)	(1) Unbound (2) None	(1) Unbound (2) None	
	(3) None, except for horizontal commitments and subject to	(3) None, except for horizontal commitments and subject to	

Modes of Supply: 1) Cross-border supply 2) Consumption aboard 3) Commercial presence 4) Presence of natural persons

Wiodes of Suppry. 1) Cross-60	ruer supply 2) Consumption about	5) Commercial presence	4) Presence of natural persons
Sector or Sub-sector	Limitations on Market Access	Limitations on National Treatment	Additional Commitments
Waste disposal services for industrial establishments not run by the Government (CPC 9402**)  Sanitation and similar services for industrial establishments not run by the Government (CPC 9403**)  Cleaning services of exhaust gases (CPC 9404)  Noise abatement services (CPC 9405)	regulations of Central Environmental Authority of Sri Lanka. In case of investments in North Western Province, approval of the North Western Provincial Environmental Authority is required. 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.  (4) Unbound	regulations of Central Environmental Authority of Sri Lanka  (4) Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments	
<b>Distribution Services</b>			
Franchising services (CPC 8929**)	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None</li> <li>None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments. 100 per cent foreign equity ownership allowed.</li> <li>Unbound</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>None</li> <li>None</li> <li>None, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> <li>Unbound, except as specified in the horizontal commitments</li> </ol>	

# CHAPTER 9 INVESTMENT

#### **Article 9.1: Definitions**

For the purposes of this Chapter:

- (a) **covered investment** means, with respect to a Party, an investment in its territory of an investor of the other Party in existence as of the date of entry into force of this Agreement or established, acquired, expanded or operated thereafter, which has been admitted and, where applicable, specifically approved in writing for protection by the competent authorities of the host Party, in accordance with its laws, regulations, and policies;
- (b) **freely usable currencies** means a freely usable currency as determined by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) under its Articles of Agreement and any amendments thereto, or any currency that is used to make international payments and is widely traded in international principal exchange markets;
- (c) **investments** means every kind of asset that an investor owns or controls, which has the characteristics of an investment, such as the commitment of capital or other resources, the expectation of gains or profits, or the assumption of risk. The forms that an investment may take include in particular:
  - (i) a juridical person;
- (ii) movable and immovable property, and any other property rights, such as leases, mortgages, liens, and pledges;<sup>2</sup>
- (iii) shares, stocks, and any other form of equity participation, excluding beneficial ownership, of a juridical person and rights derived therefrom;
- (iv) bonds and debentures of a juridical person and rights derived therefrom;
  - (v) returns reinvested;

Where an asset lacks the characteristics of an investment, that asset is not an investment regardless of the form it may take.

For greater certainty, market share, access to market, expected gains, and opportunities for profit making are not, by themselves, investments.

- (vi) claims to money and to any other rights to contractual performance having a financial value related to investment;<sup>3</sup>
- (vii) intellectual property rights which are recognised pursuant to the laws and regulations of the host Party;
- (viii) rights under contracts, including construction, management, production, or revenue-sharing contracts; and
- (ix) rights conferred pursuant to the laws and regulations of the host Party or contracts, such as concessions, licences, authorisations, and permits.

The term "investment" does not include an order or judgment, sought or entered in any judicial, administrative, or arbitral proceeding, including an arbitral award.

For the purposes of the definition of investment in this subparagraph, returns that are invested shall be treated as investments and any alteration of the form in which assets are invested or reinvested shall not affect their character as investments;

- (d) **investor of a Party** means a natural person of a Party,<sup>4</sup> or a juridical person of a Party recognised as a legal entity by the law of the other Party, that seeks to make,<sup>5</sup> is making an investment or has made a covered investment in the territory of the other Party;
- (e) **juridical person** means any entity constituted or organised under the applicable law of the host Party;<sup>6, 7, 8</sup>
- (f) **juridical person of a Party** means a juridical person constituted or otherwise organised under the laws and regulations of that Party and is engaged in substantive business operations in that Party;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For greater certainty, the term "investment" does not include claims to money that arise solely from: (a) commercial contracts for the sale of goods or services by a natural person or juridical person in the territory of a Party to a natural person or juridical person in the territory of the other Party; or

<sup>(</sup>b) the extension of credit in connection with a commercial transaction, such as trade financing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Natural persons who hold two or more nationalities shall be deemed to be exclusively nationals of the State of their dominant and effective nationality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For greater certainty, the Parties understand that an investor that "seeks to make" an investment refers to an investor of the other Party that has taken active steps to make an investment. Where a notification or approval process is required for making an investment, an investor that "seeks to make" an investment refers to an investor of the other Party that has initiated such notification or approval process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For greater certainty, a branch of a juridical person does not have any right to make any claim against any Party under this Agreement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For greater certainty, the inclusion of a "branch" in the definition of "juridical person" is without prejudice to a Party's ability to treat a branch under its law as an entity that has no independent legal existence and is not separately organised.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> A branch of a legal entity of a non-Party shall not be considered as a juridical person of a Party.

- (g) **measure** means any measure taken by a Party, whether in the form of a law, regulation, rule, procedure, decision or administrative action, and includes measures taken by:
  - (i) central, regional or local governments and authorities; and
- (ii) non-governmental bodies in the exercise of powers delegated by central, regional or local governments or authorities;
- (h) **natural person of a Party** means any natural person possessing the nationality or citizenship of that Party in accordance with its laws and regulations; and
- (i) **return** means an amount yielded by or derived from an investment, including profits, dividends, interest, capital gains, royalty payments, payments in connection with intellectual property rights, and all other lawful income.

## **Article 9.2: Scope and Coverage**

- 1. This Chapter shall apply to measures adopted or maintained by a Party relating to:
  - (a) investors of the other Party; and
  - (b) covered investments.
- 2. Nothing in this Chapter shall impose any obligation on either Party regarding measures pursuant to immigration laws and regulations.
- 3. This Chapter shall not apply to:
  - (a) government procurement;
- (b) subsidies or grants provided by a Party, including government supported loans, guarantees, insurance, and any conditions attached to the receipt or continued receipt of such subsidies or grants;
  - (c) services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority;
- (d) any taxation measure, except as provided for in Article 9.11 (Expropriation and Compensation) and Article 9.12 (Transfers); and
- (e) any measure adopted or maintained by a Party to the extent that it is covered by Chapter 8 (Trade in Services).
- 4. Notwithstanding subparagraph 3(e), Article 9.5 (Treatment of Investment), Article 9.6 (Compensation for Losses), Article 9.11 (Expropriation

and Compensation), Article 9.12 (Transfers), Article 9.13 (Subrogation), and Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the other Party) shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to any measure affecting the supply of a service by a service supplier of a Party through commercial presence in the territory of the other Party covered by Chapter 8 (Trade in Services), but only to the extent that any such measure relates to a covered investment and an obligation under this Chapter, regardless of whether such a service sector is scheduled in the Party's Schedule of Specific Commitments in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments – Thailand) or Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments – Sri Lanka).

- 5. For the purposes of liberalisation, this Chapter shall apply to investments, subject to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-conforming Measures), in the non-service sectors.
- 6. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, a Party shall not be prevented from taking measures for prudential reasons, including for the protection of investors, depositors, policy holders or persons to whom a fiduciary duty is owed by a financial service supplier, or to ensure the integrity and stability of the financial system or to ensure the stability of the exchange rate, including to prevent speculative capital flow. Where such measures are taken, they shall not be used as a means of avoiding the Party's commitments or obligations under this Agreement.
- 7. For greater certainty, the provisions of this Chapter do not impose any obligation on either Party in relation to any act or fact that took place, or any situation that ceased to exist, before the date of entry into force of this Agreement.

#### **Article 9.3: National Treatment**

- 1. Each Party shall accord to investors of the other Party, and to covered investments, treatment no less favourable than that it accords, in like circumstances, to its own investors and their investments with respect to the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation, and sale or other disposition of investments.
- 2. For greater certainty, whether treatment is accorded in "like circumstances" depends on the totality of the circumstances, including whether the relevant treatment distinguishes between investments of investors on the basis of legitimate public welfare objectives.

#### **Article 9.4: Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment**

- 1. Each Party shall accord to investors of the other Party, treatment no less favourable than that it accords, in like circumstances, to investors of a non-Party with respect to the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation, and sale or other disposition of investments in its territory.
- 2. Each Party shall accord to covered investments, treatment no less favourable than it accords, in like circumstances, to investments in its territory of investors of a non-Party with respect to the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation, and sale or other disposition of investments.
- 3. For greater certainty, whether treatment is accorded in "like circumstances" depends on the totality of the circumstances, including whether the relevant treatment distinguishes between investors or investments on the basis of legitimate public welfare objectives.
- 4. The treatment, as set forth in paragraphs 1 and 2, shall not include:
- (a) any preferential treatment accorded to investors or their investments under any existing bilateral, regional or international agreements, or any forms of economic or regional cooperation with any non-Party;
- (b) in the case of Thailand, any measure that accords preferential treatment to ASEAN Member States under any agreements between all ASEAN Member States, in force or signed after the date of entry into force of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, such agreements do not include agreements between ASEAN Member States and non-ASEAN Member States;
- (c) in the case of Sri Lanka, any measure that accords preferential treatment to SAARC Member States under any agreements between all SAARC Member States, in force or signed after the date of entry into force of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, such agreements do not include agreements between SAARC Member States and non-SAARC Member States;
- 5. For greater certainty, paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not be construed as granting to investors options or procedures for the settlement of disputes other than those set out in Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the other Party).

#### **Article 9.5: Treatment of Investment**

1. Each Party shall accord to covered investments of nationals or juridical persons of the other Party, fair and equitable treatment and full protection and security in its territory. No Party shall in any way impair by unreasonable or discriminatory measures the management, maintenance, use, enjoyment or disposal of investments in its territory of nationals or juridical persons of other Party. Each Party shall observe any obligation it may have entered into with regard to investments of nationals or juridical persons of the other Party.

## 2. For greater certainty:

- (a) "fair and equitable treatment" requires each Party not to deny justice in any legal, criminal, civil, administrative or adjudicatory proceedings in accordance with the principle of due process;
- (b) "full protection and security" requires each Party to take such measures as may be reasonably necessary to ensure the physical protection and security of the covered investments; and
- (c) the concepts of fair and equitable treatment and full protection and security in subparagraphs (a) and (b) do not require treatment in addition to or beyond that is required by the customary international law minimum standard of treatment of aliens,<sup>9</sup> and do not create additional substantive rights.
- 3. A determination that there has been a breach of another provision of this Agreement, or of a separate international agreement, does not establish that there has been a breach of this Article.

#### **Article 9.6: Compensation for Losses**

1. Each Party shall accord to investors of the other Party, whose covered investments suffered losses due to war or other armed conflict, state of national emergency, civil strife or other similar events in its territory, treatment no less favourable than that it accords, in like circumstances, to its own investors or investors of a non-Party, relating to restitution, indemnification, compensation or other forms of settlement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Customary international law results from a general and consistent practice of States that they follow from a sense of legal obligation. With regard to this Article, the customary international law minimum standard of treatment of aliens refers to all customary international law principles that protect the economic rights and interests of aliens.

- 2. Notwithstanding paragraph 1, if an investor of a Party, in the situations referred to in paragraph 1, suffers a loss in the territory of the other Party resulting from:
- (a) requisitioning of its investment or part thereof by the other Party's forces or authorities; or
- (b) destruction of its investment or part thereof by the other Party's forces or authorities, which was not required by the necessity of the situation, the other Party shall provide the investor restitution, compensation, or both, as appropriate, for such loss.

### **Article 9.7: Performance Requirements**

The provisions of the WTO Agreement on Trade-related Investments Measures (TRIMs), which are not specifically mentioned in or modified by this Agreement shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to this Agreement.

#### **Article 9.8: Senior Management and Boards of Directors**

- 1. A Party shall not require that a juridical person of that Party that is a covered investment, appoint to a senior management position a natural person of any particular nationality.
- 2. A Party may require that a majority of the board of directors, or any committee thereof, of a juridical person of that Party that is a covered investment, be of a particular nationality or resident in the territory of that Party, provided that the requirement does not materially impair the ability of the investor of the other Party to exercise control over its investment.
- 3. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Article shall be construed to limit a Party from exercising its rights as a shareholder.

#### **Article 9.9: Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures**

1. Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), and Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors), shall not apply to:

- (a) any existing non-conforming measure that is maintained by a Party at:
- (i) the central level of government, as set out by that Party in List A of its Schedule in Annex 9A (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Thailand) or Annex 9B (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Sri Lanka);
- (ii) a regional level of government, as set out by that Party in List A of its Schedule in Annex 9A (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Thailand) or Annex 9B (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Sri Lanka); or
  - (iii) a local level of government;
- (b) the continuation or prompt renewal of any non-conforming measure referred to in subparagraph (a); or
- (c) an amendment to any non-conforming measure referred to in subparagraph (a) to the extent that the amendment does not decrease the conformity of the measure, at the date of entry into force of this Agreement, with Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), and Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors).
- 2. Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), and Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors) shall not apply to any measure that a Party adopts or maintains with respect to sectors, subsectors, or activities, as set out by that Party in List B of its Schedule in Annex 9A (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Thailand) or Annex 9B (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Sri Lanka).
- 3. No Party shall, under any measure adopted after the date of entry into force of this Agreement and covered by List B of its Schedule in Annex 9A (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Thailand) or Annex 9B (Schedule of Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures for Investment Sri Lanka), require an investor of the other Party, by reason of its nationality, to sell or otherwise dispose of an investment that exists at the time the measure becomes effective, unless otherwise specified in the initial approval by the relevant authorities.

4. Article 9.3 (National Treatment) and Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment) shall not apply to any measure that falls within Article 5 of the TRIPS Agreement, and any measure that is covered by an exception to, or derogation from, the obligations imposed by Article 3 or 4 of the TRIPS Agreement.

## **Article 9.10: Transparency**

- 1. To achieve the objectives of this Chapter, each Party, to the extent possible, shall:
- (a) make publicly available all relevant laws, regulations, and administrative guidelines of general application that pertain to, or affect, investments in the territory of the Party;
- (b) promptly, and at least annually, inform the other Party of the introduction of any new law or of any changes to existing laws, regulations, or administrative guidelines of general application which significantly affect investments or commitments of a Party under this Chapter;
- (c) promptly, and at least annually, inform the other Party of any investment-related agreements or arrangements which it has entered into and where preferential treatment was granted; and
- (d) establish or designate an enquiry point where, upon request of any natural person or juridical person of the other Party, all information relating to the measures required to be published or made available under subparagraphs (b) and (c) may be promptly obtained.
- 2. Nothing in this Chapter shall require a Party to furnish or allow access to any confidential information, including information concerning particular investors or investments, the disclosure of which would impede law enforcement, or otherwise be contrary to the public interest, or which would prejudice legitimate commercial interests of particular juridical persons, public or private.

## **Article 9.11: Expropriation and Compensation**

1. A Party shall not nationalise or expropriate, either directly or through measures having effect equivalent to nationalisation or expropriation

(hereinafter referred to as "expropriation"),<sup>10</sup> a covered investment of an investor of the other Party, unless such a measure is taken on a nondiscriminatory basis, for a public purpose in accordance with due process of law, and upon payment of compensation in accordance with this Article.

- 2. The compensation referred to in paragraph 1 shall:
- (a) be equivalent to the fair market value of the expropriated investment at the time when, or immediately before, the expropriation was publicly announced, or when the expropriation occurred, whichever is applicable;
- (b) be effectively realisable and freely transferable in accordance with Article 9.12 (Transfers) between the territories of the Parties;
- (c) not reflect any change in value occurring, because the intended expropriation had become known earlier; and
  - (d) be paid without delay.<sup>11</sup>
- 3. In the event of delay, the compensation shall include an appropriate interest in accordance with the laws and regulations of the Party making the expropriation. The compensation, including any accrued interest, shall be payable either in the currency in which the investment was originally made or, if requested by the investor, in a freely usable currency.
- 4. If an investor requests payment in a freely useable currency, the compensation referred to in paragraphs 2 and 3 shall be converted into the currency of payment at the market rate of exchange prevailing on the date of payment.
- 5. This Article does not apply to the issuance of compulsory licenses granted in relation to intellectual property rights or to the revocation, limitation, or creation of intellectual property rights, to the extent that such issuance, revocation, limitation, or creation is consistent with Chapter 10 (Intellectual Property) and the TRIPS Agreement.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>11</sup> Parties understand that there may be legal and administrative processes that need to be observed before payment can be made.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For the avoidance of doubt, any measure of expropriation relating to land shall be as defined in the Party's respective existing domestic laws and regulations and any amendments thereto, and shall be for the purpose and upon payment of compensation in accordance with the aforesaid laws and regulations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For greater certainty, the Parties recognise that, for the purposes of this Article, the term "revocation" of intellectual property rights includes the cancellation or nullification of such rights, and the term "limitation" of intellectual property rights includes exceptions to such rights.

#### **Article 9.12: Transfers**

- 1. Each Party shall permit all transfers relating to a covered investment to be made freely and without delay into and out of its territory. Such transfers include:
  - (a) capital and additional amounts to maintain or increase an investment;
- (b) profits, capital gains, dividends, interest, royalty payments, technical assistance and technical and management fees, license fees, and other current income accruing from any covered investment;
- (c) proceeds from the total or partial sale or liquidation of any covered investment;
- (d) payments made under a contract relating to the covered investment, including a loan agreement;
- (e) payments made pursuant to Articles 9.6 (Compensation for losses) and Articles 9.11 (Expropriation and Compensation);
- (f) payments arising out of the settlement of a dispute by any means including adjudication, arbitration or the agreement of the parties to the dispute; and
- (g) earnings and other remuneration of personnel engaged from abroad in connection with the covered investment.
- 2. Each Party shall permit such transfers relating to a covered investment to be made in a freely usable currency at the market rate of exchange prevailing at the time of transfer.
- 3. Notwithstanding paragraphs 1 and 2, a Party may prevent or delay a transfer through the equitable, non-discriminatory, and good faith application of its laws and regulations relating to:
  - (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, or the protection of the rights of creditors;
  - (b) issuing, trading, or dealing in securities, futures, options, or derivatives;
  - (c) criminal or penal offences and the recovery of the proceeds of crime;
- (d) financial reporting or record keeping of transfers when necessary to assist law enforcement or financial regulatory authorities;
- (e) ensuring compliance with orders or judgments in judicial or administrative proceedings;
  - (f) taxation;
  - (g) social security, public retirement, or compulsory savings schemes;

- (h) severance entitlement of employees; and
- (i) requirement to register and satisfy other formalities imposed by the Central Bank and other relevant authorities of that Party.
- 4. Nothing in this Chapter shall affect the rights and obligations of a Party as a member of the IMF under its Articles of Agreement as may be amended, including the use of exchange actions which are in conformity with the Articles of Agreement as may be amended, provided that the Party shall not impose restrictions on any capital transactions inconsistently with its obligations under this Chapter regarding such transactions, except under Article 9.18 (Temporary Safeguard Measures) or at the request of the IMF.

#### **Article 9.13: Subrogation**

- 1. If a Party or its designated agency makes a payment to an investor of that Party under a guarantee, a contract of insurance or other form of indemnity that it has granted on non-commercial risk in respect of a covered investment, the other Party shall recognise the subrogation or transfer of any right or claim in respect of such investment. The subrogated or transferred right or claim shall not be greater than the original right or claim of the investor.
- 2. Where a Party or its designated agency has made a payment to an investor of that Party and has taken over rights and claims of the investor, that investor shall not, unless authorised to act on behalf of the Party or its designated agency making the payment, pursue those rights and claims against the other Party.
- 3. In the exercise of subrogated rights or claims, a Party or its designated agency exercising such rights or claims shall disclose the coverage of the claims arrangement with its investors to the other Party.

## **Article 9.14: Denial of Benefits**

1. A Party may deny the benefits of this Chapter to an investor of the other Party and to the investor's covered investments if the investor is a juridical person owned or controlled by a person of a non-Party or of the denying Party, and such juridical person has no substantive business operations in the territory of the other Party.

2. The denying Party shall, to the extent practicable, notify the other Party before denying the benefits. If the denying Party provides such notice, it shall consult with the other Party at the request of the other Party.

#### **Article 9.15: Promotion of Investment**

The Parties shall endeavour to promote and increase awareness of the Parties as an investment area, including through:

- (a) encouraging investments between the Parties;
- (b) organising investment promotion activities between the Parties;
- (c) promoting business matching events;
- (d) organising and supporting the organisation of various briefings and seminars on investment opportunities and on investment laws, regulations, and policies; and
- (e) conducting information exchanges on other issues of mutual concern relating to investment promotion.

#### **Article 9.16: Facilitation of Investment**

Subject to its laws and regulations, each Party shall endeavor to cooperate in investment facilitation between the Parties including through:

- (a) creating the necessary environment for all forms of investment;
- (b) simplifying procedures for investment applications and approvals;
- (c) promoting the dissemination of investment information, including investment rules, laws, regulations, policies, and procedures; and
- (d) establishing or maintaining either contact points, one-stop investment centres, focal points or other entities in the respective host Party to provide assistance and advisory services to investors, including the facilitation of operating licences and permits.

## Article 9.17: Special Formalities and Treatment of Information

1. Nothing in Article 9.4 (National Treatment) shall be construed to prevent a Party from adopting or maintaining a measure that prescribes special formalities in connection with covered investments, such as a requirement that

covered investments be legally constituted under its laws or regulations, provided that such formalities do not materially impair the protections afforded by that Party to investors of the other Party and investments pursuant to this Chapter.

2. Notwithstanding Article 9.4 (National Treatment) and Article 9.5 (Most-Favoured Nation Treatment), a Party may require an investor of the other Party or its covered investment, to provide information concerning that investment solely for informational or statistical purposes. The Party shall protect such business information that is confidential from any disclosure that would prejudice the competitive position of the investor or the investment. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to prevent a Party from otherwise obtaining or disclosing information in connection with the equitable and good faith application of its law.

## **Article 9.18: Temporary Safeguard Measures**

- 1. A Party may adopt or maintain restrictions on payments or transfers related to covered investments as defined in Article 9.1 (Definitions) in the event that it is in serious balance of payments and external financial difficulties or under threat thereof, or where, in exceptional circumstances, movements of capital cause or threaten to cause serious difficulties for macroeconomic management, in particular, monetary and exchange rate policies.
- 2. Such restrictions shall be applied on a non-discriminatory basis such that the other Party is treated no less favourably than any non-Party and be applied in good faith so as to avoid unnecessary damage to the commercial, economic, and financial interests of the other Party.
- 3. The duration of the restrictions stipulated in paragraph 1 shall not exceed those necessary to deal with the circumstances described in paragraph 1, provided that such restrictions are consistent with the IMF Articles of Agreement.
- 4. Such restrictions shall be temporary and be phased out progressively as the situation specified in paragraph 1 improves.
- 5. Where such restrictions are adopted or maintained, they shall not be used as a means of avoiding the Party's commitments or obligations under this Chapter or under the IMF Articles of Agreement.

## **Article 9.19: General Exceptions**

Subject to the requirement that such measures are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between the Parties or their investors where like conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on investors or investments made by investors of the other Party, nothing in this Chapter shall be construed to prevent the adoption or enforcement by any Party of measures:

- (a) necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order;<sup>13</sup>
- (b) necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health;<sup>14</sup>
- (c) necessary to secure compliance with laws or regulations which are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Chapter including those relating to:
- (i) the prevention of deceptive and fraudulent practices or to deal with the effects of a default on contracts;
- (ii) the protection of the privacy of individuals in relation to the processing and dissemination of personal data and the protection of confidentiality of individual records and accounts; or
  - (iii) safety;
- (d) imposed for the protection of national treasures of artistic, historic or archaeological value; or
  - (e) relating to the conservation of exhaustible natural resources.<sup>15</sup>

## **Article 9.20: Security Exceptions**

- 1. For the purposes of this Chapter, nothing in this Chapter shall be construed:
- (a) to require a Party to furnish any information, the disclosure of which it considers contrary to its essential security interests;
- (b) to prevent a Party from taking any actions which it considers necessary for the protection of its essential security interests including:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The public order exception may be invoked only where a genuine and sufficiently serious threat is posed to one of the fundamental interests of society. For greater certainty, the Parties understand that the fundamental interests of society include the maintenance of religious harmony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The Parties understand that the measures referred to in sub-paragraph (b) include environmental measures necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The Parties understand that the measures referred to in sub-paragraph (e) applies to the measures necessary to conserve living and non-living exhaustible natural resources.

- (i) relating to fissionable and fusionable materials or the materials from which they are derived;
- (ii) relating to the traffic in arms, ammunition and implements of war and to such traffic in other goods and materials, or relating to the supply of services, as carried on directly or indirectly for the purpose of supplying or provisioning a military establishment;
- (iii) taken to protect critical public infrastructures, including communication, power and water infrastructures, from deliberate attempts intended to disable or degrade such infrastructures;
- (iv) taken in time of national emergency or war or other emergency in international relations; or
- (c) to prevent a Party from taking any action in pursuance of its obligations under the United Nations Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security.
- 2. A Party that takes actions under subparagraph 1(b) or (c) shall inform the other Party to the fullest extent possible of the actions taken and of their termination.

#### **Article 9.21: Term of Bilateral Investment Treaty**

- 1. Subject to paragraph 2, the Parties agree that the Agreement between the Government of the Kingdom of Thailand and the Government of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka Concerning the Promotion and Protection of Investments, signed at Bangkok, Thailand, on 3 May 1996 ("BIT"), as well as all the rights and obligations derived from the said agreement, shall cease to have effect on the date of entry into force of this Agreement.
- 2. Any and all investments made pursuant to the BIT before the entry into force of this Agreement will be governed by the said BIT regarding any matter arising while the BIT was in force. An investor may only submit an arbitration claim pursuant to the BIT regarding any matter arising while the BIT was in force, pursuant to the rules and procedures established in it, and provided that no more than three years have elapsed since the date of entry into force of this Agreement.

## **Article 9.22: Corporate Social Responsibility**

Each Party should encourage investors operating within its territory or subject to its jurisdiction to voluntarily incorporate into their internal policies, those internationally recognised standards, guidelines, and principles of corporate social responsibility that have been endorsed or are supported by that Party.

#### **Article 9.23: Committee on Investment**

- 1. The Parties hereby establish a Committee on Investment with a view to accomplishing the objectives of this Chapter. The functions of the Committee shall be to:
  - (a) discuss and review the implementation and operation of this Chapter;
- (b) exchange information on, and discuss investment-related matters within, the scope of this Chapter which relate to the improvement of investment environment;
- (c) consider any issues raised by either Party concerning investment agreements; and
  - (d) discuss any other investment-related matters concerning this Chapter.
- 2. The Committee shall meet as agreed by the Parties.
- 3. Any dispute arising out of the interpretation, implementation, or application of this Chapter, shall be referred to the Committee without prejudice to Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the Other Party), and the Committee shall seek to resolve disputes that may arise in areas covered by this Chapter.

# Article 9.24: Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the Other Party

#### **Scope and Definitions**

1. This Article shall apply to disputes between a Party and an investor of the other Party concerning an alleged breach of an obligation of the former under Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nations Treatment), Article 9.5 (Treatment of Investment), Article 9.6 (Compensation for Losses), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors), Article 9.11 (Expropriation and

Compensation), Article 9.12 (Transfers), and Article 9.13 (Subrogation) which causes loss or damage to the investor in relation to its covered investment or the covered investment that has been made by that investor with respect to the management, conduct, operation, sale or other disposition of such covered investment.

## 2. This Article shall not apply to:

- (a) pre-investment activities and expenditures relating to admission, establishment, acquisition, or expansion;
- (b) disputes arising out of events which occurred prior to the entry into force of this Agreement;
- (c) disputes where the disputing investor holds the nationality or citizenship of the disputing Party; and
- (d) disputes arising out of an investment which has not been made in good faith and has not been made in accordance with domestic laws and regulations.
- 3. A claim with respect to public debt shall be subject to this Article and Annex 9C (Public Debt).
- 4. For the purposes of this Article:

### (a) Appointing Authority means:

- (i) in the case of arbitration under subparagraph 8(a), the Secretary-General of the Permanent Court of Arbitration; or
  - (ii) any person as agreed between the disputing parties;
- (b) **disputing Party** means a Party against which a claim is made under this Article;
  - (c) **disputing party** means a disputing investor or a disputing Party;
  - (d) **disputing parties** means a disputing investor and a disputing Party;
- (e) **disputing investor** means an investor of a Party that makes a claim against the other Party on its own behalf under this Article and, where relevant, includes an investor of a Party that makes a claim on behalf of a juridical person of the disputing Party that the investor owns or controls according to business registration record in the host country and the claim shall only be limited to the proportion of the equity owned;

- (f) **ICSID** means the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes;
- (g) **ICSID Additional Facility Rules** means the Rules Governing the Additional Facility for the Administration of Proceedings by the Secretariat of the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes;
- (h) **ICSID Convention** means the Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes between States and National of other States, done at Washington on 18 March 1965;
- (i) **New York Convention** means the United Nations Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards, done at New York on 10 June 1958:
  - (j) **non-disputing Party** means the Party of the disputing investor; and
- (k) **UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules** means the arbitration rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, approved by the United Nations General Assembly on 15 December 1976.

#### **Consultations**

- 5. In the event of an investment dispute referred to in paragraph 1, the disputing parties shall, as far as possible, resolve the dispute through consultations with a view towards reaching an amicable settlement. Such consultations may include the use of non-binding, third party procedures, and shall be initiated by a written request for consultations delivered by the disputing investor to the disputing Party.
- 6. With the objective of resolving an investment dispute through consultations, a disputing investor shall provide the disputing Party, prior to the commencement of consultations, with information regarding the legal and factual basis for the investment dispute.

### Claim by an Investor of a Party

- 7. If an investment dispute has not been resolved within 180 days after the date of receipt by a disputing Party of a request for consultations, the disputing investor may submit to conciliation or arbitration a claim:
- (a) that the disputing Party has breached an obligation arising under Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nations treatment), Article 9.5 (Treatment of Investment), Article 9.6 (Compensation for Losses), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), Article 9.8 (Senior

Management and Board of Directors), Article 9.11 (Expropriation and Compensation), Article 9.12 (Transfers), or Article 9.13 (Subrogation) relating to the management, conduct, operation, sale or other disposition of a covered investment; and

(b) that the covered investment has incurred loss or damage by reason of, or arising out of, that breach.

## **Submission of a Claim**

- 8. A disputing investor may submit a claim referred to in paragraph 7 at the choice of the disputing investor:
  - (a) under the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules; or
- (b) if the disputing parties agree, to any other arbitration institution or under any other arbitration rules,

provided that resort to one of the fora under subparagraphs (a) and (b) shall exclude resort to any other forum.

- 9. A claim shall be deemed submitted to arbitration under this Section when the disputing investor's notice of or request for arbitration made in accordance with paragraph 12 is received under the applicable arbitration rules.
- 10. The arbitration rules applicable under subparagraphs 8(a) and (b), as in effect on the date on which the claim or claims were submitted to arbitration under this Section shall govern the arbitration, except to the extent modified by this Article.
- 11. In relation to a specific investment dispute or class of disputes, the applicable arbitration rules may be waived, varied or modified by written agreement between the disputing parties. Such rules shall be binding on the relevant tribunal or tribunals established pursuant to this Section, and on individual arbitrators serving on such tribunals.
- 12. The disputing investor shall provide with the notice of arbitration:
  - (a) the name of the arbitrator that the disputing investor appoints; or
- (b) the disputing investor's written consent for the Appointing Authority to appoint that arbitrator.

## **Conditions and Limitations on Submission of a Claim**

- 13. The submission of a dispute as provided for in paragraph 7 to conciliation or arbitration under subparagraphs 8(a) and (b) in accordance with this Article, shall be conditional upon:
- (a) the submission of the investment dispute to such conciliation or arbitration taking place within three years after the date on which the disputing investor became aware, or should reasonably have become aware, of a breach of an obligation referred to in subparagraph 7(a) causing loss or damage to the investor in relation to its covered investment or the covered investment that has been made by that investor;
- (b) the disputing investor providing written notice, which shall be submitted at least 90 days before the claim is submitted, to the disputing Party of its intent to submit the investment dispute to such conciliation or arbitration, and which briefly summarises the alleged breach of the disputing Party, including the provisions of this Chapter alleged to have been breached, and the loss or damage allegedly caused to the disputing investor or a covered investment;
- (c) the notice of arbitration being accompanied by the disputing investor's written waiver of its right to initiate or continue any proceedings before the courts or administrative tribunals of either Party, other dispute settlement procedures, or any proceeding with respect to any measure alleged to constitute a breach referred to in paragraph 7.
- 14. Notwithstanding subparagraph 13(c), no Party shall prevent the disputing investor from initiating or continuing an action that seeks interim measures of protection for the sole purpose of preserving its rights and interests and that does not involve the payment of damages or resolution of the substance of the matter in dispute, before the courts or administrative tribunals of the disputing Party.
- 15. No Party shall give diplomatic protection, or bring an international claim, in respect of a dispute which has been submitted to conciliation or arbitration under this Section, unless the other Party has failed to abide by and comply with the award rendered in such a dispute. Diplomatic protection, for the purposes of this paragraph, shall not include informal diplomatic exchanges for the sole purpose of facilitating a settlement of the dispute.

16. A disputing Party shall not assert, as a defence, counter-claim, right of set off or otherwise, that the disputing investor or the covered investment has received or will receive, pursuant to an insurance or guarantee contract, indemnification or other compensation for all or part of any alleged loss.

## **Selection of Arbitrators**

- 17. Unless the disputing parties otherwise agree, the tribunal shall comprise of three arbitrators:
  - (a) one arbitrator appointed by each of the disputing parties; and
- (b) the third arbitrator, who shall be the presiding arbitrator, appointed by agreement of the disputing parties, shall be a national of a non-Party which has diplomatic relations with the disputing Party and non-disputing Party, and shall not have permanent residence in either the disputing Party or non-disputing Party.
- 18. Arbitrators shall have expertise or experience in public international law, international trade, or international investment rules, and be independent of, and not be affiliated with or take instructions from the disputing Party, the non-disputing Party or the disputing investor.
- 19. The Appointing Authority shall serve as an appointing authority for arbitration under this Section.
- 20. If a tribunal has not been constituted within 75 days after the date that a claim is submitted to arbitration under this Article, the Appointing Authority, on the request of a disputing party, shall appoint, in his or her discretion, the arbitrator or arbitrators not yet appointed.
- 21. The disputing parties may establish rules relating to expenses incurred by the tribunal, including arbitrator's remuneration.
- 22. Where any arbitrator appointed as provided for in this Section resigns or becomes unable to act, a successor shall be appointed in the same manner as prescribed for the appointment of the original arbitrator, and the successor shall have all the powers and duties of the original arbitrator.

## **Consolidation**

23. Where two or more claims have been submitted separately to arbitration under paragraph 7, and the claims have a question of law or fact in common and arise out of the same or similar events or circumstances, all disputing parties may agree to consolidate those claims in any manner they deem appropriate.

## **Conduct of the Arbitration**

- 24. Where issues relating to jurisdiction or admissibility are raised as preliminary objections, a tribunal shall decide on the matter before proceeding to the merits.
- 25. A disputing Party may, no later than 45 days after the constitution of the tribunal, file an objection that a claim is manifestly without merit. A disputing Party may also file an objection that a claim is otherwise outside the jurisdiction or competence of the tribunal. The disputing Party shall specify as precisely as possible the basis for the objection.
- 26. The tribunal shall address any such objection as a preliminary question apart from the merits of the claim. The disputing parties shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present their views and observations to the tribunal. If the tribunal decides that the claim is manifestly without merit, or is otherwise not within the jurisdiction or competence of the tribunal, it shall render an award to that effect.
- 27. The tribunal may, if warranted, award the prevailing party reasonable costs and fees incurred in submitting or opposing the objection. In determining whether such an award is warranted, the tribunal shall consider whether either the claim or the objection was frivolous or manifestly without merit, and shall provide the disputing parties a reasonable opportunity to comment.

#### **Place of Arbitration**

- 28. Unless the disputing parties otherwise agree, the tribunal shall determine the seat of arbitration in accordance with the applicable arbitration rules, provided that the seat place shall be in the territory of a State that is a party to the New York Convention.<sup>16</sup>
- 29. Unless the disputing parties otherwise agree, the venue of arbitration shall be in the territory of either Party.
- 30. Where an investor claims that the disputing Party has breached Article 9.11 (Expropriation and Compensation) by the adoption or enforcement of a taxation measure, the disputing Party and the non-disputing Party shall, upon request from the disputing Party, hold consultations with a view to determine whether the taxation measure in question has an effect equivalent to expropriation or nationalisation. Any tribunal that may be established pursuant to this Article shall accord serious consideration to the decision of both Parties under this paragraph.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The tribunal shall take into consideration that the English language is the preferred language of the Parties in determining the seat of arbitration.

31. If both Parties fail either to initiate consultations referred to in paragraph 30, or to determine whether such taxation measure has an effect equivalent to expropriation or nationalisation within the period of 180 days after the date of the receipt of request for consultations referred to in paragraphs 5 and 6, the disputing investor shall not be prevented from submitting its claim to arbitration in accordance with this Article.

## **Transparency of Arbitral Proceedings**

- 32. Subject to paragraphs 33 and 34, the disputing Party may make publicly available all awards and decisions produced by the tribunal.
- 33. Any of the disputing parties that intend to use information designated as confidential information in a hearing shall so advise the tribunal. The tribunal shall make appropriate arrangements to protect the information from disclosure.
- 34. Any information specifically designated as confidential that is submitted to the tribunal or the disputing parties, shall be protected from disclosure to the public.
- 35. A disputing party may disclose to persons directly connected with the arbitral proceedings such confidential information as it considers necessary for the preparation of its case, but it shall require that such confidential information is protected.
- 36. The tribunal shall not require a Party to furnish or allow access to information the disclosure of which would impede law enforcement or would be contrary to the Party's laws protecting Cabinet confidences, personal privacy or the financial affairs and accounts of individual customers of financial institutions, or which it determines to be contrary to its essential security.
- 37. The non-disputing Party shall be entitled, at its cost, to receive from the disputing Party a copy of the notice of arbitration, no later than 30 days after the date that such document has been delivered to the disputing Party. The disputing Party shall notify the other Party of the receipt of the notice of arbitration within 30 days thereof.

## **Governing Law**

38. Subject to paragraphs 39 and 40, when a claim is submitted under paragraph 7, the tribunal shall decide on the issues in dispute in accordance with this Agreement, any other applicable agreements between the Parties, any relevant rules of international law applicable in the relations between the Parties, and, where applicable, any relevant law of the disputing Party.

- 39. The tribunal shall, on its own account or at the request of a disputing party, request a joint interpretation of any provision of this Agreement that is at issue in a dispute. The Parties shall submit in writing any joint decision declaring their interpretation to the tribunal within 60 days after the delivery of the request. Without prejudice to paragraph 40, if the Parties fail to issue such a decision within 60 days, any interpretation submitted by a Party shall be forwarded to the disputing parties and the tribunal, which shall decide on the issue on its own account.
- 40. A joint decision of the Parties declaring their interpretation of a provision of this Agreement shall be binding on a tribunal, and any decision or award issued by a tribunal must be consistent with that joint decision.

### **Awards**

- 41. Where a tribunal makes a final award against either of the disputing parties, the tribunal may award, separately or in combination, only:
  - (a) monetary damages and any applicable interest; and
- (b) restitution of property, in which case the award shall provide that the disputing Party may pay monetary damages and any applicable interest in lieu of restitution.
- 42. A tribunal may also award costs and attorney's fees in accordance with this Article and the applicable arbitration rules.
- 43. A tribunal may not award punitive damages.
- 44. An award made by a tribunal shall be final and binding upon the disputing parties. An award shall have no binding force except between the disputing parties and in respect of the particular case.
- 45. Subject to paragraph 46 and the applicable review procedure for an interim award, a disputing party shall abide by and comply with an award without delay.<sup>17</sup>
- 46. A disputing party may not seek enforcement of a final award until:
  - (a) in the case of a final award under the ICSID Convention:
- (i) 120 days have elapsed from the date the award was rendered and no disputing party has requested revision or annulment of the award; or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The Parties understand that there may be domestic legal and administrative processes that need to be observed before an award can be complied with.

- (ii) revision or annulment proceedings have been completed;
- (b) in the case of a final award under the ICSID Additional Facility Rules, the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules, or the rules selected pursuant to subparagraph 8(b):
- (i) 90 days have elapsed from the date the award was rendered and no disputing party has commenced a proceeding to revise, set aside, or annul the award; or
- (ii) a court has dismissed or allowed an application to revise, set aside, or annul the award and there is no further appeal.
- 47. Each Party shall provide for the enforcement of an award in its territory.

#### **ANNEX 9A**

# SCHEDULE OF RESERVATIONS AND NON-CONFORMING MEASURES FOR INVESTMENT

#### **THAILAND**

#### LIST A

## **Explanatory Notes**

- 1. This Schedule is made pursuant to Chapter 9 (Investment) only. Any commitment of Thailand made pursuant to Chapter 8 (Trade in Services) is found in Thailand's Schedule in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments Thailand).
- 2. For the purposes of liberalisation, Chapter 9 (Investment) shall apply to investment, subject to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), in the following non-service sectors:
  - (a) manufacturing;
  - (b) agriculture;
  - (c) fisheries;
  - (d) forestry; and
  - (e) mining and quarrying.
- 3. List A sets out, pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), Thailand's measures that do not conform to the obligations under:
  - (a) Article 9.3 (National Treatment);
  - (b) Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment);
  - (c) Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements); or
  - (d) Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors).

- 4. List A and List B, pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), follow the negative list with two-list approach as follows:
- (a) List A sets out commitments in relation to existing non-conforming measures. Paragraph 1 of Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures) applies to this List only; and
- (b) List B sets out policy flexibility in relation to measures in sectors, subsectors, and activities.
- 5. Thailand may add, withdraw or modify any of its reservations as set out in List A for a period of 24 months from the date of entry into force of this Agreement, provided that relevant non-conforming measure is in existence as of that date. Any such addition, withdrawal or modification will be notified to Sri Lanka, including the relevant laws and regulations. Such reservation shall be deemed to be part of this Schedule upon such notification.
- 6. Each entry in List A sets out the following elements, where applicable:
  - (a) **Sector** refers to the sector or sectors for which an entry is made;
- (b) **Subsector** refers to the specific industries, products, and activities for which the entry is made;
- (c) **Industry Classification** refers to the activity covered by the entry, according to the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) Revision 4.

As necessary and appropriate, Thailand may specify the exact coverage of the entry if the entry does not exactly conform to the classification system;

- (d) **Level of Government** specifies the level of government (e.g., Central or Regional) maintaining the measure for which the entry is made;
- (e) **Type of Obligation** refers to the obligations of Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements) or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors), as the case may be, which does not apply to the listed measure;
- (f) **Description of Measure** describes measures that do not conform to Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors) for which the entry is made; and

- (g) **Source of Measure** is identified for transparency purposes only, for existing measures that apply to the sector, subsector, or activity covered by the entry.
- 7. In the interpretation of any entry, all elements of the entry shall be considered. The Description of Measure element shall prevail over all other elements.
- 8. These Explanatory Notes form an integral part of List A.

1.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	·	In the case where the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order is of opinion that it is necessary for the benefit of reform in any field and to strengthen public unity and harmony, or for the prevention, disruption, or suppression of any act which undermines public peace and order or national security, the Monarchy, national economy or administration of State affairs, whether that act emerges inside or outside Thailand, the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order shall have the powers to make any order to disrupt or suppress regardless of the legislative, executive, or judicial force of that order. In this case, that order, act or any performance in accordance with that order is deemed to be legal, constitutional and conclusive, and it shall be reported to the National Legislative Assembly and the Prime Minister without delay.
			In the event of the occurrence of an emergency situation and the Prime Minister considers that it is appropriate to use the force of administrative officials or police officers, civil officials or military officers to jointly provide assistance, prevent, remedy, suppress, withhold the emergency situation, rehabilitate or provide assistance to the people, the Prime Minister, upon

			the approval of the Council of Ministers, is empowered to declare an emergency situation applicable to the whole country or in some area or locality as necessary for the situation.
	Source of Measure	•	<ul> <li>Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand B.E. 2560 (2017)</li> <li>Martial Law B.E. 2457 (1914), as amended</li> <li>Emergency Decree on Public Administration in Emergency Situation B.E. 2548 (2005), as amended</li> <li>Internal Security Act B.E. 2551(2008), as amended</li> </ul>
2.	Sector	•	Manufacturing
	Subsector	:	Playing cards
	Industry Classification	:	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	No natural person or juridical person is allowed to produce or import playing cards, except receiving approval from the Director General of Excise Department.
	Source of Measure	•	<ul> <li>Playing Cards Act B.E. 2486 (1943), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation</li> <li>Excise Act B.E. 2560 (2017), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation</li> </ul>
3.	Sector	:	Manufacturing
	Subsector	•	Manufacturing of notes and minting

Industry Classification	•	-
Level of Government	•	All levels
Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	•	Only the Bank of Thailand has the right and authority to print, manage, and issue the notes of the Government of Thailand under the law governing the Bank of Thailand.
		Only the Ministry of Finance has the right and authority to mint and put coins into circulation.
		No person shall make, issue, use, or put into circulation any material or token for money except by authorisation from the Minister of Finance.
Source of Measure	•	Currency Act B.E. 2501 (1958), as amended

4.	Sector	•	Manufacturing
	Subsector	•	Manufacturing of lottery
	Industry Classification	•	_
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Only the Government Lottery Office is authorised to produce, manage, and distribute the lottery in Thailand.
	Source of Measure	•	The Government Lottery Office Act B.E. 2517 (1974), as amended

5.	Sector	•	Manufacturing
	Subsector	•	Manufacturing of tobacco products
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment
	Description of Measure	•	Only the Tobacco Authority of Thailand is allowed to produce tobacco products.
	Source of Measure	•	Tobacco Authority of Thailand Act B.E. 2561 (2018), as amended

### LIST B

## **EXPLANATORY NOTES**

- 1. This Schedule is made pursuant to Chapter 9 (Investment) only. Any commitment of Thailand made pursuant to Chapter 9 (Trade in Services) is found in Thailand's Schedule in Annex 8A (Schedule of Specific Commitments).
- 2. For the purposes of liberalisation, Chapter 9 (Investment) shall apply to investment, subject to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), in the following non-service sectors:
  - (i) manufacturing;
  - (ii) agriculture;
  - (iii) fishery;
  - (iv) forestry; and
  - (v) mining and quarrying.
- 3. List B sets out, pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), Thailand's measures that do not conform to the obligations under:
  - (a) Article 9.3 (National Treatment);
  - (b) Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment);
  - (c) Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements); or
  - (d) Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors).
- 4. List A and List B, pursuant to Article XX.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures) follow the negative list with two-list approach as follows:
- (a) List A sets out commitments in relation to existing non-conforming measures. Paragraph 1 of Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures) applies to this List only; and
- (b) List B sets out policy flexibility in relation to measures in sectors, subsectors, and activities.
- 5. Each entry in List B sets out the following elements, where applicable:

- (a) **Sector** refers to the sector or sectors for which an entry is made;
- (b) **Subsector** refers to the specific industries, products, and activities for which the entry is made;
- (c) **Industry Classification** refers to the activity covered by the entry, according to the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) Revision 4.

As necessary and appropriate, Thailand may specify the exact coverage of the entry if the entry does not exactly conform to the classification system;

- (d) **Level of Government** specifies the level of government (e.g., Central or Regional) maintaining the measure for which the entry is made;
- (e) **Type of Obligation** refers to the obligations of Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements) or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors), as the case may be, which does not apply to the listed measure;
- (f) **Description of Measure** describes measures that do not conform to Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors) for which the entry is made; and
- (g) **Source of Measure** is identified for transparency purposes only, for existing measures that apply to the sector, subsector, or activity covered by the entry.
- 6. In the interpretation of any entry, all elements of the entry shall be considered. The Description of Measure element shall prevail over all other elements.
- 7. These Explanatory Notes form an integral part of List B.

1.	Sector	•	Agriculture			
	Subsector	•	-			
	Industry Classification	•	-			
	Level of Government	•	All levels			
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors			
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to agriculture.			
	Source of Measure	•	-			

2.	Sector	•	Fisheries			
	Subsector	•	-			
	Industry Classification	•	-			
	Level of Government	•	All levels			
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors			
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to fisheries.			
	Source of Measure	•	-			

3.	Sector	•	Forestry		
	Subsector	•	-		
	Industry Classification	•	-		
	Level of Government	•	All levels		
	Type of Obligation	•	All levels  National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors		
	Description of Measure	•	measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to forest plantation and the		
	Source of Measure	•	<ul> <li>Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation</li> <li>Natural Reserved Forest Act B.E. 2507 (1964), as amended</li> <li>Commercial Forest Plantation Act B.E. 2535 (1992), as amended</li> </ul>		

4.	Sector	•	Mining and Quarrying  - All levels			
	Subsector	•	-			
	Industry Classification	•	-			
	Level of Government	•	All levels			
	Type of Obligation	·	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors			
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to mining and quarrying.			
	Source of Measure	•	-			

5.	Sector	•	Energy			
	Subsector	•	-			
	Industry Classification	•	-			
	Level of Government	•	All levels			
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors			
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to energy.			
	Source of Measure	•	-			

6.	Sector	•	Manufacturing
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	_
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment
			Performance Requirements
			Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in all manufacturing sectors, except for subsectors below, a foreigner <sup>1</sup> is allowed to obtain up to 100 per cent of registered capital:
			<ul> <li>Processing and preserving of meat (ISIC 1010);</li> <li>Processing and preserving of fish, crustaceans</li> </ul>
			<ul><li>and molluscs (ISIC 1020);</li><li>Processing and preserving of fruit and vegetables (ISIC 1030);</li></ul>
			- Manufacture of dairy products (ISIC 1050);
			- Manufacture of starches and starch products (ISIC 1062);
			- Manufacture of macaroni (ISIC 1074);
			- Preparation and spinning of textile fibres, except any activity relating to production, weaving or printing of Thai silk (ISIC 1311);
		***************************************	- Finishing of textiles, except any activity relating to production, weaving or printing of Thai silk (ISIC 1313);
			- Manufacture of luggage, handbags and the like, saddlery and harness (ISIC 1512);

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the purposes of this entry, the definition of "foreigner" shall be in accordance with the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999).

- Manufacture of rubber tyres and tubes (ISIC 2211);
- Manufacture of other rubber products (ISIC 2219);
- Manufacture of plastics products (ISIC 2220);
- Manufacture of electronic components and boards (ISIC 2610);
- Manufacture of peripheral equipment (ISIC 2620);
- Manufacture of television monitors and displays, radio receivers, video cassette recorders and duplicating equipment (ISIC 2640);
- Manufacture of watches and clocks (ISIC 2652);
- Manufacture of electric motors, generators, transformers and electricity distribution and control apparatus (ISIC 2710);
- Manufacture of other electronic and electric wires and cables (ISIC 2732);
- Manufacture of electric lighting equipment (ISIC 2740);
- Manufacture of domestic appliances (ISIC 2750);
- Manufacture of office machinery and equipment (except computers and peripheral equipment) (ISIC 2817);
- Manufacture of industrial robots performing multiple tasks for special purposes (Part of ISIC 2829 Manufacture of other specialpurpose machinery);
- Manufacture of motor vehicles (ISIC 2910);
- Manufacture of parts and accessories for motor vehicles (ISIC 2930);
- Manufacture of aircraft and spacecraft (ISIC 3030);
- Manufacture of railway locomotives and rolling stock (ISIC 3020);

			Manufacture of furniture (ISIC 3100), except product of wood carving furniture;  Manufacture of sports goods (ISIC 3230);  Manufacture of medical and surgical equipment and orthopaedic appliances (ISIC 3250); and  Manufacture of green food packaging.
Source of Measure	:	-	

7.	Sector	•	All new sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	:	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure relating to a sector or subsector which is specified as "not elsewhere classified (n.e.c.)" in ISIC Revision 4 at the date of entry into force of this Agreement.
	Source of Measure	•	-

8.	Sector	:	All sectors
	Subsector		-
	Industry Classification	:	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment
	Description of Measure	•	A foreign national or a domestic company which is deemed foreigner <sup>2</sup> is not allowed to purchase or own land in Thailand. However, it may lease or hire land and own building.
			Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure in relation to acquisition or usage of land in Thailand, including the development or usage of land or the type of activities which may be conducted on land in accordance with its land zoning, land usage, urban planning, development control, conservation, and preservation policies, as well as policies relating to environmental protection, nature reserves, and national parks.
	Source of Measure	·	<ul> <li>The Land Code</li> <li>Civil and Commercial Code</li> <li>Hire of Immovable Property for Commerce and Industry Act B.E. 2542 (1999), as amended</li> <li>Agricultural Land Reform Act B.E. 2518 (1975), as amended</li> <li>Land Lease for Agriculture Act (No. 2) B.E. 2559 (2016), as amended</li> <li>Act Promulgating the Land Code B.E. 2497 (1954), as amended</li> <li>Regulations of the Agricultural Land Reform Executive Committee on Rules, Procedures and</li> </ul>

<sup>2</sup> For the purposes of this entry, the definition of "foreigner" shall be in accordance with the *Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999)*.

- Conditions for the Selection of Farmers Eligible to Acquire Land from Agricultural Land Reform B.E. 2535 (1992)
- Regulations of the Agricultural Land Reform Executive Committee on Rules, Procedures and Conditions for Granting Permission and Being Complied with by the Recipients of the Granting in Respect of Utilization on Land or Immovable Property for Activities, which Support or are Related to Agricultural Land Reform B.E. 2541 (1998)

9.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	:	National Treatment
			Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to:
			1. devolution to the private sector of any investment in the exercise of government authority at the date of entry into force of this Agreement;
			2. the privatisation of an entity or asset owned wholly or partially by the government; and
			3. divestment of an asset through transfer or disposal of equity interests or assets owned wholly or partially by the government.
	Source of Measure	•	-

10.	Sector	:	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	:	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment relating to portfolio investments.
	Source of Measure	•	-

11.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	:	National Treatment  Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment
			Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment relating to foreign exchange transactions by non-resident and any measure relating to transactions in, and holdings of, local currency by non-resident, for the prevention of Thai Baht speculation.  Note: Examples of measures to prevent Thai Baht
			<ul> <li>speculation include:</li> <li>measures to limit Thai Baht liquidity</li> <li>measures to curb capital inflows</li> <li>measures on Non-Resident Baht Account (NRBA) and Non-Resident Baht Account for Securities (NRBS) accounts</li> <li>measures on non-deliverable forwards</li> </ul>
	Source of Measure	·	-

12.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to small and medium enterprises.
	Source of Measure	·	<ul> <li>Investment Promotion Act B.E. 2520 (1977), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation, regulations and announcements issued thereunder</li> <li>Small and Medium Enterprises Promotion Act B.E. 2543 (2000), as amended, and its Ministerial regulations, subsidiary legislation, and announcements</li> <li>National Competitiveness Enhancement for the Targeted Industries Act B.E. 2560 (2017), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation, regulations and announcements issued thereunder</li> </ul>

13.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure that accords preferences or provides favourable treatment to any minority person or disadvantaged person.
	Source of Measure	•	-

14.	Sector	•	Industrial estate
	Subsector	•	<ul> <li>Establishment or expansion of an industrial estate</li> <li>Land entitlement in industrial estate area</li> </ul>
			- Land entitlement in industrial estate area
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment
			Performance Requirements
			Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to industrial estate.
			An applicant for Joint Development of an Industrial Estate Establishment Project with the Industrial Estate Authority of Thailand (IEAT) shall possess the following qualifications:
			<ul> <li>being a Thai juridical person; and</li> <li>having evidence of ownership or possession right in the land intended for an Industrial Estate Project, or evidence showing acquisition of ownership or possession right in the land, with consent from the land owner, to be developed as an industrial estate.</li> </ul>
			If the business operator, which is a foreigner <sup>3</sup> , dissolves or transfers its business to another person, the business operator shall dispose of such land for which permission has been granted to hold the ownership under the Notification to the IEAT or the business transferee, as the case may be, within three years from the date of such dissolution or business

<sup>3</sup> For the purposes of this entry, the definition of "foreigner" shall be in accordance with the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999).

transfer. If the business operator fails to do so, the Director-General of the Land Department shall dispose of such land together with its component part to IEAT or other persons in accordance with the Land Code.

Regarding the rules for consideration of the number of foreigners who are skilled workers or experts to stay in Thailand and work in industrial estate, the IEAT shall consider granting permission for the business operator to bring a foreigner to stay in Thailand according to the number and for the period of work in an industrial estate, by taking into account business category, registered capital, number of Thai workers, and business areas of the business operator.

### Source of Measure

- The Industrial Estate Authority of Thailand Act B.E. 2522 (1979), as amended, including its regulations, notifications, and administrative guidelines
- Promotion and Conservation of National Environmental Quality Act B.E. 2535 (1992), as amended, including its regulations, notifications, and administrative guidelines
- Factory Act B.E. 2535 (1992), as amended, including its regulations, notifications, and administrative guidelines
- Eastern Economic Corridor Act B.E. 2561 (2018), and as amended

15.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	_
	Level of Government	•	Local
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	:	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment relating to environment, health, or culture.
	Source of Measure	•	-

		T	
16.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment
	Description of Measure	•	To operate business in Thailand, a foreigner <sup>4</sup> shall obtain a licence or certificate from the Department of Business Development, and comply with conditions set forth in the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999) <sup>5</sup> and subsidiary legislation.  A foreigner must meet a minimum capital requirement which is stipulated in the Ministerial Regulation prescribing the Minimum Capital and Period for Bringing or Remitting the Minimum Capital into Thailand B.E. 2562 (2019).  Minimum capital required to be registered at the commencement of the business under the Lists attached to the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999) shall not be less than that prescribed by the Ministerial Regulations, which in no case shall be less than three million Thai Baht.  In all other cases, minimum capital required to be registered at the commencement of the business operation shall not be less than that prescribed by
			operation shall not be less than that prescribed by the Ministerial Regulations and shall in no case be less than two million Thai Baht.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For the purposes of this entry, the definition of "foreigner" shall be in accordance with the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For illustrative purposes, "conditions set forth in the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999)" may include the ratio of the capital to loans and the number of foreign directors who must have a domicile in Thailand.

Source of Measure	<ul> <li>Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999), amended, and its subsidiary legislation</li> <li>Ministerial Regulations prescribing to Minimum Capital and Period for Bringing Remitting the Minimum Capital into Thailan B.E. 2562 (2019)</li> </ul>
-------------------	--

17.	Sector	•	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	•	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	A foreigner <sup>6</sup> must meet the criteria and requirements in Section V of the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999), where it is stipulated that in granting permission to a foreigner for the operation of business under the Act, regard shall be had to advantageous and disadvantageous effects on national safety and security, economic and social development of the country, public order or good morals, national values in arts, culture, traditions and customs, natural resources conservation, energy, environmental preservation, consumer protection, sizes of undertakings, employment, technology transfer, and research and development.
	Source of Measure	•	Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999), as amended, and its Ministerial Regulations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For the purposes of this entry, the definition of "foreigner" shall be in accordance with the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999).

18.	Sector	•	All Services sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	:	National Treatment  Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure relating to investment in service sectors.
	Source of Measure	•	-

19.	Sector	:	All sectors
	Subsector	•	-
	Industry Classification	•	-
	Level of Government	•	All levels
	Type of Obligation	:	National Treatment
			Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment
			Performance Requirements
			Senior Management and Board of Directors
	Description of Measure	•	Thailand reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure under Investment Promotion Act B.E. 2520 (1977), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation, regulations and announcements and National Competitiveness Enhancement for the Targeted Industries Act B.E. 2560 (2017), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation, regulations and announcements.
	Source of Measure	·	<ul> <li>Investment Promotion Act B.E. 2520 (1977), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation, regulations and announcements issued thereunder</li> <li>National Competitiveness Enhancement for the Targeted Industries Act B.E. 2560 (2017), as amended, and its subsidiary legislation, regulations and announcements issued thereunder</li> </ul>

## **ANNEX 9B**

# SCHEDULE OF RESERVATIONS AND NON-CONFORMING MEASURES FOR INVESTMENT

## **SRI LANKA**

## LIST A

# **Explanatory Notes**

- 1. This Schedule is made pursuant to Chapter 9 (Investment) only. Any commitment of Sri Lanka made pursuant to Chapter 8 (Trade in Services) is found in Sri Lanka's Schedule in Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments Sri Lanka).
- 2. For the purposes of liberalisation, the Chapter 9 (Investment) shall apply to investment, subject to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), in the following non-service sectors:
  - (a) manufacturing;
  - (b) agriculture;
  - (c) fisheries;
  - (d) forestry; and
  - (e) mining and quarrying.
- 3. List A sets out, pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), Sri Lanka's measures that do not conform to the obligations under:
  - (a) Article 9.3 (National Treatment);
  - (b) Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured Nation Treatment);
  - (c) Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements); or
  - (d) Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors).
- 4. List A and List B, pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), follow the negative list with two-list approach as follows:

- (a) List A sets out commitments in relation to existing non-conforming measures. Paragraph 1 of Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures) applies to this List only; and
- (b) List B sets out policy flexibility in relation to measures in sectors, subsectors, and activities.
- 5. Sri Lanka may add, withdraw or modify any of its reservations as set out in List A for a period of 24 months from the date of entry into force of this Agreement, provided that relevant non-conforming measure is in existence as of that date. Any such addition, withdrawal or modification will be notified to Thailand, including the relevant laws and regulations. Such reservation shall be deemed to be part of this Schedule upon such notification.
- 6. Each entry in List A shall set out the following elements, where applicable:
  - (a) **Sector** refers to sector or sectors for which an entry is made;
- (b) **Subsector** refers to specific industries, products, and activities for which an entry is made;
- (c) **Industry Classification** refers to the activities covered by the entry according to the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) Revision 4.

As necessary and appropriate, Sri Lanka may specify the exact coverage of the entry if the entry does not exactly conform to the classification system;

- (d) **Level of Government** specifies the level of government (e.g., Central, Regional, Provincial or Local) maintaining the measure for which an entry is made;
- (e) **Type of Obligation** refers to the obligation of Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements) or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors), as the case may be, which does not apply to the listed measure;
- (f) **Description of Measure** describes measures that do not conform to Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors) for which an entry is made; and
- (g) **Source of Measure** is identified for transparency purposes only, for existing measures that apply to the sector, subsector, or activity covered by the entry.
- 7. In the interpretation of any entry, all elements of the entry shall be considered. The Description of Measure element shall prevail over all other elements.
- 8. These Explanatory Notes form an integral part of List A.

Sector	Fisheries
Subsector(s)	Coastal Fishing
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
Description of Measure	Non-resident investors <sup>1</sup> are not permitted to invest in voting shares of a company engaged in any activity related to coastal fishing.
Source of Measure	- Fisheries and Aquatic Resources Act No. 2 of 1996  - Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017  and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

<sup>1</sup> Non-Resident Investors shall mean any person resident outside Sri Lanka, country funds, regional funds, investment funds, and mutual funds established outside Sri Lanka.

Sector	Manufacturing
Subsector(s)	Lotteries (including manufacture of lotteries)
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Only the relevant Legal or Administrative Authority established by the Government of Sri Lanka can approve the foreign shareholding percentage of an incorporated company engaged in the manufacture of Lotteries.
Source of Measure	<ul> <li>- Development Lotteries Board Act No. 20 of 1997</li> <li>- National Lotteries Board Act No. 11 of 1963</li> <li>- Foreign Exchange Act No.12 of 2017</li> <li>and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.</li> </ul>

Sector	Manufacturing
Subsector(s)	Arms and Explosives
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Obligations Concerned	National Treatment
	Prohibition of Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description	Only the relevant Legal or Administrative Authority established by
	the Government of Sri Lanka can approve the foreign shareholding
	percentage of an incorporated company engaged in the manufacture of arms and explosives.
	mandracture of arms and explosives.
Existing Measures	Explosives Act No. 21 of 1956
	Industrial Promotion Act No. 46 of 1990
	Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017
	and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

#### LIST B

## **Explanatory Notes**

- 1. This Schedule is made pursuant to Chapter 9 (Investment) only. Any commitment of Sri Lanka made pursuant to Chapter 8 (Trade in Services) is found in Sri Lanka's Schedule in Annex 8B (Schedule of Specific Commitments).
- 2. For the purposes of liberalisation, Chapter 9 (Investment) shall apply to investment, subject to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), in the following non-service sectors:
  - (i) manufacturing;
  - (ii) agriculture;
  - (iii) fisheries;
  - (iv) forestry; and
  - (v) mining and quarrying
- 3. List B sets out, pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures), Sri Lanka's measures that do not conform to the obligations under:
  - (a) Article 9.3 (National Treatment);
  - (b) Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment);
  - (c) Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements); or
  - (d) Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors).
- 4. List A and List B pursuant to Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures) follow the negative list with two-list approach as follows:
- (a) List A sets out commitments in relation to existing non-conforming measures. Paragraph 1 of Article 9.9 (Reservations and Non-Conforming Measures) applies to this List only; and
- (b) List B sets out policy flexibility in relation to measures in sectors, subsectors, and activities.
- 5. Each entry in List B sets out the following elements, where applicable:

- (a) **Sector** refers to the sector or sectors for which an entry is made;
- (b) **Subsector** refers to the specific industries, products, and activities for which the entry is made;
- (c) **Industry Classification** refers to the activity covered by the entry, according to the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) Revision 4.

As necessary and appropriate, Sri Lanka may specify the exact coverage of the entry if the entry does not exactly conform to the classification system;

- (d) **Level of Government** specifies the level of government (e.g., Central, Regional, Provincial or Local) maintaining the measure for which the entry is made;
- (e) **Type of Obligation** refers to the obligations of Article 9.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements) or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors), as the case may be, which does not apply to the listed measure;
- (f) **Description of Measure** describes measures that do not conform to Article XX.3 (National Treatment), Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment), Article 9.7 (Performance Requirements), or Article 9.8 (Senior Management and Board of Directors) for which the entry is made; and
- (g) **Source of Measure** is identified for transparency purposes only, for existing measures that apply to the sector, subsector, or activity covered by the entry.
- 6. In the interpretation of any entry, all elements of the entry shall be considered. The Description of Measure element shall prevail over all other elements.
  - 7. These Explanatory Notes form an integral part of List B.

Sector	Agriculture
Sub-Sector	
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to agriculture.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	Forestry
Sub-Sector	
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to forestry.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	Fisheries
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to fisheries.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	Mining and Quarrying
Sub-Sector	
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
D CM	
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to mining and quarrying.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	Energy
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in any activity related to the energy sector.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	Manufacturing
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment in all manufacturing sectors except for subsectors below, where a foreigner is allowed to obtain up to 100 per cent of registered capital in the investment:  - Manufacture of electronic components and boards (ISIC 2610);
	<ul> <li>Manufacture of computers and peripheral equipment (ISIC 2620);</li> <li>Manufacture of consumer electronics (ISIC 2640);</li> <li>Manufacture of parts and accessories for motor vehicles (ISIC 2930);</li> <li>Manufacture of motor vehicles (ISIC 2910);</li> <li>Weaving of textiles (except Handloom weaving) (ISIC 1312);</li> <li>Manufacture of knitted and crocheted fabrics (ISIC 1391);</li> <li>Manufacture of other textile n.e.c. (ISIC 1399);</li> <li>Preparation and spinning of textile fibers (except Preparation of Coir) (ISIC 1311);</li> <li>Finishing of textile (except Batik industry) (ISIC 1313);</li> <li>Manufacture of mechinary for textile appearal and leather</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Manufacture of machinery for textile, apparel and leather production (ISIC 2826);</li> <li>Manufacture of other special purpose machinery (ISIC 2829);</li> <li>Manufacture of optical instruments and photographic equipment (ISIC 2670);</li> <li>Manufacture of magnetic and optical media (ISIC2680);</li> <li>Manufacture of irradiation, electromedical and electrotherapeutic equipment (ISIC 2660);</li> <li>Manufacture of measuring, testing, navigating and control equipment (ISIC 2651);</li> <li>Manufacture of batteries and accumulators (ISIC 2720);</li> <li>Manufacture of pharmaceuticals, medicinal chemical and botanical products (except indigenous/ayurvedic medicaments, botanical products) (ISIC 2100);</li> <li>Manufacture of glass and glass products (ISIC 2310);</li> </ul>

	- Reproduction of recorded media (ISIC 1820);
	- Canning of Fish (ISIC 1020);
	- Manufacture of medical and dental instruments and supplies (ISIC 3250);
	- Manufacture of air and spacecraft and related machinery (ISIC 3030);
	- Routine repair of aircraft (ISIC 3315);
	- Manufacture of steam generators, except central heading hot
	water boilers (ISIC 2513);
	- Manufacture of ovens, furnaces & furnace burners (ISIC
	2815);
	- Manufacture of lifting and handling equipment (ISIC 2816);
	- Manufacture of engine and turbines, except aircraft, vehicle
	and cycle engine (ISIC 2811);
	- Manufacture of bearings, gears, gearing and driving elements (ISIC 2814);
	- Manufacture of prepared animal feeds (except manufacture of
	prepared feeds for farm animals, including animal feed
	concentrates and feed supplements) (ISIC 1080);
	- Manufacture of technical or laboratory articles of precious metal (ISIC 3211);
	<ul> <li>Manufacture of mechanically and electrically sounding musical instruments (ISIC 3220);</li> </ul>
	- Manufacture of Games and Toys (other than from locally
	sourced timber) (ISIC 3240); and
	- Manufacture of:
	(i) Food products of fruits and vegetables including packing,
	canning (ISIC 1030);
	(ii) processing and preserving nuts, potatoes and manioc (ISIC
	1030);
	(iii) Nut, food and pastes (peanut butter) (ISIC 1030).
Source of Measure	
Source of Measure	
	-

Sector	All New sectors/ not elsewhere classified
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
	Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure relating to a sector or subsector which is specified as "not elsewhere classified (n.e.c.)" in ISIC Revision 4 at the date of entry into force of this Agreement for Sri Lanka.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	All Sectors
Subsector(s)	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure in relation to acquisition or usage of land in Sri Lanka, including the development or usage of land or the type of activities which may be conducted on land in accordance with its laws and policies relating to land zoning, land usage, urban planning, development control, conservation, and preservation, environmental protection, nature reserves, and national parks.
	However, a foreign national or a domestic incorporated company with majority foreign shareholding may lease or hire land and own apartments.
Source of Measure	- Land (Restrictions on Alienation) Act No. 38 of 2014
	- Land Acquisition Act No. 9 of 1950
	- Land Grants (Special Provisions) Act No. 43 of 1979
	- Land Development Ordinance No. 19 of 1935
	- Land Resumption Ordinance No. 4 of 1887
	- State Lands Ordinance No. 8 of 1947
	- State Lands Encroachments Ordinance No. 12 of 1840
	- State Lands (Recovery of Possession) Act No. 7 of 1979
	- Mahaweli Authority of Sri Lanka Act No. 23 of 1979
	- National Environmental Act No. 56 of 1988
	- Urban Development Projects (Special Provisions) Act No. 2 of 1980
	- Fauna and Flora Protection Ordinance No. 2 of 1937
	and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to:
	1. devolution to the private sector of any investment in the exercise of government authority at the date of entry into force of this Agreement;
	2. the privatisation of an entity or asset owned wholly or partially by the government; and
	3. divestment of an asset through transfer or disposal of equity interests or assets owned wholly or partially by the government.
Source of Measure	- Conversion of Public Corporation or Government Owned Business Undertakings into Public Companies Act No. 23 of 1987
	- Companies Act No. 7 of 2007
	- Finance Act No. 38 of 1971
	and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment relating to portfolio investments.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment relating to foreign exchange transactions by a non-resident and any measure relating to transactions in, and holdings of, local currency by a non-resident, for the prevention of Sri Lanka Rupee speculation.  Note: Examples of measures to prevent Sri Lanka Rupee speculation include:  - measures to limit Sri Lanka Rupee liquidity; and - measures to curb capital inflows
Source of Measure	<ul> <li>- Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017</li> <li>- Central Bank of Sri Lanka Act No. 16 of 2023</li> <li>- Banking Act No. 30 of 1988</li> <li>and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.</li> </ul>

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to small and medium enterprises.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	SL reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure that accords
	preferences or provides favourable treatment to any minority person or
	disadvantaged person.
Source of Measure	Protection of Rights of Disabilities Act No. 28 of 1996
	and its subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	Establishment and Maintenance of Export Processing Zones, Industrial Processing Zones, Industrial Parks, Special Economic Zones, and other similar areas to attract investment
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
	Prohibition on Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with
Description of Weasure	respect to Export Processing Zones, Industrial Parks, Special Economic Zones, and other similar areas to attract investment
Source of Measure	- Board of Investment Law No. 4 of 1978
	- Industrial Development Act No. 36 of 1969
	and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	Central level
Type of Obligation	National Treatment  Performance Requirements  Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to an investor or investment relating to environment, health, and culture.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	All service sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
	Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure relating to investment in service sectors.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment Most Favoured Nation Treatment Performance Requirements Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt any measure relating to natural resources within the territory of Sri Lanka.
Source of Measure	-

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
	Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measures
	relating to national defence, public order and security, arms and
	ammunition, explosives, river ports, sea ports, and airports.
Source of Measure	- The Constitution of Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka
	1978
	- Penal Code No. 2 of 1883
	- Code of Criminal Procedure Act No. 15 of 1979
	- Prevention of Terrorism Act No. 48 of 1979
	- Public Securities Ordinance No. 25 of 1947
	- Sri Lanka Air Force Act No. 41 of 1949
	- Sri Lanka Army Act No. 17 of 1949
	- Sri Lanka Navy Act No. 34 of 1950
	- Sri Lanka Police Ordinance No. 16 of 1865
	- Convention on the Suppression of Terrorist Financing Act No. 25 of 2005
	- The Suppression of Terrorist Bombings Act No. 11 of 1999
	- Prevention of Hostage Taking Act No. 41 of 2000
	- Offences Against Aircraft Act No. 24 of 1982
	- Suppression of Unlawful Acts of Violence at Airports Serving
	International Civil Aviation Act No. 31 of 1996
	- Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime
	Navigation Act No. 42 of 2000
	- Prevention and Punishment of Crimes against Internationally -
	Protected Persons Act No. 15 of 1991
	- Prevention of Money Laundering Act No. 5 of 2006
	and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation,
	regulations, and orders.

Sector	All sectors
Sub-Sector	-
Industry Classification	-
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
	Most Favoured Nation Treatment
	Performance Requirements
	Senior Management and Board of Directors
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure relating to
	the admission of a foreign investment into Sri Lanka under investment
	promotion law and its subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation,
	regulations, and orders, in line with national interests, including
	consumer protection, customs, traditions, cultural heritage, religion,
	technology transfer, research and development, and social impact.
Source of Measure	- Board of Investment Law No. 4 of 1978
	- Strategic Development Project Act No. 14 of 2008
	- Finance Act No. 12 of 2012 - Commercial Hub Regulations
	- Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017
	- Companies Act No. 7 of 2007
	and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.

Sector	All Sectors
Subsector(s)	Restrictions on capital transactions carried out by Non-resident Investors
Level of Government	All levels
Type of Obligation	National Treatment
Description of Measure	Sri Lanka reserves the right to adopt measures with respect to capital transactions of non-resident investors. <sup>2</sup>
Source of Measure	<ul> <li>Foreign Exchange Act No. 12 of 2017, as amended and Regulations published thereof</li> <li>Securities and Exchange Commission Act No. 19 of 2021</li> <li>Companies Act No. 7 of 2007</li> <li>Local Treasury Bills Ordinance No. 8 of 1923</li> <li>Registered stock and securities Ordinance No. 7 of 1937, as amended</li> <li>Central Bank of Sri Lanka Act No. 16 of 2023</li> <li>Banking Act No. 30 of 1988</li> <li>and their subsequent amendments, subsidiary legislation, regulations, and orders.</li> </ul>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Non-Resident Investors shall mean any person resident outside Sri Lanka, country funds, regional funds, investment funds, and mutual funds established outside Sri Lanka.

# ANNEX 9C PUBLIC DEBT

- 1. For the purposes of this Annex, **negotiated restructuring** means the restructuring or rescheduling of a debt instrument that has been effected through
- (a) a modification or amendment of that debt instrument, as provided for under its terms, or;
- (b) a comprehensive debt exchange or other similar process in which the holders of no less than 75 per cent of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt under that debt instrument have consented to the debt exchange or other process.
- 2. The Parties recognise that the purchase of debt issued by a Party entails commercial risk. For greater certainty, no award shall be made in favour of a disputing investor for a claim under paragraph 7 of Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the other Party) with respect to default or non-payment of debt issued by a Party unless the disputing investor meets its burden of proving that such default or non-payment constitutes a breach of an obligation under Chapter 9 (Investment), including an uncompensated expropriation pursuant to Article 9.11 (Expropriation and Compensation).
- 3. No claim that a restructuring of debt issued by a Party breaches an obligation under Chapter 9 (Investment) shall be submitted to, or if already submitted, continue in, arbitration under Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the Other Party), if the restructuring is a negotiated restructuring at the time of submission, or becomes a negotiated restructuring after that submission, except for a claim that the restructuring violates Article 9.3 (National Treatment) or Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment) of Chapter 9 (Investment).
- 4. Notwithstanding paragraph 7 of Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the other Party), and subject to paragraph 3, an investor of the other Party shall not submit a claim under Article 9.24 (Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the Other Party) that a restructuring of debt issued by a Party breaches an obligation under Chapter 9 (Investment), other than Article 9.3 (National Treatment) or Article 9.4 (Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment) of Chapter 9 (Investment), unless 365 days have elapsed from the date of receipt by the disputing Party of the written request for consultations pursuant to paragraphs 5 and 6 of Article 9.24(Settlement of Investment Disputes between a Party and an Investor of the other Party).

# CHAPTER 10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

## **Article 10.1: Affirmation of the TRIPS Agreement**

- 1. Each Party affirms its rights and obligations with respect to the other Party under the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights in Annex 1C to the WTO Agreement (the "TRIPS Agreement").
- 2. The protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights should contribute to the promotion of technological innovation and to the transfer and dissemination of technology, to the mutual advantage of producers and users of technological knowledge and in a manner conducive to social and economic welfare, and to a balance of rights and obligations.
- 3. The Parties may, in formulating or amending their laws and regulations, adopt measures necessary to protect public health and nutrition, and to promote the public interest in sectors of vital importance to their socio-economic and technological development, provided that such measures are consistent with the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement.
- 4. Appropriate measures, may be needed to prevent the abuse of intellectual property rights by right holders or the resort to practices which unreasonably restrain trade or adversely affect the international transfer of technology, provided that such measures are consistent with the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement.
- 5. The Parties reaffirm the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health adopted on 14 November 2001.
- 6. The Parties shall ensure enforcement procedures as specified in Part III of the TRIPS Agreement so as to permit effective action against any act of infringement of intellectual property rights, including expeditious remedies to prevent infringements and remedies that constitute a deterrent to future infringements. These procedures shall be applied in such a manner as to avoid the creation of barriers to legitimate trade and to provide for safeguards against their abuse.

## **Article 10.2: Cooperation**

- 1. The Parties agree to promote and strengthen cooperation in the area of intellectual property rights in order to enhance their economic and trade relations. Cooperation may cover areas such as:
- (a) exchange of knowledge, experiences and best practices on intellectual property issues such as geographical indications and international registration of trademarks under the Protocol Relating to the Madrid Agreement Concerning the International Registration of Marks;
  - (b) education and awareness relating to intellectual property;
  - (c) intellectual property issues relevant to:
- (i) genetic resources, traditional knowledge and traditional cultural expressions; and
  - (ii) small and medium-sized enterprises;
  - (d) enforcement of intellectual property rights; and
  - (e) other activities as may be mutually agreed between the Parties.
- 2. All cooperation under this Article shall be at the request of a Party, on mutually agreed terms, subject to the relevant laws and regulations and availability of resources of each party.

# CHAPTER 11 ECONOMIC COOPERATION

## **Article 11.1: Objectives**

- 1. The Parties agree to establish a framework for collaborative activities as a means to expand and enhance the benefits of this Agreement for building a strategic economic partnership.
- 2. The Parties will establish close economic cooperation aimed, *inter alia*, at:
- (a) strengthening and building on existing cooperative relationship between the Parties, including a focus on promoting economic and technological development, fostering innovation and encouraging research and development;
- (b) stimulating productive synergies, creating new opportunities for trade, investment and tourism, and promoting competitiveness and innovation;
- (c) supporting the important role of the private sector in promoting and building strategic alliances to encourage mutual economic growth and development;
- (d) encouraging the presence of the Parties and their goods and services in their respective markets of Southeast Asia and South Asia;
- (e) reinforce and expand cooperation, collaboration and mutual exchange in the areas of trade, investment and tourism; and
- (f) increasing the level of and deepening cooperation activities between the Parties in areas of mutual interests.

## **Article 11.2: Scope**

- 1. Cooperation between the Parties should contribute to achieving the objectives of this Agreement through the identification and development of innovative cooperation programmes capable of providing added value to their relations.
- 2. Cooperative activities will be agreed between the Parties and may include, though not limited to, encouraging the exchange of information and technical expertise, and working on joint research and collaboration in those areas.

- 3. Cooperation between the Parties under this Chapter will complement the cooperation and cooperative activities between the Parties set out in other Chapters of this Agreement.
- 4. The Parties affirm the importance of all forms of cooperation, including, but not limited to, the areas of cooperation listed in Article 11.3 (Areas of Cooperation) and other areas that the Parties may agree.

## **Article 11.3: Areas of Cooperation**

- 1. The areas of cooperation may include, but are not limited to, the following:
  - (a) Trade and Investment Promotion (including Export Development);
  - (b) Infrastructure (including Transport and Port sector);
  - (c) Agriculture and Agro Industry;
  - (d) Fisheries;
  - (e) Gems and Jewellery;
  - (f) Tourism;
  - (g) Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and MSMEs;
  - (h) Financial Cooperation;
  - (i) Packaging Industry;
  - (j) Information and Communication Technology (ICT); and
  - (k) Technical and Vocational Education and Training.

#### **Article 11.4: Implementation of Cooperation**

- 1. The Free Trade Commission established under this Agreement shall be the mechanism to facilitate the effective implementation of this Chapter. The Free Trade Commission may agree to establish ad hoc working group in accordance with the Free Trade Commission's term of reference.
- 2. The implementation of cooperation under this Chapter shall be subject to the availability of resources and the applicable laws, regulations and policies of each Party.
- 3. Costs of cooperation under this Chapter shall be borne by the Parties within the limits of their own capacities and through their own channels, in an equitable manner to be mutually agreed by the Parties.

4. The Parties shall designate a focal point for all matters relating to the implementation of proposed cooperation activities and shall keep the other party updated on its focal point's detail.

## **Article 11.5: Revision, Modification or Amendment**

Proposals for review, expansion and update of this Chapter, may be submitted by either Party to the Free Trade Commission established under Chapter 14 (Institutional and Final Provisions) for consideration. Implementation of cooperation in such new areas shall proceed in accordance with and subject to the fulfilments of the requirements outlined in Article 11.4 (Implementation of Cooperation).

## **Article 11.6: Dispute Settlement**

- 1. The dispute settlement mechanisms in this Agreement shall not apply to any matter arising under this Chapter.
- 2. Any dispute concerning the interpretation, implementation or application of this Chapter shall be resolved through consultations by the Free Trade Commission established under this Agreement.

## **Article 11.7: Relation to Other Agreements**

- 1. Any Memorandum of Understanding, Agreements or Protocols on economic cooperation concluded between the Parties that exist before the entry into force of this Agreement shall continue to be valid.
- 2. The Memorandum of Understanding on Strategic Economic Partnerships, signed on 12 July 2018, shall be superseded by this Agreement six months after the date of entry into force of this Agreement. The cooperation activities under the Memorandum of Understanding on Strategic Economic Partnerships will be transferred to the Agreement and carried out under Article 11.4 (Implementation of Cooperation).
- 3. Cooperation under this Chapter shall be carried out alongside cooperation under other relevant Memoranda of Understanding, Agreements or Protocols that have been concluded by the Parties and are still in force.

# CHAPTER 12 TRANSPARENCY

#### **Article 12.1: Definition**

For the purposes of this Chapter, administrative ruling of general application means an administrative ruling or interpretation that applies to all persons and fact situations that fall generally within the ambit of that administrative ruling or interpretation and that establishes a norm of conduct, but does not include:

- (a) a determination or ruling made in an administrative or quasi-judicial proceeding that applies to a particular person, good, or service of the other Party in a specific case; or
  - (b) a ruling that adjudicates with respect to a particular act or practice.

#### **Article 12.2: Publication**

- 1. Each Party shall ensure that its laws, regulations, procedures, and administrative rulings of general application with respect to any matter covered by this Agreement are promptly published, including on the internet where feasible, or otherwise made available in such a manner as to enable the other Party and interested persons of each Party to become acquainted with them.
- 2. Each Party shall, to the extent possible and practicable under its domestic law:
- (a) publish in advance any such laws, regulations, procedures, and administrative rulings of general application with respect to any matter covered by this Agreement that it proposes to adopt; and
- (b) provide, where appropriate, the other Party and interested persons of each Party with a reasonable opportunity to comment on any such laws, regulations, procedures, and administrative rulings of general application with respect to any matter covered by this Agreement.

## **Article 12.3: Provision of Information**

A Party shall, upon the request by the other Party, respond to specific questions from, and provide information to, the latter, in the English language, with respect to matters referred to in Article 12.2 (Publication).

## **Article 12.4: Confidentiality and Disclosure of Information**

- 1. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, where a Party provides information to the other Party in accordance with this Agreement and designates the information as confidential, the other Party shall, subject to its laws and regulations, maintain the confidentiality of the information.
- 2. Nothing in this Agreement shall require a Party to furnish or allow access to confidential information, the disclosure of which would impede law enforcement, or otherwise be contrary to the public interest, or which would prejudice legitimate commercial interests of particular juridical persons, public or private.

## **Article 12.5: Administrative Proceedings**

With a view to administering its laws, regulations, procedures, and administrative rulings of general application with respect to any matter covered by this Agreement in a consistent, impartial, objective, and reasonable manner, each Party shall ensure in its administrative proceedings applying such measures to a particular person, good, or service of the other Party in specific cases that:

- (a) wherever possible, a person of the other Party that is directly affected by such a proceeding is provided with reasonable notice, in accordance with its domestic procedures, of when a proceeding is initiated, including a description of the nature of the proceeding, a statement of the legal authority under which the proceeding is initiated, and a general description of any issue in question;
- (b) a person of the other Party that is directly affected by such a proceeding is afforded a reasonable opportunity to present facts and arguments in support of that person's position prior to any final administrative action, when time, the nature of the proceeding, and the public interest permit; and
  - (c) it follows its procedures in accordance with its laws and regulations.

## Article 12.6: Review and Appeal

1. Each Party shall establish or maintain judicial, quasi-judicial, or administrative tribunals or procedures for the purposes of prompt review and, where warranted, correction of final administrative actions with respect to any matter covered by this Agreement. Such tribunals shall be impartial and

independent of the office or authority entrusted with administrative enforcement and shall not have any substantial interest in the outcome of the matter.

- 2. Each Party shall ensure that, in any such tribunals or procedures, each party to a proceeding is provided with the right to:
  - (a) a reasonable opportunity to support or defend that party's positions; and
- (b) a decision based on the evidence and submissions of record or, where required by its laws and regulations, the record compiled by the relevant office or authority.
- 3. Each Party shall ensure, subject to appeal or further review as provided in its laws and regulations, that the decision referred to in subparagraph 2(b) shall be implemented by, and shall govern the practice of, the office or authority with respect to the administrative action at issue.

#### **Article 12.7: Contact Points**

- 1. In order to facilitate communication between the Parties on any matter covered by this Agreement, the Parties hereby establish the following contact points:
- (a) for Thailand, the Department of Trade Negotiations, Ministry of Commerce, or its successor; and
  - (b) for Sri Lanka, Ministry of Trade, or its successor.
- 2. On request of either Party, the contact point of the other Party shall indicate the office or official responsible for any matter pertaining to the implementation of the Agreement, and provide the required support to facilitate communication with the requesting Party. Each Party shall notify the other Party of any changes in its contact point in due time.

## **Article 12.8: Relations to Specific Provisions**

In the event of any inconsistency between this Chapter and the specific provisions of other Chapters with respect to issues covered by this Chapter, such specific provisions shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

# CHAPTER 13 DISPUTE SETTLEMENT

## **Article 13.1: Scope**

Except as provided otherwise in this Agreement, the dispute settlement provisions of this Chapter shall apply with respect to the settlement of disputes between the Parties regarding the interpretation, application or implementation of this Agreement, wherever a Party considers that:

- (a) a measure of the other Party is inconsistent with its obligations under this Agreement; or
- (b) the other Party has otherwise failed to carry out its obligations under this Agreement.

## **Article 13.2: Choice of Forum**

- 1. Where a dispute concerns substantially equivalent rights and obligations under this Agreement and another international trade or investment agreement to which both Parties are party, the complaining Party may select the forum in which to settle the dispute and that forum shall be used to the exclusion of other fora.
- 2. For the purposes of this Article, the complaining Party shall be deemed to have selected the forum in which to settle the dispute when it has requested the establishment of a panel pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article 13.5 (Establishment of an Arbitral Panel) or requested the establishment of, or referred a matter to, a dispute settlement panel or tribunal under another international trade or investment agreement.
- 3. This Article shall not apply where the Parties to the dispute agree in writing that this Article shall not apply to a particular dispute.

## **Article 13.3: Consultations**

- 1. Either Party may request in writing consultations with the other Party concerning any matter described in Article 13.1 (Scope).
- 2. The complaining Party shall deliver the request for consultations to the other Party, setting out the reasons for the request, including identification of the measure at issue and an indication of the factual and legal basis for the

complaint, as well as providing sufficient information to enable an examination of the matter.

- 3. The responding Party shall immediately acknowledge its receipt of the request for consultations made pursuant to paragraph 1, by way of notification to the complaining Party, indicating the date on which the request was received, otherwise the date when the request was made shall be deemed to be the date of the responding Party's receipt of the request.
- 4. Each Party shall accord adequate opportunity for consultations with the other Party with respect to any matter affecting the interpretation, application or implementation of this Agreement. Any differences shall, as far as possible, be settled through consultations between the Parties.
- 5. Unless the Parties agree otherwise,
- (a) consultations shall be held within 30 days after the date of receipt of the request and take place, in the territory of the Party complained against or any other venue mutually agreed on. The consultations shall be deemed concluded within 60 days after the date of receipt of the request;
- (b) consultations on matters of urgency, including those regarding perishable goods, shall be held within 15 days after the date of receipt of the request, and shall be deemed concluded within 30 days after the date of receipt of the request;
- (c) if the Party to which the request is made does not respond to the request for consultations within 10 days after the date of its receipt, or if consultations are not held within the timeframes laid down in paragraph 5(a) of this Article or in paragraph 5(b) of this Article respectively, or if consultations have been concluded and no solution has been agreed upon by the Parties, the complaining Party may request the establishment of an Arbitral Panel in accordance with Article 13.5 (Establishment of an Arbitral Panel).
- 6. The Parties shall make every attempt to reach a mutually agreed solution through consultations of any matter raised in accordance with this Article. To this end, the Parties shall:
- (a) provide sufficient information to enable a full examination of how the measure might affect the interpretation, application or implementation of this Agreement; and

- (b) treat any secret and confidential information exchanged in the course of consultations on the same basis as the Party providing the information.
- 7. For the purposes of consultations under this Article, a Party may request the other Party to make available personnel of its government agencies or other regulatory bodies who have expertise in the matter.
- 8. The consultations under this Article shall be confidential and without prejudice to the rights of any Party in any further or other proceedings under this Chapter.

## Article 13.4: Good Offices, Conciliation or Mediation

- 1. The Parties may at any time agree to good offices, conciliation or mediation. They may begin and be terminated at any time.
- 2. If the Parties agree, procedures for good offices, conciliation or mediation may continue while the matter is being examined by an Arbitral Panel established under Article 13.5 (Establishment of an Arbitral Panel).
- 3. Proceedings involving good offices, conciliation or mediation, and in particular positions taken by the Parties to the dispute during these proceedings, shall be confidential and without prejudice to the rights of any Party in any further proceedings under this Chapter.

## **Article 13.5: Establishment of an Arbitral Panel**

- 1. The complaining Party that requested consultations under Article 13.3 (Consultations) may request in writing the establishment of an Arbitral Panel to consider the matter, if the consultations under Article 13.3 (Consultations) are not held within the time frames laid down in paragraph 5 of Article 13.3 (Consultations), or if the Parties fail to resolve the matter through consultations under Article 13.3 (Consultations) within:
- (a) 30 days after the date of receipt of the request for consultations under Article 13.3 (Consultations) in cases of urgency, including those which concern perishable goods; or
- (b) 60 days after the date of receipt of the request for consultations under Article 13.3 (Consultations) for any other matter; or
  - (c) such other period as the Parties may agree upon.

- 2. In its request for the establishment of an Arbitral Panel, the complaining Party shall state in writing to the other Party, the measures complained of and indicate the details of factual and legal basis (including the provisions of this Agreement alleged to have been breached and any other relevant provisions) of the complaint, as well as providing sufficient evidence to enable a detailed examination of the matter.
- 3. The responding Party shall immediately acknowledge its receipt of the request for the establishment of an Arbitral Panel made pursuant to paragraph 1, by way of notification to the complaining Party, indicating the date on which the request was received, otherwise the date when the request was made shall be deemed to be the date of the responding Party's receipt of the request.
- 4. An Arbitral Panel shall be established and perform its functions in a manner consistent with the provisions of this Chapter.
- 5. The date of the establishment of an Arbitral Panel shall be the date on which the chair of the Arbitral Panel is appointed pursuant to Article 13.7 (Composition of Arbitral Panels).

## **Article 13.6: Terms of Reference**

The Arbitral Panel shall have the following terms of reference unless the Parties agree otherwise within 20 days from the date of the establishment of an Arbitral Panel:

"To examine, in the light of the relevant provisions of this Agreement, the matter referred to in the request for the establishment of an Arbitral Panel pursuant to Article 13.5 (Establishment of an Arbitral Panel), and to make findings, determinations, and any recommendations for the resolution of the dispute, together with its reasons therefor, in a written report."

# **Article 13.7: Composition of Arbitral Panels**

- 1. An Arbitral Panel shall comprise three panelists.
- 2. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the following procedures in selecting panelists shall apply:
- (a) Within 30 days after the date of receipt of the request for the establishment of an Arbitral Panel, each Party shall appoint one panelist and

nominate up to three candidates to serve as the chair of the Arbitral Panel. The Parties shall notify each other of their appointments and the lists of nominations.

- (b) If the complaining Party fails to appoint a panelist within the time frame specified in subparagraph (a), the dispute settlement proceedings shall lapse at the end of that period.
- (c) If the responding Party fails to appoint a panelist within the time frame specified in subparagraph (a), the panelist not yet appointed shall be appointed in accordance with the procedure set out in subparagraph (e).
- (d) Within 60 days after the date of receipt of the request for the establishment of an Arbitral Panel, the Parties shall endeavor to agree on the appointment of the chair of the Arbitral Panel, taking into account the candidates nominated pursuant to subparagraph (a).
- (e) If the responding Party fails to nominate the panelist as provided in subparagraph (c) or the Parties fail to agree on and appoint the chair of the Arbitral Panel within the time frame specified in subparagraph (d), any Party to the dispute may request the Director-General of the WTO to appoint the remaining panelists within 30 days after the date of such request. In the event that the Director-General is a national of one of the Parties, the Deputy Director-General or the officer next in seniority who is not a national of either Party shall be requested to make the necessary appointments.
- (f) If the Director-General of the WTO or the person who has been requested to make the necessary appointments notifies the Parties that he or she is unavailable, or does not appoint the remaining panelists within 30 days after the date of the request made pursuant to subparagraph (e), any Party may request the Secretary-General of the Permanent Court of Arbitration to appoint the remaining panelists promptly.

### 3. All panelists shall:

- (a) have expertise or experience in law, international trade or other matters covered by this Agreement, or the resolution of disputes arising under international trade agreements;
- (b) be chosen strictly on the basis of objectivity, reliability, and sound judgment;
- (c) be independent of, and not be affiliated with or take instructions from, any Party;

- (d) comply with the Rules of Conduct for the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Dispute in Annex II to the WTO's Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, which is incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 4. The chair of the Arbitral Panel shall:
  - (a) not be a national of either Party;
- (b) not have his or her usual place of residence in the territory of either Party;
  - (c) not have dealt with the matter in any capacity.
- 5. If a panelist appointed under this Article dies, becomes unable to act or resigns, a successor shall be appointed within 20 days in accordance with the appointment procedure provided for in paragraph 2 which shall be applied respectively, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 6. The work of the Arbitral Panel shall be suspended for a period beginning on the date the original panelist dies, becomes unable to act or resigns. The work of the Arbitral Panel shall resume on the date the successor is appointed.
- 7. An Arbitral Panel that is reconvened for the purposes of Article 13.14 (Non-Implementation Compensation and Suspension of Concessions or other Obligations) or Article 13.15 (Compliance Review) shall have, wherever possible, the panelists of the original Arbitral Panel. If this is not possible, then the panelists shall be appointed in accordance with the appointment procedure provided for in paragraph 2 which shall be applied, *mutatis mutandis*.

#### **Article 13.8: Functions of Arbitral Panels**

- 1. The function of an Arbitral Panel is to make an objective assessment of the matter before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case and the applicability of and conformity with this Agreement, and make such findings and determinations as are called for in its terms of reference.
- 2. In addition to its findings and determinations, the Arbitral Panel may recommend ways in which the responding Party could implement the report, if the Parties so request.
- 3. The findings, determinations and, if applicable, recommendations cannot add to or diminish the rights and obligations of the Parties provided for in this Agreement.

- 4. The Arbitral Panel shall endeavor to take its decision by consensus. If the Arbitral Panel is unable to reach consensus, it may take its decisions by majority vote.
- 5. The Arbitral Panel shall consult with the Parties as appropriate and provide adequate opportunities for the development of a mutually agreed solution to the dispute.

## **Article 13.9: Rules of Procedures**

- 1. The Arbitral Panel shall meet in closed session. The Parties shall be present at the meetings only when invited by the Arbitral Panel to appear before it. The venue for the meetings, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, shall be Thailand, where the complaining Party is Sri Lanka, and Sri Lanka, where the complaining Party is Thailand.
- 2. The Arbitral Panel shall have no *ex parte* communications concerning a dispute it is considering.
- 3. The deliberations of the Arbitral Panel and the documents submitted to it shall be kept confidential. Nothing in this Article shall preclude a Party from disclosing to the public statements of its own positions or its submissions, but a Party shall treat as confidential and not disclose, information or written submissions submitted by the other Party to the Arbitral Panel which the latter Party has designated as confidential.
- 4. The Parties shall transmit to the Arbitral Panel written submissions in which they present the facts of their cases and their arguments and shall do so within the following time limits:
- (a) for the complaining Party, within 30 days after the establishment of the Arbitral Panel; and
- (b) for the responding Party, within 30 days after the transmission of the written submission of the complaining Party.
- 5. Each Party's written submissions, including any comments on the initial report made in accordance with Article 13.11 (Initial Report), written versions of oral statements and responses to questions put by the Arbitral Panel shall be made available to the other Party.
- 6. At the request of a Party or on its own initiative, the Arbitral Panel may seek information and technical advice from any person or body that it deems

appropriate, and subject to such terms and conditions as the Parties may set. The Arbitral Panel shall provide the Parties with a copy of any advice or opinion obtained and an opportunity to provide comments thereon.

- 7. The Arbitral Panel shall, in consultation with the Parties, regulate its own procedures governing the rights of the Parties to be heard and its own deliberations where such procedures are not set out otherwise in this Chapter.
- 8. The rules of procedure or time period provided for in this Chapter may be modified by mutual consent of the Parties.

# **Article 13.10: Suspension or Termination of Proceedings**

- 1. Where the Parties agree, the Arbitral Panel may suspend its work at any time for a period not exceeding 12 months. In the event of such a suspension, all relevant time frames set out in this Chapter shall be extended by the amount of time that the work was suspended. If the work of the Arbitral Panel has been suspended for more than 12 months, the Arbitral Panel's authority for considering the dispute shall lapse, unless the Parties agree otherwise.
- 2. The Parties may agree at any time to terminate the proceedings of an Arbitral Panel established under this Chapter by jointly notifying the chair of the Arbitral Panel.

# **Article 13.11: Initial Report**

- 1. The Arbitral Panel shall base its report on the relevant provisions of this Agreement, the submissions, and arguments of the Parties and any information before it. The report shall be drafted without the presence of the Parties.
- 2. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the Arbitral Panel shall present to the Parties an initial report:
- (a) within 90 days after the date of its establishment, in cases of urgency, including those relating to perishable goods; or
  - (b) within 150 days after the date of its establishment.
- 3. The initial report shall contain:
- (a) findings of fact, the applicability of the relevant provisions, and the basic rationale behind any findings;

- (b) conclusions as to whether the measure at issue has not conformed with the obligations under this Agreement or any other determination if requested in the terms of reference; and
  - (c) recommendations, if any, for the resolution of the dispute.
- 4. In exceptional cases, if the Arbitral Panel considers it cannot release its initial report within the time frames laid down in paragraph 2, it shall inform the Parties in writing of the reasons for the delay together with an estimate of the period within which it will release its report. Any delay shall not exceed a further period of 30 days unless the Parties agree otherwise.
- 5. A Party may submit written comments to the Arbitral Panel on its initial report within 15 days after the date of presentation of the initial report, or within such other period as the Parties may agree.
- 6. After considering any written comments by the Parties on the initial report, the Arbitral Panel may modify its initial report and make any further examination it considers appropriate.

# **Article 13.12: Final Report**

- 1. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the Arbitral Panel shall present a final report to the Parties, including any separate opinions on matters not agreed to by consensus, within 30 days after the date of the presentation of the initial report.
- 2. Neither initial report nor final report shall disclose which panelists are associated with majority or minority opinions.
- 3. Final reports are final and binding on the Parties.
- 4. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the final report of the Arbitral Panel shall be made available to the public within 15 days after its presentation to the Parties subject to the requirement of non-disclosure of secret and confidential information

## **Article 13.13: Implementation of the Report**

1. The responding Party shall promptly comply with the final report of an Arbitral Panel, or, if this is not practicable, within a reasonable period of time.

- 2. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, within 30 days after the date of receipt of the final report, the responding Party shall notify the complaining Party in writing of actions it proposes to take to implement the final report of the Arbitral Panel.
- 3. If the responding Party considers that prompt compliance with the final report of the Arbitral Panel is impracticable, the Parties shall immediately enter into consultations with a view to mutually determining a reasonable period of time to implement the final report.
- 4. Where the Parties fail to agree on the reasonable period of time within 45 days after the date of issuance of the final report of the Arbitral Panel, either Party may request in writing the original Arbitral Panel to determine such matter. Such request shall be notified to the other Party.
- 5. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the Arbitral Panel shall issue its determination on the extent of the reasonable period of time for compliance to the Parties within 40 days after the date of the submission of the request.
- 6. In the event that any member of the original Arbitral Panel is no longer available, the procedures set out in Articles 13.5 (Establishment of an Arbitral Panel) and 13.7 (Composition of Arbitral Panels) shall apply.
- 7. The reasonable period of time may only be extended by mutual agreement of the Parties.

# **Article 13.14: Non-Implementation – Compensation and Suspension of Concessions or other Obligations**

- 1. Compensation and the suspension of concessions or other obligations shall be temporary measures. None of these measures is preferred to full elimination of the non-conformity as determined in the final report of the Arbitral Panel. Compensation and suspension of concessions or other obligations shall only be applied until such time as the non-conformity is fully eliminated or a mutually agreed solution is reached.
- 2. The responding Party shall, if so requested by the complaining Party, enter into negotiations with the complaining Party with a view to reaching mutually acceptable resolution, such as compensation or any alternative arrangement if:

- (a) the complaining Party has not received any notice from the responding Party under paragraph 2 of Article 13.13 (Implementation of the Report); or
- (b) the responding Party notifies the complaining Party that it is impracticable to implement the final report; or
- (c) the responding Party failed to comply with the final report within the reasonable period of time as determined by the Arbitral Panel under paragraph 5 of Article 13.13 (Implementation of the Report).

## 3. If:

- (a) the circumstances under paragraph 2(a), 2(b) or 2(c) exist and the complaining Party does not request for negotiations pursuant to paragraph 2; or
- (b) the Parties are unable to agree on a mutually acceptable resolution under paragraph 2 within 30 days after the commencement of negotiations under such paragraph; or
- (c) the Parties agreed on a mutually acceptable resolution under paragraph 2 and the complaining Party considers that the responding Party has failed to observe the terms of such agreement, the complaining Party may at any time thereafter provide a written notice to the other Party that it intends to suspend the application of concessions of equivalent effect to the non-conformity found by the Arbitral Panel. Such notification shall specify the level of benefits that the complaining Party intends to suspend.
- 4. The complaining Party may begin suspending concessions or other obligations under this Agreement within 30 days after the receipt of a written notice by the responding Party specifying concessions or other obligations and the level thereof that the complaining Party proposes to suspend. The responding Party shall immediately acknowledge its receipt of the notice specifying concessions or other obligations and the level thereof that the complaining Party proposes to suspend, indicating the date on which the notice was received, otherwise the date when the notice was made shall be deemed to be the date of the responding Party's receipt of the notice.
- 5. In considering what concessions or other obligations to suspend, the complaining Party shall apply the following principles and procedures:

- (a) it should first seek to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector(s) as that in which the Arbitral Panel has found the non-conformity; and
- (b) if it considers that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector(s), it may seek to suspend concessions or other obligations in other sectors. The notice of such suspension pursuant to paragraph 3 shall indicate the reasons on which it is based.
- 6. The level of suspension referred to in paragraph 4 shall be equivalent to the level of the nullification or impairment.
- 7. If the responding Party objects to the level of suspension proposed, or claims that the principles and procedures set forth in paragraph 5 have not been followed, it may request the Arbitral Panel to reconvene under this Article and consider the matter.
- 8. The Arbitral Panel that is reconvened for the purposes of this Article shall determine:
- (a) the level of suspension it considers to be of equivalent effect, if it finds that the level of suspension is not equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment; and
- (b) in which sector(s) the complaining Party may suspend concessions or other obligations in accordance with the principles and procedures set forth in paragraph 5, if it finds that the complaining Party has not followed such principles and procedures.
- 9. The Arbitral Panel shall present its determination to the Parties within 45 days after the date when the matter is referred to it. Concessions or other obligations shall not be suspended during the course of the determination.
- 10. The Parties shall accept the determination as final. The complaining Party shall suspend concessions or other obligations in a manner consistent with the Arbitral Panel's determination, unless the Parties agree otherwise.

# **Article 13.15: Compliance Review**

1. If the responding Party considers that it has eliminated the non-conformity that the Arbitral Panel has found, it shall provide written notice to the complaining Party with a description of how non-conformity has been removed.

If the complaining Party disagrees, it may refer the matter to the original Arbitral Panel within 60 days after its receipt of such written notice.

- 2. The Arbitral Panel shall release its report within 90 days after the referral of the matter.
- 3. If the Arbitral Panel decides that the responding Party has eliminated the non-conformity, the complaining Party shall promptly reinstate any benefits it has suspended under Article 13.14 (Non-Implementation Compensation and Suspension of Concessions or other Obligations).
- 4. If the Arbitral Panel rules that measures taken to comply are in conformity with the rulings and recommendations of the Arbitral Panel, the suspension of obligations shall be terminated immediately. If the Panel rules otherwise, the measures shall remain in place until such further request to the Arbitral Panel.

# **Article 13.16: Expenses**

- 1. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, each Party shall bear the costs of its appointed panelist and its own expenses and legal costs.
- 2. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the costs of the chair of the Arbitral Panel and other expenses associated with the conduct of the Arbitral shall be borne in equal parts by the Parties.

# CHAPTER 14 INSTITUTIONAL AND FINAL PROVISIONS

# SECTION I ADMINISTRATION AND INSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

#### **Article 14.1: Free Trade Commission**

- 1. The Parties hereby establish a Free Trade Commission (hereinafter referred to as the "Commission").
- 2. The Commission shall be composed of relevant government officials of each Party and shall be co-chaired by:
- (a) in the case of Thailand, the Director-General of the Department of Trade Negotiations of Ministry of Commerce for Thailand, or their respective designee; and
- (b) in the case of Sri Lanka, Secretary of the Ministry of Trade or their respective designee.

## Article 14.2: Duties of the Commission

- 1. The Commission shall:
  - (a) review the implementation and operation of this Agreement;
- (b) consider and, as appropriate, decide on specific matters relating to the operation and implementation of this Agreement, including matters reported by committees or working groups established under this Agreement;
- (c) supervise and coordinate the work of committees, working groups and contact points established under this Agreement;
  - (d) take such other action as the Parties may agree.
- 2. The Commission may:
- (a) establish, refer matters and delegate responsibilities to any committee or working group;
- (b) consider and adopt any modifications of the rules of origin established in Annex 3B (Product Specific Rules).

# **Article 14.3: Procedures of the Commission**

- 1. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the Commission shall convene at least once a year in regular session and meet alternately in the territory of each Party.
- 2. Unless the Parties agree otherwise, the Commission shall also meet in special session within 45 days after the request in writing of a Party.
- 3. The Commission shall establish its rules and procedures at its first meeting.
- 4. All decisions of the Commission shall be taken by mutual agreement of the Parties.

# SECTION II EXCEPTIONS

# **Article 14.4: General Exceptions**

- 1. For the purposes of Chapter 2 (Trade in Goods), Chapter 3 (Rules of Origin), Chapter 4 (Customs Procedures and Trade Facilitation), Chapter 5 (Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures), and Chapter 6 (Technical Barriers to Trade), Article XX of GATT 1994 and its interpretive note are incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 2. For the purposes of Chapter 8 (Trade in Services), Article XIV of GATS, including its footnotes, is incorporated into and made part of this Agreement, *mutatis mutandis*.
- 3. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as to prevent a Party from taking action authorised by the WTO Dispute Settlement Body. This is referring to a suspension of concession. A Party taking such action shall inform the Commission to the fullest extent possible of measures taken and of their termination.

# **Article 14.5: Security Exceptions**

- 1. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to:
- (a) require any Party to furnish any information the disclosure of which it considers contrary to its essential security interests;
- (b) prevent any Party from taking any action which it considers necessary for the protection of its essential security interests:
- (i) relating to fissionable materials or the materials from which they are derived;
- (ii) relating to the traffic in arms, ammunition, and implements of war and to such traffic in other goods and materials, or relating to the supply of services, as carried on directly or indirectly for the purpose of supplying or provisioning a military establishment;
- (iii) taken in time of national emergency or war or other emergency in international relations; or

- (c) prevent any Party from taking any action in pursuance of its obligations under the United Nations Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security.
- 2. A Party shall inform the Commission to the fullest extent possible of measures taken under subparagraphs (b) and (c) of paragraph 1 and of their termination.

## **Article 14.6: Taxation Measures**

- 1. Except as provided in this Article, nothing in this Agreement shall apply to taxation measures.
- 2. This Agreement shall only grant rights or impose obligations with respect to taxation measures where corresponding rights and obligations are also granted or imposed under the WTO Agreement.
- 3. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the rights and obligations of a Party under any tax convention or other arrangements relating to taxation in force between the Parties. In the event of any inconsistency relating to a taxation measure between this Agreement and any such convention or arrangements, the latter shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency. Any consultations between the Parties about whether an inconsistency relates to a taxation measure shall include representatives of the competent tax authorities of each Party.
- 4. For the purposes of this Article, taxation measures do not include any import or customs duties.

# SECTION III FINAL PROVISIONS

# Article 14.7: Annexes, Notes, and Footnotes

The Annexes, notes, and footnotes to this Agreement shall constitute an integral part of this Agreement.

## **Article 14.8: General Review**

The Parties shall undertake a general review of the implementation and operation of this Agreement in the fifth calendar year following the calendar year in which the Agreements enters into force and every fifth calendar year thereafter, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties.

### **Article 14.9: Amendments**

- 1. The Parties may agree, in writing, to amend the Agreement.
- 2. An amendment to this Agreement shall be approved by the Parties in accordance with their respective legal requirements and procedures, and shall enter into force 60 days after the date of the latter notification by either Party to the other Party that it has completed its legal requirements and procedures or after such other period as the Parties may agree.
- 3. When so agreed, and approved in accordance with the legal requirements and procedures of each Party, such amendment shall constitute an integral part of this Agreement.

# **Article 14.10: Entry into Force**

Unless the Parties agree otherwise, this Agreement shall enter into force on the thirtieth day after the date of the latter notification by either Party to the other Party that it has completed its internal legal requirements and procedures for the entry into force of this Agreement.

# **Article 14.11: Termination**

- 1. This Agreement shall remain in force unless terminated.
- 2. Either Party may terminate this Agreement by written notification to the other Party. This Agreement shall terminate 180 days after the date of such notification, or after such other period as the Parties may agree.
- 3. Within 30 days after the notification under paragraph 2, either Party may request a consultation regarding whether the termination of any provision of this Agreement should take effect at a later date than that provided under paragraph 2.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the undersigned, being duly authorised by their respective governments, have signed this Agreement.

**DONE** at Colombo, Sri Lanka, in duplicate in the English language on this third day of February 2024.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE KINGDOM OF THAILAND

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST OF REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA

Mr. Phumtham Wechayachai Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Commerce Mr. Nalin Fernando Minister of Trade, Commerce and Food Security